
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Finance and Audit 
Committee 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned 
to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend 
DA12 1AU on Tuesday, 19 July 2022 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following 
agenda is proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Walsh 
Service Manager (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A 
Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting.  (Pages 3 - 8) 

3. Declarations of Interest   

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public.  

 

5. General Fund Provisional Outturn Report  (Pages 9 - 30) 

6. Housing Revenue Account Provisional Outturn Report  (Pages 31 - 46) 

7. Annual Treasury Management Review 2021/22  (Pages 47 - 66) 

8. Annual Governance Statement 2021/22  (Pages 67 - 
116) 

9. Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Annual Report  (Pages 117 - 
154) 



10. Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Survey results  (Pages 155 - 
182) 

11. Annual Report of the Audit Committee Chair  (Pages 183 - 
196) 

12. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

 

13. Exclusion of the public   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 

Part B 

Items likely to be considered in private 
 

None.  
 
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair) 
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Derek Ashenden 

Dakota Dibben 
Gary Harding 
Samir Jassal 
Nirmal Khabra 
Lyn Milner 
Emma Morley 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified 
 
 
 
 



1 

Finance and Audit Committee 
 

Tuesday, 8 March 2022 7.30 pm 
 

Present:  

 
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair)  
Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-Chair)   
 
Cllrs: Derek Ashenden 

John Caller  
Dakota Dibben  
Samir Jassal  
Nirmal Khabra  
Jordan Meade  
Elizabeth Mulheran  
 

Lisa Nyon  
James Larkin  
 
Andrew Barnett  

Assistant Director (Corporate Services)  
Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services (Chief Audit 
Executive)  
Principal Accountant (General Fund)  

Julie Francis-Beard  Committee Services Officer (Minutes)  
 

144. Apologies for absence  
 
An apology for absence was received from Cllr Emma Morley and Cllr John Caller attended 
as her substitute.  
 

145. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting.  
 
The minutes of the meeting on Monday, 14 February 2022 were signed by the Chair. 
 

146. To declare any interests members may have in the items contained on  
this agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what  
their interest is.  

 
Cllr Gow declared an Other Significant Interest as an appointed Board Member of Rosherville 
Limited, the Council’s Local Authority Trading Company. 
 

147. Review of Accounting Policies 2021-22  
 
The Principal Accountant (General Fund) presented a review of the Accounting Policies that 
are to be used in formulating the Financial Statements for the authority for the financial year 
2021-22.  
 
The Principal Accountant (General Fund) advised Members that although this review is not a 
statutory requirement CIPFA recommends that it is good practice for authorities to take their 
Accounting Policies through the relevant Committees.    
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Finance and Audit Committee 8.03.2022 

2 

There had been no substantial changes to the CIPFA Code that had been identified that 
would influence the Council’s Accounting Policies for 2021-22. 
 
As set out in section 3 of the report, CIPFA announced a consultation which the council had 
recently responded to. The proposed changes to the Accounting Code could have an impact 
on the preparation of the 2021-22 accounts. These proposed changes would help alleviate 
current delays to the publication of audited accounts across the country. The proposal would 
allow a “catch-up” period over the next 2 years so that by 2024-25 the timescales would be 
back on track.  
 
Due to the given timescales of the consultation and our committee cycle the consultation 
was submitted on Friday 4 March 2022 and the outcome will not be known until the end of 
March, therefore any changes that have come out of the consultation will have to be 
reflected in accounting policies and will be communicated to subsequent committees.  
 
Following questions and comments from Members, the Principal Accountant (General Fund) 
explained that: 
 

 Regarding item 2.3 in the report, St George’s Shopping Centre, there has been some 
progress made with this and the council is receiving external consultancy advice to 
look at the documents regarding the transaction and that the council is liaising with its 
external auditors regarding this work.  

 With regard to the consultation, the Principal Accountant confirmed that a copy of the 
council’s response to the consultation could be shared with the Committee, along 
with the headlines of the outcome itself once known. The outcome is due at the end 
of March but there is no guarantee that all or any of it will be become mandatory or 
adopted within the accounting code. The main factor behind the consultation is that 
CIPFA recognises that throughout the country, many authorities have outstanding 
audits of accounts for 2019-20 and 2021-22, and are therefore looking for practical 
ways to alleviate this.  

 
Resolved that:  
 
1.  Members are asked to endorse the use of the Accounting Policies as outlined at 

Appendix One to this report, subject to comments from the Council’s external auditor.  
 
2.  Members are asked to endorse any updates to the Accounting Policies as resulting 

from the recent CIPFA consultation regarding emergency proposals for the update of 
the 2021/22 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. 

 

148. Development of the Corporate Risk Register 2022-2023  
 
The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) presented the Committee with the outcome of 
the annual risk identification and analysis exercise that had been carried out to assist in the 
development of Gravesham Borough Council's Corporate Risk Register for 2022-2023 and 
explained that: 
 

 The Risk Management Strategy sets out the approach the council has adopted for 
identifying, evaluating, managing and recording risks. 

 

 The strategy itself is reviewed on an annual basis by Officers and there have been no 
substantial amendments or updates to the strategy policy since last year.  

Page 4



Finance and Audit Committee 8.03.2022 

3 

 

 The risk identification and analysis assessment document sets out the detail of all the 
risks that have been considered by Officers when producing the draft Corporate Risk 
Register together with the outcomes of those assessments.  

 

 The risks that have generated to a high residual risk score of 10 and above are 
included in the draft 2022-23 Risk Register.  

 

 Additional risks identified as part of the exercise however were not considered high 
enough to be included in the Corporate Risk Register were:   

 

 Universal Credit  

 IT Infrastructure 

 Adoption and delivery of a sound Local Plan 
 
These will be managed at service level.  
 
On page 63 of the report the Draft Corporate Risk Register included comments and 
amendments suggested by Management Team and Senior Officers. The top 5 risks are 
identified for inclusion are:  
 

 On-going financial viability  

 Changes in national priorities and legislation 

 Organisational resilience and capacity 

 Cyberattack and data breaches  

 Investment risk 
 
Following questions and comments from Members, the Assistant Director (Corporate 
Services) explained that: 
 

 All risks are monitored throughout the year and the council has recently established a 
Risk Management Working Group to oversee this process. There are representations 
from each Directorate on this group who review the risks at service level and 
corporate risk level and identifies any merging risks. The last meeting of this group 
took place in February with another meeting due to take place in May.  

 With regards to recent events in Ukraine and the possible increased threat to cyber 
security, this risk is continually monitored by the Assistant Director (IT Services) with 
any updates reported to the Risk Management Working Group.  

 Inflation risk is covered within risk 1 “on-going financial viability of the council”. This 
risk covers the majority of financial risk. Within the MTFP there is a budget line for 
inflation provision and this was reviewed at the time of budget setting.  

 Explanations regarding the various risk types are found at page 64. Regarding 
inherent risk, residual risk and target risk – the residual risk score should result in a 
decrease as this considers the controls that are put in place to help mitigate the risk.  
The target risk score is where the council would like to be as this considers 
improvement to existing controls.   

 The council has written to all its external fund managers and responses have been 
received which confirm that they have not identified any exposure to Russian 
investments. 
 
 

Page 5



Finance and Audit Committee 8.03.2022 

4 

Resolved that Members are requested to review the draft Corporate Risk Register  
for 2022-23 prior to presentation to Cabinet. 
 

149. CIPFA Financial Management Code  
 
The Assistant Director (Corporate Services) provided the Committee with an overview of the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountants (CIPFA) Financial Management Code 
2019, along with an annual self-assessment that was undertaken in February 2022 to 
identify compliance and areas for further consideration. 
 
The latest self-assessment demonstrated compliance with the code with no significant 
amendments to be made. These self-assessments will be carried out annually and will be 
brought to the March Committee each year.  

 
Resolved that the Finance and Audit Committee are requested to note:   
 
•  The findings of the annual self-assessment 
 

150. Internal Audit Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme  
 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) 
presented the Committee for approval of the Internal Audit Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) for 2022-23. 
 
This enables the evaluation of the internal audit activity’s conformance with the Definition of 
Internal Auditing and the Standards, an evaluation of whether internal auditors apply the 
Code of Ethics and also the efficiency and effectiveness of the internal audit activity and 
whether there are opportunities for improvement.  
 
The QAIP, for short, is reviewed annually to ensure it meets the requirements set out in the 
Standards and that will reflect the work of the service.   
 
As outlined in the report, the document had a complete refresh this year, to remove any 
references of counter fraud activity as the Officers are no longer in multi-disciplinary roles. 
 
Paragraphs 2.3.1 to 2.3.4 in the covering report provide the key changes. The aim is to 
ensure Members receive the most relevant information and data used to calculate the 
outturns have been adjusted to ensure more accurate detail around internal audit.   
 
Although the counter fraud indicators are no longer included in the QAIP, there are still a 
number of performance measures relating to counter fraud activity but these are now listed 
in the Counter Fraud Plan.    
 

Resolved that Members approved the QAIP presented at Appendix 2 for use in 2022-23. 
 

151. Internal Audit Plan (Q1-Q2) 2022-23  
 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services (Chief Audit Executive) 
presented for approval the Internal Audit Plan (Q1-Q2) 2022-23 for Gravesham. 
 

Page 6



Finance and Audit Committee 8.03.2022 

5 

The council is required to prepare an audit plan outlining how internal audit resources will be 
used throughout the year.   
 
While a draft plan has been prepared for the full 12 months, Appendix 2 of the report outlines 
the plan for the first six months of the year. The purpose of this change in approach is to 
ensure that audit resources are being directed to the council’s highest areas of risk 
throughout the year.  
 
The risk assessment was completed in January which is three months before the 
commencement of work and there is a high possibility that the risk landscape could change. 
 
In July, the Audit Risk Assessment will be refreshed and used to update the current second 
half of the year plan based on any changes to risk landscape or legislative requirements.  
The plan for the second half of the year will be presented to this Committee alongside the 
first update in September. 
 
This is to enable the service to be more responsive to changes, manage resources in a more 
efficient manner and ensure we continue to focus audit resources in the highest risk areas.  
 
The Risk Assessment or Audit Needs Assessment was completed after consultation with 
Directors and senior Managers to consider their views on the risks for each service in the 
coming year and the draft plan was also shared to identify any timing issues as early as 
possible. That has partly determined what has been selected for the first part of the year.  
 
Members will note that there are some changes to the layout of the plan, the day allocation 
for individual reviews are no longer included. As part of the planning process, each review 
has been allocated an indicative figure of 15 days but the Internal Audit Manager will have 
the freedom to reduce or increase that allocation to ensure the review provides the right level 
of assurance.  
 
The update reports presented to the Committee will continue to specify the number of days 
that have eventually been allocated to each review and will report the number of days taken 
to actually complete the review. 
 
There are specific links to the corporate risk register in the plan which were highlighted from 
the last external quality assessment to focus on the council’s risk areas.   
 
Following questions and comments from Members, the Head of Internal Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Services (Chief Audit Executive) explained that: 
 

 There is no upper limit to the 15 workings days to complete a review, but they are 
unlikely to exceed more than 20 days. The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud 
Shared Services (Chief Audit Executive) was not aware of other council’s setting 
upper limits.  

 The Chair was glad to see the link to the Corporate Risk Register and asked about 
the weighting scores. The HIACF explained that the assessment covers a full list of 
auditable areas of all council services based on the objectives in the council plan. 
There are six different areas with weighting scores and a range score of 1-5 to 
produce an overall assessment score. The highest scoring areas are selected for 
review, while also considering when it was last reviewed.   
 
 

Page 7



Finance and Audit Committee 8.03.2022 

6 

Resolved that Members approved the Internal Audit Plan (Q1-Q2) 2022-23 for  
Gravesham presented at Appendix 2. 
 

152. Counter Fraud Plan 2022-23  
 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) 
presented for approval the Counter Fraud Plan for 2022-23. 
 
Since 1 March 2016 the council’s counter fraud activity has been delivered by the Internal 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service with Medway Council. Planned counter fraud activity 
has previously been included as part of an overall plan for Audit & Counter Fraud as officers 
were working in multi-disciplinary roles. Following a return to designated roles, and in line 
with recommended best practice, a separate work plan had been produced to cover all 
counter fraud activity and provide more detail around the work of the Counter Fraud Team 
than has previously been specified in the joint plans. 
 
The Counter Fraud plan for 2022-23 had been designed to show how the council will aim to 
use the available resource and demonstrate all the activity that the Counter Fraud team are 
involved in.   
 
This new plan gives an indication of how we intend to use the resources but it has to been 
noted that some of the activity may be aspirational. For example, if the team already has a 
significant number of cases to investigate, it is unlikely that pro-active activity to identify 
further cases would be undertaken as there would be no resource available to deal with 
them. 
 
The plan contains a number of performance measures for the counter fraud team but many 
do not have targets as these are beyond the control of the service. Members will receive 
details of the outturns against these indicators as part of the periodic update reports. 
 
Following questions and comments from Members, the Head of Internal Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service (Chief Audit Executive) explained that: 
 

 There Internal Audit team now consists of an Audit Manager, one senior internal 
auditor and six Internal Auditors. The Counter Fraud Team consists of the Counter 
Fraud Manager, two Counter Fraud Officers and two Intelligence Officers.  

 The two counter fraud investigators are new to the role but are delivering very good 
results.    

 
Resolved that Members approved the Counter Fraud Plan 2022-23 presented at  
Appendix 2. 
 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 8.02 pm 
 
 

Page 8



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

    Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: The Finance and Audit Committee 
 

Date: 19 July 2022  

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

Subject: General Fund Provisional Outturn Report 2021/22 
 

Purpose and summary of report: 

To present: 

 The 2021/22 provisional General Fund Outturn Report, including movements in the 
General Fund working balances and earmarked reserves. 

 The 2021/22 provisional General Fund Capital Outturn  

To update Members on other key areas of financial performance that may impact on the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), or 
Financial Statements. 
 

Recommendation: 
 

1. This report is for information only 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of the 
report 
 

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & 
Successfully Managing Key Business Risks 

Climate Change  No direct implications 

 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. The Constitution of the Council requires Members to receive reports in respect of the 
Council’s finances and financial performance. This report provides details of the 
provisional budget outturn for the 2021/22 financial year and complements the 2021/22 
Financial Statements for the authority, which will subsequently be considered by the 
Finance & Audit Committee. 

1.2. During 2021/22, the Council continued to operate robust budgetary control actions to 
ensure good financial governance and respond to the pressures on the Council’s 
finances. In addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget 
monitoring reports, these actions include: 

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to Management 
Team for discussion and approval; 

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders; 

 Requiring recruitment activity which impacts on either budgetary provision or results in a 
permanent change to the staffing establishment to be considered and approved by 
Management Team 

 Monitoring the delivery of activity under the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Revenue 

2.1. The provisional outturn position for the year is an underspend of £256,690. As reported 
in the 2020/21 Outturn Report, the Council ended the previous year in a favourable 
position, enabling budgets totalling £147,290 to be approved for carry forward into 
2021/22.  

2.2. The level of Working Balances at year-end is £11.95m, constituted of minimum working 
balances of £2.0m, the General Fund reserve of £3.25m and usable Working Balances 
of £6.7m. 

2.3. Movements in the year have resulted in a net decrease in earmarked reserves of 
£7.14m. This reflects the start of the year position being £19.08m, with the balance 
being £11.94m at year-end. Within this movement, £2.89m relates to a net drawdown 
from the NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve, £1.97m released from the 
Leisure Centres Reserve and £1.24m drawn down from the St George’s Income 
Protection Reserve – see section 3.11.1 for further details on reserve movements.  

2.4. It is important to note that significant risks to the General Fund’s financial position 
continue to come from the lack of clarity regarding the long-term future of local 
government funding and the financial consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic as 
central government support is significantly reducing in 2022/23. Additionally, the national 
fiscal and economic situation is also expected to create pressures on the Council’s 
finances. These risks and financial pressures were reported in a separate report to 
Cabinet on 30 May 2022. 

Capital 

2.5. The General Fund Capital Programme working budget is £22.8m, with schemes having 
been re-profiled where necessary as part of the budget-setting process for 2022/23, and 
in line with final expenditure at year-end.  

Page 10



3 

3. REVENUE 

3.1. Budget 2021/22 

3.1.1. The approved Original Budget Requirement for 2021/22 was £6,420,640, funded by a 
combination of retained Non-Domestic Rates, New Homes Bonus, and Council Tax. It 
also enabled a contribution of £98,270 to be made to Usable Working Balances, in 
accordance with the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  

3.1.2. The provisional General Fund outturn against the Original Budget is presented in the 
table below. It should be noted that headings for directorates, reserves and transactions 
below the line have been adjusted to neutralise the effect of year-end accounting entries 
such as depreciation, and incorporate the correct accounting treatment for reserves and 
grant income. As a result, the table may not be directly comparable to previous budget 
monitoring reports.  

Directorate / Budget Heading

Original 

Budget 

2021/22 (£)

Outturn 

2021/22 (£)

Variation 

2021/22 (£)

All Directorate - Salaries 15,403,770 15,125,600 (278,170)

Chief Executive (360,460) (392,330) (31,870)

Communities (1,887,760) 1,192,740 3,080,500

Corporate Services 1,690,040 1,138,850 (551,190)

Environment 619,720 694,050 74,330

Housing 38,230 145,630 107,400

Non-Directorate Specific 888,960 792,330 (96,630)

Interest and Investment Income (772,000) (859,120) (87,120)

Government Grant Funding (2,827,730) (3,272,100) (444,370)

Transfers to/ (from) reserves (5,128,670) (7,139,830) (2,011,160)

Transfers to/ (from) balances 311,050 311,050 0

Transactions below the line (1,554,510) (1,579,760) (25,250)

BUDGET REQUIREMENT 6,420,640 6,157,110 (263,530)

Business Rates Income (3,565,940) (3,552,860) 13,080

Council Tax Income (7,333,580) (7,333,580) 0

Parish Precepts (403,160) (403,160) 0

New Homes Bonus (311,050) (311,050) 0

Lower Tier Services Grant (126,260) (126,260) 0

Transfers to/(from) the Collection Fund 5,221,080 5,214,840 (6,240)

Use of Working Balances 98,270 98,270 0

BUDGET SHORTFALL/(UNDERSPEND) 0 (256,690) (256,690)  

Table 1: General Fund Revenue Outturn by Directorate / Budget heading 

 

3.2. ALL DIRECTORATE – SALARIES  

3.2.1 Staffing: £278k favourable variance – the General Fund staffing budget for 2021/22
 incorporated a vacancy allowance of £350k for the year. It was anticipated that this 
would occur throughout the establishment as a whole from natural staff turnover within 
day-to-day business activities, as well as posts being held vacant pending the re-design 

Page 11



4 

of services. The year-end position was an underspend of £628k, therefore giving rise to 
the net favourable variance of £278k. 

3.3. CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S DIRECTORATE – £32k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

3.3.1 Communications: £26k favourable variance – an annual provision exists within this 
budget to support communications and advertising for Woodville events; however due to 
a lower volume of activity compared to previous years before the Covid-19 pandemic, 
this budget was not required to the same extent.  

3.3.2 Other Net Variances: £6k favourable variance – the net effect of other variances 
across the Chief Executive’s Directorate is a favourable variance of £6k. 

3.4. COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE – £3,080k adverse variance 

3.4.1. District Shopping Centres & Industrial Estates rental income: £330k favourable 
variance – as part of the 2021/22 budget-setting process, consideration was given to a 
potential reduction in rental income due to business circumstances arising from the 
Covid-19 pandemic. For the overall rental income portfolio, of which a large share 
relates to District Shopping Centres and Industrial estates, a provision to allow for 
reduced rents of £158k was built into the budget. At outturn, rental income returns have 
held up well, with the Council benefiting from a combination of continued tenancies as 
well as rent reviews at a number of sites. The net effect of these and the release of the 
Covid-19 provision set aside is an overall favourable variance in 2021/22 of £330k. 

3.4.2. The Woodville: £228k favourable variance – given the nature of the Covid-19 
pandemic and the restrictions placed upon services offered by the Woodville, during the 
2021/22 budget-setting process an amount of £323k was factored in to account for 
potential income losses. Due to a combination of maximising income opportunities at the 
Theatre including a successful Christmas Pantomime run, use by the NHS of the 
Woodville as a Covid-19 vaccination centre, and receipt of Government Sales, Fees and 
Charges Compensation funds for the period April-June, the overall outturn across the 
Woodville is a favourable variance in 2021/22 of £228k. 

3.4.3. Car Parks: £206k favourable variance – within the budget-setting process for 2021/22 
an allowance of £394k was made within the Parking service to account for potential lost 
income resulting from circumstances arising from the Covid-19 pandemic e.g. reduced 
commuter activity in car parks due to new working patterns, and a reduction in visitors to 
the town centre.  Income during the year has held up better than budgeted, and along 
with the Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation scheme funds received for the first 
quarter of 2021/22, and resulted in a year-end favourable variance of £206k. 

3.4.4. Town Centre Events: £87k favourable variance – as the Council has continued to 
experience ongoing effects arising from the Covid-19 pandemic, there has been a 
reduced call on events budgets across 2021/22, with a year-end favourable variance of 
£87k arising. 

3.4.5. Legal Shared Service: £53k favourable variance – as a result of year-end 
underspends in the shared service hosted by Medway Council, largely due to staff 
turnover and vacancies, there is a reduction in the Council’s contribution to the shared 
service budget. The result of this is a year-end favourable variance of £53k. 

3.4.6. Civic Centre running expenses: £42k favourable variance – a net underspend of 
£42k from across various repairs and maintenance and utility budgets has arisen during 
2021/22. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic and subsequent hybrid working patterns, there 
has been a reduced officer presence in the Civic Centre compared to pre-Covid years 

Page 12



5 

Consequently, there has been a reduced call on various day-to-day premises budgets 
which has generated a favourable variance of in 2021/22 of £42k. 

3.4.7. Community Engagement: £34k favourable variance – during 2021/22 the Council 
received various grant funds, both from Kent County Council and Central Government, 
including Contain Management Outbreak Funds, Winter Support, Self-Isolation Practical 
Support, and Household Support grants. These have enabled the Council to facilitate a 
wide programme of support to local community organisations involved with the Covid-19 
response in the local area. Consequently, there has been less call on the Council’s own 
budget, leading to a favourable year-end variance of £34k. 

3.4.8. Reprographics/Photocopiers: £33k favourable variance – due to the Covid-19 
pandemic and subsequent hybrid working patterns, there has been a reduced call on 
various stationery and photocopier budgets than would usually be the case. Additionally, 
as a reduced programme of Council events has taken place in 2021/22, there was a 
lower demand within Reprographics for producing publicity material and other related 
information. These factors combined have led to a net favourable variance of £33k in 
2021/22. 

3.4.9. St George’s Centre – net rental income: £645k adverse variance – rental of units in 
shopping centres continues to be challenging, particularly in the period of recovery 
following the Covid-19 pandemic which has led to changing customer behaviour and 
business delivery models. As a result of there are a number of vacant units within the 
Centre. Throughout 2021/22, the Council has incurred service charges and business 
rates which would otherwise have been chargeable to tenants, this amounts to £569k. 
Additionally, this variance incorporates an element of rental arrears which were owing at 
year-end and once cleared, will be received during 2022/23. Local and London based 
agents have been appointed to promote and proactively search for unit occupiers. The 
frequency of meetings between the Council, Reef and agents has increased to respond 
to interests received and to move them forward as rapidly as possible. At year-end a 
number of occupier interests were being dealt with. 

3.4.10. St George’s Centre – additional interest costs: £3,458k adverse variance – see 
section 4 below. 

3.4.11. Other net variations: £10k favourable variance – the net effect of other variances 
across the Communities Directorate is a favourable variance of £10k. 

3.5       CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE – £551k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

3.5.1 Covid-19 Grant Funding: £300k favourable variance – as part of the Government’s 
continued response to the Covid-19 pandemic, the Council was given responsibility in 
2021/22 to administer a series of grant support measures to business and individuals 
within the local community. In order to meet these additional work pressures, the 
Council received £300k of New Burdens funding, primarily contributing to staff and 
IT/system costs incurred in facilitating these schemes.  
 

3.5.2 Interest Payable: £194k favourable variance – expenditure within the General Fund 
Capital Programme during 2020/21 was lower than originally budgeted, which meant 
that there was a reduced borrowing requirement than initially envisaged. This is turn led 
to lower associated interest costs, which has continued into 2021/22 generating a 
positive budgetary impact. Additionally, where borrowing has been required, it has been 
at lower interest rates than originally budgeted, and therefore a combination of these two 
factors has led to a favourable variance of £194k in 2021/22. 

 
3.5.3 Corporate Inflation Provision: £130k favourable variance – the Council holds a 

central fund for supplies and services inflation within the Corporate Services directorate 

Page 13



6 

to act as a safeguard against inflationary increases to contract payments and general 
supplies and services costs. In 2021/22, due to a combination of services largely being 
able to manage inflationary increases within existing budgets, in addition to reduced 
expenditure in certain areas following circumstances arising from the Covid-19 
pandemic, there has been a reduced call on this fund compared to the original budget. 
The impact of this is a year-end underspend of £130k. 

 
3.5.4 Information Technology: £44k adverse variance – as the Council continues to 

develop technology to support new ways of working and delivering services, additional 
expenditure has been incurred in 2021/22 over and above budgetary provision of £44k. 
This relates to IT equipment, software support and telephony system enhancements. 

 
3.5.5 St George’s Centre external valuations: £45k adverse variance – as a result of the 

ongoing Statement of Accounts audit process, external professional advice in 
consultation with Grant Thornton, the Council’s external auditor, has indicated that new 
asset valuations for the St George’s centre are required for each year since 2018/19. 
Resultantly Colliers, who manage the centre on behalf of the Council and thus already 
have specialist knowledge of the site, have been engaged to carry these out. Once 
received, these valuations will be reflected in revised sets of accounts, which will then 
be subject to the usual external audit process. 

 
3.5.6    Climate Change Initiatives: Neutral variance – following the success of the 

“Recycling On the Go” project which was trialled at St Andrew’s Gardens during 
2020/21, the scheme has now been extended across other park areas – Riverside 
Leisure Area, Woodlands Parks and Camer Park. Resultantly, £28k has been made 
available from the Climate Change Reserve to support this work, which has enabled the 
purchase of dual compartment litter and recycling bins, increasing both the litter capacity 
available as well as the aesthetic appearance at these locations. 

 
3.5.7 Other Net Variances: £16k favourable variance – the net effect of other variances 

across the Corporate Services Directorate is a favourable variance of £16k. 
 
 
3.6       ENVIRONMENT DIRECTORATE – £74k ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.6.1 Planning Application Income: £60k favourable variance – income within the service 
from planning applications has continued to fare well in 2021/22 with a reported year-
end favourable variance of £60k. 
 

3.6.2 Garden Waste Income: £53k favourable variance – the service continues to grow with 
an increase of 447 customers for the subscription service during 2021/22, which has led 
to a favourable year-end income variance of £53k. 
 

3.6.3 Waste Recycling Income: £35k favourable variance – greater use of recycling banks 
across the borough combined with increases in the value of recyclable materials has led 
to increased income of £35k. 
 

3.6.4 Refuse Collection – Special & Bulky Waste Income: £26k favourable variance – the 
increase in the number of collection times offered to customers has made it easier and 
quicker for residents to have their items collected. This has enabled more collections to 
be made throughout the borough, resulting in a favourable variance of £26k during 
2021/22. 
 

3.6.5 Cemeteries – Grounds Maintenance costs: £14k adverse variance – there have 
been additional costs involved in improvement works at Northfleet Cemetery during 

Page 14



7 

2021/22 to provide additional burial spaces. This will have a positive impact on future 
income streams at the site. 
 

3.6.6 Trade Refuse – Additional Rubbish Clearance costs: £29k adverse variance – due 
to higher tonnages of trade waste collected and increases in ‘tipping’ charges at the 
Waste Disposal Facility, trade waste disposal costs have been greater than anticipated 
leading to a year-end adverse variance of £29k. 
 

3.6.7 Trade Refuse Income: £29k adverse variance – during quarter one of 2021/22, a 
number of businesses were closed or working at reduced capacity which resulted in a 
reduction in the number of trade waste collections made during this part of the year, 
leading to the reported adverse variance of £29k. 
 

3.6.8 Street Cleansing Transport costs: £30k adverse variance – during 2021/22 one of 
the small refuse vehicles was unavailable for use whilst undergoing essential repairs. A 
hire vehicle had to be used during this period in order to fulfil operational requirements, 
which resulted in additional expenditure of £30k. 
 

3.6.9 Waste Recycling – Inter Authority Recycling Income: £50k adverse variance – high 
residual waste tonnages collected have reduced the proportion of recyclables collected 
which has led to a projected reduction in the recycling savings payment receivable from 
Kent County Council. Work is being undertaken to reduce residual waste tonnages and 
maximise recycling levels across the borough to help reduce any likely adverse 
budgetary impact in 2022/23. 
 

3.6.10 Vehicles costs: £80k adverse variance – the combination of ageing refuse vehicles 
requiring more frequent maintenance, and the inflationary impact of higher costs for 
vehicle parts and fuel, has resulted in an adverse variance at year-end of £80k. 
 

3.6.11 Other Net Variances: £16k adverse variance – the net effect of other variances across 
the Environment Directorate is an adverse variance of £16k. 
 
 

3.7       HOUSING DIRECTORATE – £107k ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.7.1 Homelessness – Temporary Accommodation: £54k adverse variance – there has 
been a steady increase in the demand for temporary accommodation requests and 
homelessness provision, exacerbated by circumstances arising from the Covid-19 
pandemic. In 2021/22, the Housing service has seen over 1,300 homeless approaches. 
 

3.7.2 Whilst some provision is made to provide temporary accommodation within the Council’s 
own housing stock, this is supplemented by use of private rented accommodation.  
During 2021/22 there has been an increasing need to rely on more expensive, nightly 
paid options as the supply of suitable private rental accommodation has decreased. 
 

3.7.3 Whilst the Council has been able to draw on Covid-19 grant funding from Central 
Government to a larger extent to manage these expenditure pressures, there remains a 
net adverse variance of £54k for the year. 
 

3.7.4 Private Housing – non-recoverable costs: £35k adverse variance – following an 
improvement notice being served on a property in Alexandra Road, works in default 
were undertaken across 2020/21 and 2021/22. These were required to rectify hazards 
that were considered to be a risk to the health and safety of the occupants, and of 
visitors to the property and others.  Originally it was hoped that the cost of these works 
could be recovered from the property owner – either directly or via a charge placed upon 

Page 15



8 

the property. Unfortunately, neither has been possible, and therefore there is a resultant 
cost to the Council of £35k. 
 

3.7.5 Playgrounds & Play Equipment: £25k adverse variance – extra ground and surfacing 
work has been required at a number of play sites to ensure they are safe and well 
maintained in order for the public to use and enjoy. This has led to additional costs of 
£25k in 2021/22 
 

3.7.6 Other Net Variances: £7k favourable variance – the net effect of other variances 
across the Housing Directorate is a favourable variance of £7k. 
 

 
3.8 NON-DIRECTORATE SPECIFIC – £97k favourable variance  
 
3.8.1 Retirement Benefits: £97k favourable variance – in addition to the Past Service 

pension lump sum payable to KCC (Kent County Council), which is set on a triennial 
basis by pension actuaries, the Council also holds a budget to make individual 
retirement benefit payments for former employees through KCC. There has been 
reduced call on this second aspect of the budget in 2021/22, leading to a favourable 
year-end variance of £97k. 

 
 
 
3.9 ITEMS CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2020/21 – £147,290 

3.9.1 The following items from 2020/21 were approved for carry forward to 2021/22 by the 
Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management Team: 

Summary of General Fund 2020/21 year-end carry-forward requests

Directorate Service Amount Reason for carry-forward request into 2021/22

Communities Environmental Health £6,100 Statutory Air Quality Action Plan required by DEFRA

Communities Community Engagement £15,000 Match funding of Cultural Waterside Grant - grant decision 

awaited. To assist with welcoming back to town centre 

following easing of Covid-19 restrictions.

Communities Basecamp £7,610 MOD Funding to be used for future armed forces event.

Communities Town Centre £14,250 Light Festival postponed from 2020/21.

Communities Town Centre £21,000 Investment in Town Centre activities as part of welcome 

back post restrictions.

Communities Arts Development £16,140 Align funds to the 2021/22 Arts & Cultural delivery 

programme, following cessation of Gravesham Arts 

Council SLA during 2020.

Communities Arts Development £3,370 Ticket sales from outdoor events to be used to fund 

events in 2021/22.

Communities Regulatory Services £19,500 Digital offering improvements to enhance overall service 

delivery - IT software & equipment.

Environment Cemeteries £9,320 Major works planned for Northfleet Cemetery in 2021/22.

Housing Private Housing £35,000 Housing Stock Condition Survey.

Total carry-forward requests £147,290  

Table 2: Items Carried Forward from 2020/21 

 

 

 

Page 16



9 

3.10     INTEREST AND INVESTMENT INCOME – £87K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE. 

3.10.1 There is an overall variance of £87k against the budget for interest earnt on investment. 
The Bank of England base rate remained at 0.10% for the majority of the year which 
resulted in very little investment opportunities. However, the Council managed to secure 
returns above the standard benchmark during the period by maximising the use of 
notice accounts, which were paying higher rates of interest. The Council has been able 
to benefit from the rate rises in December 2021, February and March 2022 by investing 
monies at higher rates as existing investments mature thus earning higher rates of 
investment income. 

3.10.2 Despite the difficult economic backdrop, Property Funds have continued to perform well 
and generated a dividend return of just over £410k, which is equivalent to a 4.1% return 
on the initial deposit, and a slight improvement on 2020/21. Multi Asset Funds have 
produced a dividend return of £318k this financial year, equivalent to the 3.2% return 
generated in 2020/21. 

3.11 FUNDING STREAMS – £2,473k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

3.11.1 Government Grant Funding: £444k favourable variance – as part of the 
Government’s continued response to the Covid-19 pandemic in supporting businesses 
and the local economy, a number of business rate reliefs have been awarded during 
2021/22, primarily in the retail and hospitality sectors. These were announced after the 
2021/22 budget-setting process had been concluded, and are therefore have resulted in 
an additional £444k received by the Council in 2021/22. This funding is in the form of 
Section 31 grants, and is effectively in-lieu of monies that would otherwise have been 
directly due from NNDR rate-payers through the regular billing process.  
 

3.11.2 Transfers to/(from) reserves: £2,011k favourable variance – following analysis of the 
overall year-end position the opportunity has been taken to review amounts held within 
specific earmarked reserves. Resultantly the following additional movements compared 
to the original budget position have been actioned: 

 

 St George’s Income Protection Reserve – in order to partly offset the St George’s 
Centre deficit described within the Communities Directorate section, £1,240k has been 
transferred from the reserve into working balances. 

 

 DLUHC Covid-19 Grant – as exposure to expenditure pressures arising from the Covid-
19 pandemic levels off, £500k has been released into general working balances from 
non ring-fenced Covid-19 grant received during 2020/21. 
 

 Commercial Income Protection Reserve – at the 2020/21 outturn, this reserve was 
reviewed with the provision increased to represent 25% of the Council’s MTFP rental 
income budget (previously it was set at 15%). In the light of emergence from the largest 
impacts of Covid-19, and with rental income budgets generally holding up well, this 
reserve has been reset back to represent 15% of the rental income budget. 
Consequently, there is a favourable variance, as an additional £344k has been released 
into working balances. 
 

 Leisure Centres Reserve – an additional £9k has been released from this reserve above 
what was originally budgeted, reflecting the final position of both revenue and capital 
schemes funded from this source. 
 

 Corporate Priorities Reserves – there is a £1k favourable variance resulting from an 
equalisation of reserves being used to be the finance capital programme, which was 
initially actioned during quarter 3. 

Page 17



10 

 

 NNDR Growth Fund Reserve – membership of the Kent Business Rates Pool has 
generated £308k that has been transferred into the NNDR Growth Fund Reserve. This 
represents an increase of £83k from what was previously anticipated in the original 
budget for 2021/22. 
 

3.11.3 Transactions Below the Line – Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP): £25k 
favourable variance – the MRP charge for 2021/22 is based on the Council’s 
cumulative capital spend that is financed from either internal or external borrowing up to 
the end of 2020/21.  As the capital spend in 2020/21 on schemes financed from these 
sources was lower than anticipated at the time of setting the 2021/22 budget, there is a 
resulting favourable year-end variance relating to MRP in 2021/22 of £25k. 
  

3.11.4 Business Rates Income: £13k adverse variance – as a result of timing differences 
between the completion of the statutory NNDR1 return and the annual budget-setting 
process, an adverse variance of £13k has arisen. 
 

3.11.5 Transfers to / (from) the Collection Fund: £6k favourable variance – following the 
year-end reconciliation of the Council Tax Collection Fund, there is a reduced required 
repayment to the Fund, resulting in a favourable variance to the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Plan of £6k. Thus, the total of £2,473k within the funding streams section 
comprises of an additional £444k Government Grant Funding, a net £2,011k transfer 
from reserves, a £25k Minimum Revenue Provision favourable variance, a £13k 
Business Rates adverse variance and a £6k favourable variance relating to the 
Collection Fund. 
 

3.12 WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES 

3.12.1 The variances and Carried Forward items outlined in this report have the following effect    
upon the General Fund working balances: 

     

Balance Brought Forward from 2020/21 11,283,080 

New Homes Bonus (Straight to working balances) 311,050 

Budgeted use of Working Balances to support the General Fund 98,270 

Variances per budget report (Incl.items Bfwd from 2020/21) 256,690 

Working Balances C/Fwd (as at 31 March 2022) including Minimum 

GF Working Balance 11,949,090 

Less: Minimum GF balance (2,000,000)

Less: Additional General Fund Reserve (3,250,000)

Usable Working Balances C/Fwd (as at March 2022) 6,699,090 

Working Balances £

 

 Table 3: Effect on General Fund Balances 

Page 18



11 

3.12.2 The general working balance is supplemented by specific reserves, established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives. The table below provides a summary of the 
projected movements on these specific reserves during the year. 

Opening Actual Actual Closing

General Fund Earmarked Reserves Balance Use of Reserve Contributions Balance

01/04/2021 (Expenditure) (Income) 31/03/2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Planning Policy Reserve 465 (66) 200 599 

Asset Enhancement Reserve 1,163 (286) 100 977 

Leisure Centres Reserve 1,657 (1,969) 359 47 

Corporate Priorities Reserve 535 (31) 83 587 

Town Pier Pontoon Reserve 123 13 136 

Elections Reserve 74 63 137 

 NNDR Collection Fund Equalisation Reserve 5,075 (4,406) 1,519 2,188 

IT Infrastructure Reserve 371 (219) 100 252 

 DSO Vehicle Capital Reserve 474 (165) 132 441 

 Freighter Replacement Reserve 1,223 (412) 221 1,032 

NNDR Growth Fund Reserve 375 (173) 308 510 

 Lower Thames Crossing Reserve 140 140 

Woodville Repairs Reserve 240 (57) 57 240 

Investment Interest Equalisation Reserve 500 500 

Housing & Commerical Growth Fund 700 700 

St George's Income Protection Reserve 1,240 (1,240) --  

 Commerical Income Protection Reserve 1,147 (486) 661 

 Service Review Reserve 83 (83) --  

 Playgrounds Reserve 136 68 204 

Decriminalisation Reserve 228 41 269 

Enterprise Reserve 151 (353) 375 173 

Climate Change Reserve 485 (62) 423 

Sub-total - Specific Earmarked Reserves 16,585 (10,008) 3,639 10,216 

 Revenue Grants not yet applied 2,494 (840) 69 1,723 

Total - All Earmarked Reserves 19,079 (10,848) 3,708 11,939  

Table 4: Analysis of Specific Reserves 
 

3.12.3 Significant or new approved uses of reserves, other than those already referred to in 
section 3.11 or within individual directorates include: 

 

 Asset Enhancement Reserve - £187k Civic Centre works, £45k Cygnet Pool Repairs, 
£32k Barrack Row Conveniences, all included within the “Essential Repairs to Buildings” 
section of the Capital Programme. 
 

 IT Infrastructure Reserve - £219k released to fund works within the “IT Infrastructure 
Assets” element of the Capital Programme. 
 

 Freighter Replacement Reserve - £412k transferred to cover expenditure within the 
“Purchase of Freighters” line within the Capital Programme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



12 

3.13   MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING 

3.13.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to 
take into account longer-term assumptions around cost pressures and central 
government funding announcements, together with building in all known variances to the 
Council’s budget as a result of Management Team and Cabinet decisions.   

 
    Risks and Financial Uncertainty Impacts 

 
3.13.2 Despite the financial challenges faced throughout the year, the General Fund has ended 

in a favourable position. However, as an authority our budgeted expenditure continues 
to exceed our income and the latest MTFP shows an emerging budget gap in 2026-27 
of approximately £3m. In response to this a five year Medium Term Financial Strategy 
was adopted by Full Council in February 2022, which sets out the initiatives the Council 
will follow during the period to 2026/27 to make reductions to its base budget 
requirement. 
 

3.13.3 During the budget-setting process consideration was given to known financial 
challenges. However, since that process was undertaken there have been further rises 
in inflation, increases in the cost of living, rises in fuel, materials and food prices, and the 
outbreak of the war in Ukraine. This continued uncertainty makes medium term financial 
planning far more challenging than previously. 
 

3.13.4 A paper outlining these risks and pressures was presented and considered by Cabinet 
at the meeting held on 30 May 2022.  
 

3.13.5 (Please click on “Report” to view). 
 
Central Government Announcements 
 

3.13.6 To help with the financial impact on individuals, The Chancellor of the Exchequer, Rishi 
Sunak,  has announced a new Cost of Living Support package of support to help with 
the rising cost of living, including measures to support eight million vulnerable 
households who will receive at least £1,200 of extra support this year. The Chancellor 
also announced a £500 million increase for the Household Support Fund, extending it 
from October until March 2023. Rishi Sunak also announced that the energy bills 
discount due to come in from October will be increased from £200 to £400, while the 
requirement to pay it back will be removed. (source: Local Government Association). 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 20

http://gbc-modgov/documents/s70520/1.%20Report%20to%20Cabinet%20-%20Financial%20Pressures.pdf
https://lnks.gd/l/eyJhbGciOiJIUzI1NiJ9.eyJidWxsZXRpbl9saW5rX2lkIjoxMTMsInVyaSI6ImJwMjpjbGljayIsImJ1bGxldGluX2lkIjoiMjAyMjA1MjcuNTg1NDUxNzEiLCJ1cmwiOiJodHRwczovL3d3dy5nb3YudWsvZ292ZXJubWVudC9uZXdzL21pbGxpb25zLW9mLW1vc3QtdnVsbmVyYWJsZS1ob3VzZWhvbGRzLXdpbGwtcmVjZWl2ZS0xMjAwLW9mLWhlbHAtd2l0aC1jb3N0LW9mLWxpdmluZyJ9.o7fYa7sdUvPeI5FNLcskhKg1Eny8VtT37JTiuEBgvF4/s/593888036/br/132022940454-l


13 

4.  ST GEORGES SHOPPING CENTRE TRANSACTION 

4.1.1. In April 2018, Cabinet agreed for the Council to enter into an agreement with Reef 
Estates Group for redevelopment of the St George’s Shopping Centre. Detailed financial 
modelling was undertaken, incorporating projected annual payments to Aviva (the 
investor). The expectation was that the inflows to the Council of rental and investment 
income would be equal, or more than equal, to the annual payments for the 50-year term 
of the arrangement.  

4.1.2. The link to the Cabinet papers where this was discussed can be found here Agenda for 
Cabinet on Monday, 30 April 2018, 7.30 pm – Gravesham Borough Council 

4.1.3. In our accounting statements for 2018/19, this transaction was treated as finance lease 
 arrangement following assessment of the accounting treatment required.  This included 
 discussions prior to entering into the agreement with representatives for the council’s 
 auditor, Grant Thornton.  This treatment was accepted by Grant Thornton in their audit 
 of the 2018/19 financial statements of the council, with the 2018/19 Annual Audit Letter 
 confirming that the auditors had reviewed the accounting treatment for the St George’s 
 Shopping Centre as a finance lease and had issued an unqualified opinion on the 
 Council’s financial statements on 30 July 2019. 

4.1.4. The Annual Audit Letter provided by Grant Thornton for the 2018/19 Statement of 
accounts can be found by clicking on the following link, Annual Audit Letter  

4.1.5. A new audit team from Grant Thornton was appointed to audit the Council’s 2019/20 
financial statements, and during this audit process, the auditors questioned the existing 
accounting treatment being applied for the St Georges Shopping Centre transaction, 
indicating that the treatment for this transaction should be that of a loan agreement and 
also questioning the recording of the implicit interest rate applied. 

4.1.6. The Council then sought advice from various sources to ascertain which accounting 
treatment should be applied for this transaction. Advice was sought from CIPFA, Link 
(the Council’s treasury management advisors) and a technical expert in Local 
Government Accounting.  All confirmed that this transaction should be treated as a loan, 
and that additional interest costs derived from the implicit interest rate within the 
arrangement, should be reflected within the Council’s General Fund balance. Therefore 
all external advice sought was in agreement with the new team from Grant Thornton. 

4.1.7. The cumulative effect of the interest charge from the year 2018/19 when the transaction 
was entered into until 2021/22, is an additional interest cost of £3,458k. This has been 
partially offset by the release of accumulated funds held in the St George’s Income 
Protection reserve as described in section 3.11.2 

4.1.8. Graphical illustrations of the transaction and its effect over the 50 years of the 
arrangement are shown below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21

http://gbc-modgov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=2992&Ver=4
http://gbc-modgov/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=2992&Ver=4
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/downloads/file/158/2018-19


14 

4.1.9. The first graph shows the difference between the physical payments projected to be 
made to Aviva over the life of the loan, compared to the amounts accounted for. This 
shows additional costs accounted for until around year 30, before a reduction in the 
remaining term. 

 

4.1.10. The second graph shows the impact the above accounted payments have on the profile 
of the loan principal amount across the duration of the arrangement. This shows debt 
increasing up to around year 30, before falling and then being fully repaid. 

 

 

Page 22



15 

4.1.11. The council has sought initial advice on potential legal remedies available to it regarding 
the performance of Grant Thornton in this matter.  

4.1.12. It is to note too that local government external audit resources across the country are 
strained as audit firms are struggling to complete audits within the specified time frame. 
The Council hopes to conclude its 2019/2020 audit by September 2022. The Council 
continues to actively engage with Grant Thornton to formalise a time line for the 
completion of the 2020/21 and the 2021/22 audits. 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



16 

5. GENERAL FUND CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

5.1. The following table details the final outturn for the General Fund, which includes the 
revised original budget for 2021/22, taking into consideration adjustments for carried 
forward items as approved by the Section 151 Officer and the Council’s Management 
Team. 

Scheme
2021/22 

Original 

Budget             

£

2021/22 

Approved 

Adjustments                        

£

2021/22      

Working    

Budget                    

£

2021/22     

Final 

Outturn       

£

Variance            

£

C/Fwd and 

Adj's to 

2022/23            

£

2022/23 

Approved 

budget         

£

2022/23 

Original 

Budget 

including 

C/Fwd                 

£

Essential Repairs to Buildings 615,000 171,050 786,050 355,620 (430,430) 430,430 435,000 865,430

Gravesend Cemetery Improvements 0 14,830 14,830 0 (14,830) 14,830 0 14,830

Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) 232,000 292,560 524,560 265,120 (259,440) 259,440 413,400 672,840

Gatekeeper Replacement 0 50,000 50,000 0 (50,000) 50,000 0 50,000

New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling 0 100,000 100,000 0 (100,000) 83,400 0 83,400

Waste & Horticulture back office system
108,690 (17,850) 90,840 30,980 (59,860) 59,860 0 59,860

Replacement Playground Programme 159,870 125,130 285,000 351,400 66,400 0 159,870 159,870

IT Equipment Air Conditioning Unit 0 40,000 40,000 30,240 (9,760) 0 0 0

Brookvale Office Accommodation 1,400,000 (1,400,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Property Acquisition Programme 3,286,980 713,020 4,000,000 0 (4,000,000) 4,000,000 0 4,000,000

Land Acquisiton Programme 3,658,810 (3,658,810) 0 0 0 0 2,945,790 2,945,790

Land at Dering Way 3,590,190 (3,590,190) 0 0 0 0 3,590,190 3,590,190

St George's Centre 5,151,550 (5,151,550) 0 148,950 148,950 (148,950) 9,019,640 8,870,690

Cascades Replacement Flumes 0 3,730 3,730 0 (3,730) 0 0 0

Heritage Assets 200,000 (137,000) 63,000 10,120 (52,880) 52,880 331,570 384,450

Gym Equipment Leisure Centres 0 47,800 47,800 0 (47,800) 47,800 0 47,800

Back up Generator 60,000 (60,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Parking Machines 251,200 35,920 287,120 0 (287,120) 287,120 0 287,120

LATCO development costs 0 18,600 18,600 0 (18,600) 18,600 0 18,600

LATCO working capital provision 0 54,750 54,750 54,750 0 0 170,260 170,260

Elizabeth Huggins Cottages – Loan 2,000,000 (1,585,300) 414,700 0 (414,700) 0 1,364,000 1,364,000

Parking Software 0 18,570 18,570 0 (18,570) 18,570 0 18,570

Purchase of Freighters 0 410,400 410,400 411,740 1,340 0 0 0

Enforcement of Private Housing 0 20,040 20,040 10,210 (9,830) 0 0 0

IT Infrastructure Assets 200,000 89,490 289,490 219,150 (70,340) 70,340 100,000 170,340

Rosherville Loan (The Charter) 27,295,500 (13,048,460) 14,247,040 14,187,160 (59,880) 59,880 45,439,010 45,498,890

Barrock Row Public Conveniences 0 4,340 4,340 4,340 0 0 0 0

Website Content Management System
65,000 0 65,000 27,830 (37,170) 37,170 0 37,170

MOT Lane, Brookvale Workshop 37,000 5,120 42,120 42,120 0 0 0 0

Street Cleaning Machine 49,000 0 49,000 49,000 0 0 0 0

New Leisure Centre 4,000,000 (3,714,730) 285,270 0 (285,270) 285,270 7,632,590 7,917,860

Electric Vehicle Charging Points 0 127,170 127,170 0 (127,170) 127,170 0 127,170

St Georges Creative Hub 0 474,530 474,530 474,530 0 0 0 0

Alleyways 0 0 0 0 0 0 45,000 45,000

Disabled Facilities Grant - GF 0 0 0 0 0 1,098,850 832,800 1,931,650

52,360,790 (29,546,840) 22,813,950 16,673,260 (6,140,690) 6,852,660 72,479,120 79,331,780  

Table 5: General Fund Capital Programme 2021/22 

 

 Essential Repairs to Buildings – The upgrade of Civic Centre LED lighting is nearly 
complete; the remainder of the work will be completed in 2022/23.  The replacement 
entrance doors for the Woodville Main Auditorium and Kent Room, have now been 
fitted. The Cascade Leisure Centre roof works are complete, and the majority of monies 
paid out have now been recovered from the insurers.  Vigo car park resurfacing work 
has now been completed.  Cygnets Leisure Centre pool hall roof refurbishment works 
are complete. 
 

 Gravesend Cemetery Improvements – A number of improvements to the Cemeteries, 
which were originally scheduled to commence in 2021/22, will now be brought forward in 
2022/23 instead. 
 

Page 24



17 

 Purchase of Vehicles (DSO Fleet) – a number of vehicles were purchased during the 
year, with the vehicle fleet replacement plan reviewed for future years, taking into 
account the potential purchase of electric vehicles. 
  

 Gatekeeper Replacement – Approvals were obtained from Kent County Council for 
Automatic Number Plate Recognition (ANPR) enforcement of a bus gate at King Street. 
However, steps are now being taken to remove buses from the pedestrian area and to 
direct bus services to the new bus hub. This will be undertaken over a trial period shortly 
to asses impacts, and will remove a need for Gatekeepers. 
 

 New Wheeled Bins for Flat Recycling – £16,600 was spent on this scheme in 
2021/22.  However, the expenditure was accounted for within revenue budgets, as the 
bin purchases were below the de-minimus limits for consideration as capital 
expenditure. 
 

 Waste & Horticulture Back Office System – The project was commenced in 2021/22 
to implement Street Cleansing Software. The installation of the street cleansing module 
will be completed during quarter one 2022/23. 
 

 Replacement Playground Programme – Quarter four saw the delivery of new play 
parks at Windmill Hill and Kings Farm recreation ground. An impressive large-scale 
scheme was also delivered at Camer Park as well as new picnic benches and bins. 
Quarter four also saw the delivery of a new sensory play scheme at Woodlands Park as 
part of the Queens Green Canopy and Jubilee Celebrations. All of these schemes were 
funded from Contain Management Outbreak Fund (COMF) monies. 

 

 IT Equipment air conditioning unit – Contractors have installed the equipment and 
work is now completed. 

 

 Property Acquisition Programme – During the last quarter of the financial year the 
Council started to progress a potential acquisition within the Borough, albeit this did not 
complete before the end of the financial year. 

 

 Land Acquisition Programme – No land acquisition opportunities were considered in 
the financial year. 
 

 St George’s Centre – Various improvement works continued to take place earlier 
during 2021/22. There are currently no further works planned to the St George’s 
Shopping Centre. 
 

 Cascades Replacement Flumes – The flumes work completed during 2021/22, and the 
flumes are fully operational. 
 

 Heritage Assets – Expressions of Interest have been submitted to the National Lottery 
Heritage Fund, initially in respect of three assets, to inform next stages in respect of 
project applications.  In response to these, the Heritage Fund have asked that the 
community engagement/audience development aspects be developed further prior to re-
submission. 
 

 Gym Equipment Leisure Centres – Although the main gym equipment was replaced in 
2020 a decision was made along with GCLL during 2021/22 to hold back on spin bike 
replacement, due in part to Covid-19 and the recovery of membership and attendance 
levels during the year. A decision on the outstanding replacement gym equipment will be 
reviewed in partnership with GCLL during 2022/23. 

 

Page 25



18 

 Back-up Generator – Given potential plans for the building and new ways of working, 
officers are investigating alternative options other than the possibility of used 
replacement equipment. There was, therefore, no spend against this project during 
2021/22. 
 

 Parking Machines – Although officers were progressing this scheme during 2021/22, 
as at the year-end, no expenditure had taken place. A supplier has now been found to 
replace the existing Pay & Display machines in Rathmore Road, Milton Place and 
Parrock Street Car Parks, and the new systems will be implemented during 2022/23. 

 

 LATCO Development Costs – No requests to utilise these funds were received in the 
financial year. 
 

 LATCO Working Capital Provision – No further drawdown requests were received in 
the last quarter of the financial year. 

  

 Elizabeth Huggins Cottages – Loan – Works continue at the site on Cross Lane West 
with funding being drawn down from the council on a monthly basis, incorporating both 
the financial grant secured from Homes England and the loan to the charity by the 
council. 

 

 Parking Software – The new parking software system has been implemented, and all 
invoices have been paid. As part of the project, it was originally proposed that the 
littering Fixed Penalty Notices would also be moved to an electronic system. Due to 
various changes within the Environmental Enforcement team, this has not been 
progressed yet, and therefore there was no expenditure in 2021/22. The budget has 
therefore been rolled over to 2022/23. 

 

 Purchase of Freighters – During 2021/22 the current programme for the purchase of 
waste freighters was delivered as budgeted. The replacement programme is under 
review for future years and will be updated in the budget-setting process accordingly. 
 

 Enforcement of Private Housing Standards – The project is complete with all invoices 
fully paid. 
 

 IT Infrastructure Assets – During the last quarter, the Council implemented its new 
telephone system (Ring Central) 
 

 Rosherville Loan (The Charter) – Construction on site continues at pace, with monthly 
drawdowns of the loan to Rosherville Property Development Limited being made in line 
with the projected cashflow for the project. 
 

 Barrack Row Public Conveniences – During quarter four of 2021/22, the focus of the 
project was the water and electric connections which included some difficulties with the 
waste water arrangements. As the works on the toilet were still ongoing, KCC’s recharge 
of costs related to the toilet block works are now anticipated in quarter one 2022-23.  
Any additional construction and reinstatement works will be reported under the 
“Essential Repairs to Buildings” budget within future budget monitoring reports. 
 

 Website Content Management System – Steady progress continued during quarter 
four on the redesign of the corporate website and moving the content management 
system to a new cloud-based platform. The system successfully went live in mid-May 
2022. 
 

Page 26



19 

 MOT Lane, Brookvale Workshop – The MOT Lane has been installed and is now 
operational, and thus this scheme has been completed. 
 

 Street Cleaning Machine – The machine has been purchased and paid. The machine 
is now in general operation around the town centre.  
 

 New Leisure Centre – Building on the original Feasibility study and outline business 
case, Faithful & Gould have recently been appointed via the Pagabo Procurement 
Framework as lead project management consultants for the new leisure centre and have 
assembled a design team to develop the project to RIBA stage 1. This includes 
formalisation of the project brief, project budget, site information and associated 
surveys, preparation of project programme, and pre-application planning advice etc. 
 

 Electric Vehicle Charging Points – As part of the Kent600 project there are eight sites 
owned by the council which are earmarked for the delivery of 30 fast chargers by 
Connected Kerb. Installation will take place during the summer of 2022, therefore the 
budget is being carried forward. 
 

 The St George’s Creative Hub – The new arts hub opened on 11 December 2021 and 
a rolling programme of displays, workshops and events has been developed.  Council 
capital funding was supported by funding from the Government’s Getting Building Fund 
allocated by the South East LEP/KCC. 
 
 

Page 27



20 

6. CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 

6.1 The table below shows the General Fund resources available to fund capital projects in      
the future:     

General Fund Capital Resources

Opening 

Balance           

01/04/2021                 

£

Actual    

Income        

2021/22                           

£           

Use of 

Funding 

2021/22                                                          

£       

Closing 

Balance 

31/03/2022           

£

Capital Receipts (473,940) (41,350) 160,210 (355,080)

S106 Capital Contributions (577,210) (406,290) 151,330 (832,170)

Capital Grants unapplied (138,500) 0 42,120 (96,380)

Total Capital Resources (1,189,650) (447,640) 353,660 (1,283,630)  

Table 6: General Fund Capital Resources 2021/22 

Capital Grants Unapplied

Opening 

Balance           

01/04/2021                 

£

Actual      

Income        

2021/22                           

£           

Use of 

Funding 

2021/22              

£

Closing 

Balance 

31/03/2022              

£

Localised Council Tax Support (83,500) 0 42,120 (41,380)

Land at South of Hever Court Road (55,000) 0 0 (55,000)

Total Capital Grants Unapplied (138,500) 0 42,120 (96,380)  

Table 7: Capital Grants Unapplied 2021/22 

 

Page 28



6.2 The table below lists the S106 developer contributions currently held by the council.  These contributions are treated as specific grants as 
they have conditions attached to their use. 

 

S106 Developer Contributions

General 

Fund             

£

HRA               

£

Third Party 

Contributions     

£ 

Total S106 

Income 

2021/22                  

£

Purpose of S106

Infrastructure Maintenance Depot (IMD) 

Compensation fund (2,590) 0 0 (2,590)

This grant fund was established by money secured from Union Rail the 

developers of the Channel Tunnel Rail Link. The original contribution was 

£242,000. Its aim is to support the delivery of landscape access, wildlife and 

recreation schemes in the Wards and Parishes affected by the development. 

Land at the South of Hever Court Road 0 0 (80,000) (80,000) Highways contribution.

Whitehill Open Space (52,000) 0 0 (52,000)

Towards qualitative improvements to the wider Whitehill amenity space. These 

funds might be put towards a number of potential opportunities including, for 

example, new seating, footpath improvements, new planting and/or the levelling of 

the retained amenity space to the north of the proposed development.

Land South of Dalefield Way, Dering Way (17,000) 0 0 (17,000) Flood Risk Management - £12,000, Bus Shelter - £5,000.

Whitehill Road   0 0 0.00 0.00 Highways contribution

Springhead Leisure Contribution (150,000) 0 0.00 (150,000)

To provide additional and/or improved play facilities at the Recreational ground 

and if not expended in 7 years after payment any unspent sum should be repaid

Bluewater - Gravesend Town Centre Improvements (37,790) 0 0 (37,790)

A scheme to improve or enhance the environmental setting, visitor and shopper 

experience, and / or attractiveness of Gravesend Town Centre.

Dover Road - Open space (50,000) 0 0 (50,000)

For use by Gravesend Council leisure for Springhead Recreation Ground pitch 

improvements at Dover Road Development,  Includes levelling works to make 

'pitch' 2  more usable to accommodate junior markings and potential 5V5 pitch.

Cold Harbour Road (184,000) 0 0 (184,000)

To be used to fund projects to improve and enhance the Fleet Leisure Centre or 

such other leisure facilities situated within 5 miles of the Site.

Meopham Police Station (24,500) 0 0 (24,500)

Income received - Planning number is 20141214. We await a copy of the S106 

agreement to the Development of the Meopham Police Station.

Rosherville Property Development - NHS 

Contribution 0.00 0 (155,230) (155,230)

Refurb, configuration and/or extension of either Gravesend medical centre or the 

Springhead Health Centre

Rosherville Property Development - St Andrews 

Gardens (285,260) 0 0 (285,260) Towards the improvement of Lanscaping at St Andrew's Gardens.

Heritage Funds (29,030) 0 0 (29,030)

Purpose of implementing measures to enhance the interpretation of heritage 

assets

Total S106 Contributions (832,170) 0.00 (235,230) (1,067,400)  

Table 8: S106 Contributions 2021/22 

P
age 29



Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment The purpose of this provisional outturn report is to identify performance against the 
original budget set for the 2021/22 financial year and illustrate how this affects the 
Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the council at the end of the 
financial year (subject to audit). 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

N/A 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No decision – paper is for information only. 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No decision – paper is for information only. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder No direct implications 

Digital and website 
implications 

No direct implications 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

No direct implications 

 

 

Page 30

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee 
 

Date: 19 July 2022 

Reporting officer: Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 

Subject: Housing Revenue Account Provisional Outturn 2021/22 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To present: 
 

 The 2021/22 provisional Housing Revenue Account Outturn, including movements in 
the Housing Revenue Account working balances and earmarked reserves 
 

 To present the 2021/22 provisional Housing Revenue Account Capital Outturn 
 

 

Recommendations: 

1. This report is for information only.  
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

The financial implications are contained within the body of this 
report. 

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & 
Succesfully Managing Key Business Risks 

Climate Change  No direct implications 

 
  

Page 31 Agenda Item 6



2 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The Constitution of the council requires Members to receive reports in respect of 
the council’s finances and financial performance.  This report therefore provides 
details of the provisional budget outturn for the 2021/22 financial year and 
complements the 2021/22 Financial Statements for the authority which will 
subsequently be considered by the Finance & Audit Committee. 

1.2 The council continues to operate robust budgetary control actions to ensure good 
financial governance and respond to the pressures on the council’s finances.  In 
addition to the reporting of financial performance through regular budget 
monitoring reports, these actions include: 

 Requiring all financial decisions and major acquisitions to be brought to 
Management Team for discussion and approval; 

 Appropriate controls in approving purchase orders; 

 Requiring recruitment activity, which affects either budgetary provision or 
results in a permanent change to the staffing establishment to be 
considered and approved by Management Team. 

 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

      HRA (Revenue) 

2.1 At the end of the financial year, income and expenditure for the year was balanced 
albeit with a contribution of £2.034m from reserves to fund revenue expenditure for 
the year.   

2.2 Variances identified within the report result in a larger contribution from the HRA 
General Reserve to balance the budget than originally forecast.  A higher 
depreciation charge for the year and additional spend incurred as a result of void 
properties have been offset to some degree by savings on staff costs and 
expenditure on external contractors as more work is now carried out by the in-house 
workforce. 

2.3 Despite the potential impact of Covid-19 being taken into account when setting the 
2021/22 HRA budget there were some additional variances to expenditure or income 
to report. 

2.4 The level of Working Balances at year-end are projected to be £3.0m, the minimum 
level of Working Balances for the HRA.  Movements in the year are projected to 
result in a net decrease in the General HRA Reserves of £2.034m, with the level of 
reserves being £2.8m at start of year and projected to be £729k at year-end.   

2.5 The significant risk to the HRA’s financial position is current inflation levels and 
supply chain issues.  These risks were reported in a separate report to Cabinet on 
30 May 2022. 

Housing Capital 

2.6 The Housing Capital Programme working budget is £21.1m, with schemes having 
been re-profiled where necessary as part of the budget-setting process for 2022/23.  
Expenditure for the year for the year is £18.7m, which includes £7.7m on capital 

Page 32



3 

works to existing HRA stock, £9.7m on the New Build programme and £1.1m on 
Disabled Facility Grants.  

 

3. HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

3.1 Budget 2021/22 

3.1.1 The table below sets out the provisional year end position for the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) against the original budget. 

3.1.2 As at 31 March 2022, there was a net adverse variance against the original 
budget of £1.737m.  The main contributing factors to this variance are the adverse 
variances on depreciation and responsive repairs (contractor and consumable 
materials). 

3.1.3 Depreciation – In 2019/20 the Council’s housing stock was valued at £320.8m, 
following an external valuation, this increased to £409m in 2020/21 (an increase of 
27.5%).   Depreciation is the process of allocating the cost of an asset over its 
useful life, so the increase in the overall valuation in March 2021, increased the 
depreciation charge to the HRA (£8.6m in 2021/22 compared to £6.7m in 
2020/21).  The depreciation charge credits the Major Repairs Reserve, which the 
Council is required to maintain and uses as a funding source for future capital 
works, which includes the cost of repairing and maintaining the Council’s Housing 
stock. 

3.1.4 Responsive Repairs - There has been a significant impact on the cost of repairs 
and maintenance due to national delays in the supply chain and the associated 
increase in material costs that is affecting both Contractors and the in-house team 
which are challenging to manage within budget and may affect programme 
delivery moving forwards.  An additional £752k was spent on consumable 
materials and payments to contractors during the year to provide the responsive 
repairs service to Council tenants. 

 

Table 1: Housing Revenue Account 2021/22 

3.2 SUPERVISION & MANAGEMENT – £524k ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.2.1 Vacancy Management: £201k favourable variance – the HRA staffing budget 
for 2021/22 incorporates a vacancy allowance of £100k for the year.  It was 

Description
Original Budget 

2021/22 (£)

Outturn    

2021/22 (£)
Variation (£)

Supervision and Management 5,996,680 6,521,120 524,440

Repairs and Maintenance 7,812,020 7,708,180 (103,840)

Depreciation 6,948,300 8,768,590 1,820,290

Intensive Management Fund - Expenditure 589,080 545,650 (43,430)

Capital Finance 7,794,080 7,519,430 (274,650)

Sub Total Expenditure 29,140,160 31,062,970 1,922,810

Rents of Dwellings (26,273,300) (26,425,620) (152,320)

Other Rental Income (14,700) (2,880) 11,820

Service Charges (1,782,900) (1,967,420) (184,520)

Non Dwelling Income (140,000) (133,380) 6,620

Intensive Management Fund - Income (521,680) (479,310) 42,370

Other Income (110,620) (20,160) 90,460

Sub Total Income (28,843,200) (29,028,770) (185,570)

Contributions to/(from) reserves (296,960) (2,034,200) 1,737,240

Net Surplus/Deficit 0 0 0

Page 33



4 

anticipated that this would occur throughout the establishment as a whole from 
natural staff turnover within day-to-day business activities, as well as posts held 
vacant pending the re-design of services. In 2021/22 the actual staffing spend 
was £201k lower than budgeted. 

3.2.2 147 Wrotham Road: £33k adverse variance – this property was purchased in 
2020/21 and refurbishment was completed in 2021/22 and is providing interim 
accommodation.  Premises and management costs associated with this property 
were not included in the 2021/22 budget and therefore there is a resulting 
adverse variance of £33k.  Whilst there is an adverse variance within supervision 
and management in relation this property, there is are compensating favourable 
variances with the Rents of Dwelling and Service Charges budgets reported in 
para 3.7.5 and 3.9.2 which means there is an overall nil impact on the HRA 
outturn position. 

3.2.3 New Build Preliminary Costs: £102k adverse variance – preliminary costs 
incurred as a result of bringing schemes to planning are incurred in revenue as  
they cannot be capitalised until there is certainty that the scheme will progress.  
Once it is confirmed that the scheme will progress, the preliminary costs are then 
transferred to capital.  There is no budget provision for this spend as it is 
assumed all costs will eventually be capitalised and therefore in 2021/22 there is 
a net adverse impact of £102k.  Once work is started on site, these costs can 
then be capitalised at a later date. 

3.2.4 Council Tax on Void Properties: £70k adverse variance - 2021/22 has seen a 
significant increase in the number of void properties compared to last year which, 
through discussions with other providers, appears to be common across the 
social housing sector.  There have been a number of challenges from an 
operational perspective such as a national shortage of materials and staff 
shortages due to Covid-19 both of which has had a consequential impact on the 
time it has taken to complete the work. Whilst the property remains void, the 
Council Tax associated with the property must be met from the revenue budget. 

3.2.5 Recharges: £326k adverse variance – the General Fund levies annual charges 
to the HRA for the services it uses ie the cost of corporate functions such as IT 
and Finance as well as the use of premises ie the Civic Centre and Brookvale.  
During the year these charges were reviewed, and additional recharges have 
been levied on the HRA by the General Fund which were not originally budgeted, 
resulting in and adverse variance of £326k. 

3.2.6 Redundancy & Retirement Benefits: £161k adverse variance - the Housing 
Staffing Restructure resulted in some officers being made redundant.  Due to the 
age of three officers, the Council incurred pension strain costs resulting in an 
adverse variance of £161k. 

3.2.7 Legal Fees: £53k adverse variance – In recent years there has been a 
significant growth nationally, in the number of legal companies encouraging 
housing tenants to seek compensation where they believe the landlord has failed 
to undertake appropriate repairs to their property.  These are known as housing 
disrepair claims and the Council received several during the year.  The claim 
values are very low as they have been for minor issues, but the associated costs 
the legal companies levy, have been significant which has resulted in an 
overspend on legal fees of £53k.  The current claims experience was fed into the 
2022/23 budget setting process and the legal fees budget has been increased 
accordingly. 

3.2.8 Audit Fees: £27k adverse variance – a provision for audit fees relating to 
2021/22 has been made within the budget which is some £27k above budget.  

Page 34



5 

Audit fees for the year are yet to be finalised and therefore given the current 
situation a provision 60% above current fees has been assumed.  

3.2.9 Security Fees: £52k favourable variance – The additional security patrols at 
Gravesham Court and Homemead, which were introduced in recent years, 
ceased in the summer following the installation of new security doors to the 
blocks. This has resulted in a favourable variance of £52k. 

3.2.10 Minor Variances: £5k adverse variance – there are a number of smaller 
adverse and favourable variances within the Supervision and Management 
budget which collectively have resulted in a £5k adverse variance. 

3.3 REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE - £104k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

3.3.1 Insurance Excesses: £55k favourable variance- In 2020/21 adverse weather 
conditions caused roof damage to a number of properties in the borough and in 
the same year, a fire at a property in Palmer Avenue occurred.  Repair costs for 
both events were incurred during the previous financial year and an insurance 
claim was submitted.  Zurich have now reimbursed costs that the Council 
incurred which were above the insurance policy excess, which has resulted in a 
favourable variance of £55k. This money has been used as a financing source 
for the 2021/22 capital programme. 

3.3.2 Responsive Repairs: £310k adverse variance – An additional £752k was 
spent on consumable materials and payment to contractors during the year to 
provide the responsive repairs service to Council tenants for the reasons set out 
in para 3.1.4.  An additional £435k of works to any property which have totalled 
over £12k have been capitalised, but underspends elsewhere within this service 
have mitigated the overall position and has resulted in an adverse variance of 
£310k. 

The repairs and maintenance programmes continue to be affected. 

3.3.3 Recharges: £101k adverse variance – as per para 3.2.5, additional recharges 
have been charged by the General Fund to the HRA which were not include in 
the original budget, resulting in an adverse variance of £101k. 

3.3.4 Fire Door Inspections: £72k favourable variance – This programme was a 
new addition to the 2021/22 budget.  During the year a procurement exercise 
was undertaken to identify suitable accredited contractors.  Inspections planned 
for 2021/22 were completed to programme and continue into 2022/23 with the 
expansion into the fire door replacement programme. 

3.3.5 Asbestos Management £34k favourable variance – The original budget for 
2021/22 was allocated to support the Asbestos Management policy, which at the 
time was based on conducting asbestos surveys to ensure all properties 
(including blocks) had surveys carried out.  During the year, the Council’s 
approach has changed and now monitors and manages existing policies, rather 
than commissioning new ones. Asbestos removals and specific surveys (where 
required) are still being carried out but the costs for these, in the main, are being 
allocated within the specific project/programme works to which they relate. 

3.3.6 Out of Hours £108k favourable variance – Expenditure on contractors is lower 
than budget by £108k due to the majority of out of hours work are being carried 
out by the in-house workforce. 

3.3.7 Gas Servicing £118k favourable variance – All programmed work for the year 
was carried out but a favourable variance of £118k has resulted from efficiencies 

Page 35



6 

introduced which has diverted from the traditional servicing programme to a 
“MOT style” approach.  The impact on cyclical serving will be monitored 
throughout the forthcoming year and future year budgets will be reduced 
accordingly.   

3.3.8 Payment to Contractors £134k favourable variance – the spend on payments 
to contractors on several budget lines including cyclical painting and decorating, 
estate improvements, general stock work and servicing has been lower than 
budgeted resulting in a favourable variance of £134k.  This is due to the in-house 
workforce carrying out much of this work. 

3.3.9 Estate Clearance £18k adverse variance – additional clearance works were 
identified as being necessary in year and therefore this has resulted in 
overspend of £18k.  

3.3.10 Minor Variances: £12k favourable variance – there are a number of smaller 
adverse and favourable variances within the Repairs and Maintenance budget 
which collectively have resulted in a £12k favourable variance. 

3.4 DEPRECIATION - £1,820k ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.4.1 Depreciation – £1,820k adverse variance – The depreciation charge in 
2021/22 has resulted in an adverse variance for the reasons set out in para 
3.1.3. 

3.5 INTENSIVE MANAGEMENT FUND (EXPENDITURE) - £43K FAVOURABLE 
VARIANCE 

3.5.1 Intensive Management: £43k favourable variance – The cost of delivering this 
service was lower than budget.  There has been a corresponding reduction in the 
income as per 3.11.1 and therefore there is nil overall impact for the HRA. 

3.6 CAPITAL FINANCING - £275K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

3.6.1 Interest Cost Savings: £144k favourable variance – due to the Covid-19 
related delays in the new build programme, there was a lower external borrowing 
requirement in 2020/21.  This has reduced the associated cost of borrowing in 
2021/22, resulting in a favourable variance of £144k against the original budget. 

3.6.2 Revenue Contribution to Capital: £131k favourable variance – The original 
budget included a provision to utilise £247k from the HRA general reserve as 
well as a revenue contribution to capital of £250k.  Given the increased amount 
in the MRR as detailed in para 3.4.1, there was no requirement to draw the 
budgeted funds from the HRA general reserve and the revenue contribution to 
capital was £366k (including the use of the insurance excess of £55k reported in 
para 3.3.1).  This has resulted in an overall net favourable variance of £131k. 

3.7 RENTS ON DWELLINGS - £152k FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

3.7.1 Rents on Dwellings – £205k adverse variance – Several factors have 
combined which results in a net adverse variance on rental income of £205k.   

3.7.2 Due to the Covid-19 impact on the delivery of the New Build programmes from 
20/21 into 21/22, there have been delays in the completion of units resulting in a 
loss of rental income. 

Page 36



7 

3.7.3 The number of void properties has increased during the year and the turnaround 
time taken has also increased, resulting in a higher loss of rent than had been 
budgeted.  A higher void percentage has been assumed in the 2022/23 budget. 

3.7.4 A total of 32 properties were sold under the Right to Buy scheme, but the budget 
reflected an expectation that 20 properties would be sold, as it was assumed that 
Covid-19 would continue to have an impact on the number of properties sold.  
Therefore, this has also had an adverse impact on the rental income.  

3.7.5 Conversely, there have been a number of properties re-let at a higher rent than 
outgoing tenants had been paying so this has had a favourable effect on the 
overall net position as has the completion and tenanting of 147 Wrotham Road. 

3.7.6 Provision of Doubtful Debts - £357k favourable variance – Analysis of the 
age of outstanding debt as at 31 March meant that an in-year provision of £173k 
was required to account for doubtful debts, which was £107k lower than 
anticipated.  A further budget of £250k was made for an additional allocation to 
account for an increase in provision resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic.  
Given the standard provision for doubtful debts was not fully required, it was 
agreed that a further provision of £250k was also not required. 

3.8 OTHER RENTAL INCOME - £12K ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.8.1 Other Rental Income: £12k adverse variance – The budgets for lettings of 
halls was reduced by £13k at budget setting to reflect a reduction in income due 
to the Covid-19 pandemic. Despite this reduction in the budget, income received 
was still below the budgeted amount and there was a resulting £12k adverse 
variance. 

3.9 SERVICE CHARGES - £185K FAVOURABLE VARIANCE 

3.9.1 Service Charges on Dwellings: £22k adverse variance – There are a two 
main factors that have combined to result in an adverse variance on the Service 
Charges budget. 

3.9.2 Following the completion and occupation of 147 Wrotham Road, additional 
service charges were received during the year. 

3.9.3 Conversely, the number of void properties has increased during the year and the 
turnaround time taken has also increased, resulting in a higher loss of service 
charges than had been budgeted.  A higher void percentage has been assumed 
as part of the 22/23 budget setting process. 

3.9.4 Leaseholder Service Charges - £139k favourable variance – income from 
service charges to leasehold tenants was higher than budget by £139k.  This 
budget will be reviewed as part of the 2022/23 budget setting process to 
determine whether a higher income budget can be set going forward. 

3.9.5 Contribution to Capital and Redecoration: £68k favourable variance – 
invoices raised to recover the leaseholder contributions to capital works and 
redecoration costs to communal areas were higher than anticipated, resulting in 
a favourable variance of £68k. 

3.10 NON-DWELLING INCOME - £7K ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.10.1 Commercial Rent - £35k favourable variance – a favourable variance is 
forecast due to the increased rental income received for the hire of space for 

Page 37



8 

telecommunications masts on HRA land and buildings not known at the time of 
setting the budget. 

3.10.2 Garage Rent - £55k adverse variance – The New Build scheme within the HRA 
capital programme has utilised a number of garage sites for development.  This 
has reduced the number of units available for rent and therefore the potential 
income from garages has decreased and resulted in an adverse variance in 
2021/22 of £55k.  An exercise has been carried out as part of the budget setting 
exercise for 2022/23 to align future garage rental income budgets with the 
revised potential income. 

3.10.3 Other Non-Dwelling Income: £13k favourable variance – There are smaller 
favourable variances within the Non Dwelling Income budget which has resulted 
in a cumulative effective of a £13k favourable variance. 

3.11 INTENSIVE MANAGEMENT FUND (INCOME) - £42K ADVERSE VARIANCE 

3.11.1 Intensive Management Fund: £42k adverse variance – As per 3.5.1, the 
reduction in income received is equivalent to a reduction in the cost of delivering 
this service was lower than budget, resulting in an overall nil impact for the HRA. 

3.12 OTHER INCOME – £90K ADVERSE FAVOURABLE 

3.12.1 Investment Income on Internal Balances: £28k adverse variance – following 
a year of higher levels of expenditure, reduced income and reduced reserve 
balances, coupled with lower interest rates on investments, the HRA only 
received £12k on balances held against a budget of £40k resulting in a £28k 
adverse variance. 

3.12.2 Other Income – £62k adverse variance – as with rental income from dwellings 
there has been an impact on other income as a result of COVID-19.  A reduction 
was anticipated at budget setting and the original budget reduced compared to 
previous years, however, there has been a further reduction in the actual 
amounts received resulting in an adverse variance of £62k. 

3.13 WORKING BALANCES AND RESERVES 

3.13.1 The variances outlined in this report have the following effect upon HRA working 
balances:  

 

Table 2: Effect on Housing Revenue Account Working Balances 

3.13.2 The working balances are supplemented by specific reserves established to assist 
with future funding obligations or initiatives.  The table below provides a summary 
of the forecast movements on these specific reserves during the year.  

£

Balance Brought Forward from 2020/21 3,000,000

Provisional Outturn position 2021/22 (2,034,190)

Forecast working balances C/Fwd including minimum HRA Working Balance 965,810

Add: Transfer from HRA General Reserve (Revenue) 2,034,190

Usable Working Balances C/fwd (as at 31 Dec 2021) 3,000,000

Page 38



9 

 

Table 3: Analysis of Specific Reserves – HRA 

 

4. HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

4.1 The Housing Capital programme working budget for 2021/22 is £21,089,410, of which 
£19,000,010 relates to HRA capital schemes and £2,089,400 relates to non-HRA capital 
schemes.  These budgets include £1,869,940 and £1,069,800, respectively that are 
carried forward from 2020/21. 

4.2 The HRA capital schemes continued to focus on maintaining the minimum decent 
homes standard for the Council’s stock in 2021/22, with £7,897,620 earmarked for this 
purpose within the Replacement, Improvement, Health & Safety Works and Major Void 
Works Programmes.  A further £200,000 has been set aside to deal with the 
refurbishment of major void properties.  The council also continues its commitment to 
build new homes with £10,647,960 allocated for this purpose. 

4.3 As at the end of March 2021, £18.677m had been spent against the capital schemes 
detailed below. 

 

 Table 4: Housing Capital Programme 2021/22 

 

4.4 The following works were undertaken or completed by the end of Quarter 4 2021/22: 

4.4.1 Replacement Programmes (Ref A)  

 Kitchen renewals: 199 completed 

 Bathroom renewals: 144 completed 

 Windows and door renewals: 151 properties and communal windows to 8  
blocks completed 

HRA Specific Reserves

Opening 

Balance 

01/04/2021   

(£)

Contributions 

(Income)      

(£)

Use of 

Reserve 

(Expenditure) 

(£)

Balance 

31/03/2022   

(£)

HRA General Reserve (Revenue) (2,763,470) 0 2,034,190 (729,280)

Total (2,763,470) 0 2,034,190 (729,280)

Ref No: Scheme

2021-22 

Original 

Budget inc 

C/fwd

2021-22 

Approved 

Adjustments

2021-22 

Working 

Budget

2021-22 

Final 

Outturn

Variance

C/Fwd and 

Adj's to 

2021-22

2022-23 

Approved 

Budget

2022-23 

Original 

Budget inc 

C/fwd

A Replacement Programmes 3,910,190 (420,000) 3,490,190 3,203,560 (286,630) 286,630 3,368,290 3,654,920

B Improvement Programmes 1,771,480 (148,000) 1,623,480 1,521,910 (101,570) 101,570 1,500,910 1,602,480

C Health & Safety Works 1,984,950 87,000 2,071,950 2,036,310 (35,640) 35,640 1,222,150 1,257,790

D Major Void Works 250,000 (50,000) 200,000 405,470 205,470 0 250,000 250,000

E New Build & Acquisitions 12,582,600 (1,934,640) 10,647,960 9,777,310 (870,650) 870,650 13,863,470 14,734,120

F Housing Computer Systems 345,080 (345,080) 0 10,160 10,160 (10,160) 600,000 589,840

G Replacement Play Equipment 127,500 (127,500) 0 0 0 0 127,500 127,500

H Bin Housing 49,470 0 49,470 49,350 (120) 120 49,470 49,590

I CCTV 56,960 0 56,960 37,340 (19,620) 19,620 30,000 49,620

J Fire Doors 811,000 (99,000) 712,000 497,080 (214,920) 214,920 806,580 1,021,500

K LAD2 Grant Scheme 0 148,000 148,000 0 (148,000) 148,000 0 148,000

- Energy Efficiency 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,888,650 1,888,650

- Structual Works 0 0 0 0 0 0 100,000 100,000

- Sheltered Community Upgrade 0 0 0 0 0 0 116,950 116,950

- Cycle Storage 0 0 0 0 0 0 30,000 30,000

- Alleyways - HRA 0 0 0 0 0 0 105,000 105,000

Sub Total (HRA Capital Programme) 21,889,230 (2,889,220) 19,000,010 17,538,490 (1,461,520) 1,666,990 24,058,970 25,725,960

L Disabled Facilities Grant 1,902,600 186,800 2,089,400 1,138,200 (951,200) 0 0 0

Total (HRA & GF Capital Programme) 23,791,830 (2,702,420) 21,089,410 18,676,690 (2,412,720) 1,666,990 24,058,970 25,725,960

HOUSING CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Page 39



10 

 Roofing: 6 Blocks and 24 Properties have had a roof renewal. Work to renew 
to the roof at Carl Ekman is in progress and 80% complete.  

 Electrical tests: 1127 properties completed  

 Electrical tests: 48 Blocks completed  
 

4.4.2. Improvement Programmes (Ref B) 

 Central heating systems/boilers installations:  276 completed 

 Major refurbishments: 25 properties completed 

 Aids & Adaptions works completed: 

 Wet room installations: 53  

 Over bath showers: 11 

 Domestic stair lifts installations: 21 

 Other Adaptations: 2 
 

4.4.3. Health & Safety Works (Ref C) 
 

 Fire detection installations in general let properties: 355 completed 

 Fire detection installations in sheltered properties: 350 completed 

 Upgrades to door entry systems: 50 blocks 

 Passenger lift refurbishment: Refurbishment works to two lifts at Carl Ekman 
completed.  

 LED Emergency lighting upgrades carried out at 4 blocks, includes completion 
of all floors at Homemead. 

 Fire rated front door replacements to flats: 320 Properties 
 

The following two programmes resulted from the recommendations from the Hackitt 
report; works completed: 

 Carl Ekman water mains and soil stack renewed; this includes: 
o  Replacement of cast iron soil and rainwater pipework  
o  Replacement of water mains riser pipework 
o  Compliancy Works to upgrade balconies to meet current regulations 

 commenced at Carl Ekman House 

 Carl Ekman: Fire Sprinkler upgrade completed following water mains 
upgrade.  

 
4.4.4. Despite a number of issues faced during 2021/22, including delays with the supply 

chains, and the knock on effect of the Omicron variant, the majority of the capital 
programmes have been delivered, albeit with some delays as evidenced by carry 
forward allocations.  
 

 
4.5. New Build (Ref E) 

4.5.1. In 2012 the authority signed an agreement with the DCLG to retain an element of the 
Right To Buy (RTB) receipts and use them as part-funding of new build and/or 
acquisition of additional social housing. 

4.5.2. From 1 April 2021, MHCLG amended the rules around the use of RTB receipts, 
allowing Local Authorities to fund 40% of costs incurred in the delivery of additional 
housing units from the use of RTB receipts, which is an increase from the previous 
limit of 30%.  This means that Local Authorities are now only required to fund the 
remaining 60% of costs.  MHCLG has also increased the requirement to spend RTB 
receipts from three to four years after they are generated. 

Page 40



11 

4.5.3. The table below shows a summary of the new build properties that have been 
delivered since the original agreement was signed in 2012, as well as the number of 
additional properties, which are at various stages of delivery within the current 
programme.  To date, the total number of new Council homes completed, under 
construction or with planning permission is 140. The Housing Development Team 
continue to work on a pipeline of potential development sites to increase the supply 
of social housing. 
 

HRA Property Development Stage 
Number of 
Properties 

Delivered and Completed 72 

Under Construction 61 

Planning Permission Granted 7 

Feasibility/Concept Design 231 

Total Number of HRA Properties 371 
 

Table 5: New Build Delivery 

4.5.4. The following is the reported position at the end of Quarter 4: 

 Whitehill (Admiral Beatty House) and Nansen Road – Scheme completed July 2021; 
comprising of 8 x 3 bed 5 person houses and 24 x 1 bed & 2 bed apartments. In 
defects liability period. 
 

 St Patrick’s Gardens (Bishops Court) –Completed 14th March 2022. Comprising of 22 
x 1 bed & 2 bed apartments and 1 x 2 bed wheelchair dwelling, including play 
equipment installed to new amenity space. 
 

 Valley Drive (340/Mariner Court) – Works are continuing on site with completion 
scheduled in autumn 2022. The scheme will deliver 32 x 1 bed apartments for over 
55’s including x4 wheelchair compliant homes to Block A and 15 x 1 bed & 2 bed 
apartments for general needs and 1 x 3 bed wheelchair dwelling to Block B. 

 

 Constable Road – Completed 30th May 2022. Terrace of 6 x 1 bed bungalows and 1 
x 1 bed wheelchair compliant bungalow. The new play area to the open greenspace 
is expected to complete end of July 2022. 

 

 Armoury Drive – The former Milton Barracks site in Armoury Drive is under 
construction comprising 2 x 1 bed detached bungalows and 4 x 2 bed apartments. 
Starting on site 6th June 2022 the 64-week programme is expecting to complete 
summer 2023.   

 

 St Columba’s Close – Currently under redesign the scheme will now comprise of 13 
x 1 bed and 21 x 2 bed apartments, 7 x 3 bed houses and 4 x 4 bed houses with 
general improvements to the public realm and existing blocks of flats. Community 
engagement has commenced with design works ongoing with a planning submission 
expected Autumn 2022.  

 

 147 Wrotham Road - In 2020/21 the Council purchased this property, to provide 
interim housing to assist vulnerable residents within the borough. The property 
includes 10 single rooms with en-suite facilities (including one wet room), and a 
further 4 multifunctional rooms which can be used as emergency overnight 
accommodation, shared kitchen, and dining facilities as well as facilities for staff. All 
major works have been completed and the property has been in occupation since 
November 2021. 

Page 41



12 

 

4.5.5. The council is permitted to retain part of the RTB receipts to repay the debt incurred 
in 2012 as part of HRA self-financing.  As of 1 April 2021, the RTB Allowable Debt 
reserve had a nil balance.  This was due to the proposal to use any balance from the 
RTB Allowable Debt reserve to help fund the New Build projects, ahead of any other 
funding source, as this can either be used to repay debt or finance the capital 
programme.  

4.5.6. Table 6 summarises the one for one receipts retained from the sale of Right To Buy 
properties, since 2012, along with the level of GBC’s contributions required to deliver 
the New Build programme and a summary of when expenditure needs to be 
delivered to avoid having to return funds to Central Government. 

 

Table 6: New Build 

 

4.6. Housing Computer System (Ref F)  

4.6.1. The Council has received a formal response from the supplier following a dispute 
notice being sent to them for failing to provide a functioning system within the agreed 
timeframe. The formal response has been reviewed by Legal and Housing 
colleagues and work is currently underway to implement the new system. During Q4 
a reimbursement of £254k was issued to the council for costs incurred in 20/21 and 
21/22. 

4.6.2. The alternative solution from the supplier is expected to better meet the needs of the 
Council, commercial agreement has been reached and final due diligence is taking 
place.  Officers are also participating in a number of discovery workshops with the 
supplier in conjunction with initial delivery planning sessions to form a revised project 
plan. 

4.6.3  The Council and system supplier are continuing to work collaboratively to implement 
the new housing management system.  

4.7. Replacement Playground Equipment (Ref G)  

4.7.1.  Following the review of playground sites, it was established that they are available for 
public use and not limited to estate residents and therefore expenditure can be 
funded from the Contain Management Outbreak Fund (COMF) monies.  This 
expenditure will be reported as part of the General Fund programme and therefore 
the current budget of £127.5k will be carried forward into 2022/23.  

One for one 

receipts 

retained

GBC 60% 

contribution to 

new build

Value of new 

build 

expenditure 

expected

Cumulative value 

of new build 

expenditure 

expected

Date of new 

build expected 

by

£ £ £ £

2012-17 c/f 6,905,580         16,113,020       23,018,600       23,018,620             31-Mar-22

2017-18 1,811,560         4,227,000          6,038,560         29,057,180             31-Mar-23

2018-19 1,797,170         4,193,400          5,990,570         35,047,730             31-Mar-24

2019-20 2,869,320         6,695,080          9,564,400         44,612,130             31-Mar-25

2020-21 1,475,440         3,442,690          4,918,130         49,530,260             31-Mar-26

2021-22 3,072,252         4,608,379          7,680,631         57,210,891             31-Mar-27

17,931,320 39,279,570 57,210,890

Page 42



13 

4.7.2.  In Q4, four new play parks were successfully delivered at Fountain Walk, Warwick 
Place, Medhurst Gardens and Park Place and were all funded from the 
aforementioned Contain Management Outbreak Fund (COMF). 

4.8. Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) (Ref K)  

4.8.1. The grant funding awarded to the Council in 2021/22, via the Better Care Fund, was 
£1.02m, which was higher than the £833k that was forecasted when the budget was 
set in February 2021.  The total funding available for use in 2021/22 was £2.089m, 
which is inclusive of the £1.07m that was carry forward from 2020/21. 
 

4.8.2. The Council continued to offer the Disabled Facility Grant programme to homes 
eligible for assistance within the wider remit of the Better Care Fund; and looked to 
expand on this where possible. 

 
4.8.3. All works previously impacted by Covid-19 have now progressed.  As at Quarter 4, 

71.1% of the annual budget has been committed/spent, amounting to £1.485m 
 
4.8.4. DFG referrals received to date totals 126 for 2021/22, of which, 74 DFG’s have 

progressed to full application stage. There are 215 DFGs including those ongoing 
from previous years. 

 106 DFG grant cases were approved  

 83 households had works completed  

 15 applications were aborted or cancelled due to changes in the client’s 
circumstances not including those carried over from the previous year which 
totalled 31.  

 62 grant cases are currently in progress but have not yet reached the full 
approval stage 
 

4.8.5. The table below gives a comparison of the current level of DFG’s to previous years. 
 

 
 

Table 7: DFG Historic Claim Information 

4.8.6. From 2022/23 the Disabled Facility Grant budget will be reported as part of the 
General Fund capital programme. Therefore, the carry forward budget has been 
removed from Table 4 and will be shown in the equivalent table in the General Fund 
Outturn Report.   

 

4.9. Capital Resources 

4.9.1. Table 8 below, shows the resources available to fund capital projects in future.  The 
use of funding takes into account schemes, which are expected to roll balances 
forward, as indicated in this report. 

19-20 19-20 19-20 19-20 20-21 20-21 20-21 20-21 21-22 21-22 21-22 21-22

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Approved 22 14 25 23 4 6 26 22 30 55 68 106

Complete 19 16 11 21 12 8 10 21 15 44 56 83

Cancelled 5 7 11 3 0 2 8 7 1 12 27 15

In Progress 44 48 42 42 47 56 51 86 56 59 52 62

Total 90 85 89 89 63 72 95 136 102 170 203 266

Page 43



14 

 
Table 8: HRA and General Fund Housing Capital Resources 2021/22 

 
 

5. Appendices 

5.1 There are no appendices.  

6. Background Documents  

6.1 There are no background documents. 

Lead Officer:  Alexandra Jarvis 

Email:  alexandra.jarvis@gravesham.gov.uk 

 
  

Housing Capital Resources

Opening 

Balance 

01/04/2021      

(£)

Actual 

Income 

2021/22         

(£)

Use of 

Funding 

2021/22            

(£)

Final 

Balance 

31/03/2022    

(£)

Capital Receipts - HRA (1,010,350) (266,310) 96,840 (1,179,820)

Capital Receipts - GF Housing (135,380) 0 0 (135,380)

Capital Receipts - PV Panels (3,573,000) 0 0 (3,573,000)

Major Repairs Reserve - Dwellings (85,380) (8,579,830) 8,211,260 (453,950)

Major Repairs Reserve - Non Dwellings (69,700) (188,540) 188,540 (69,700)

New Build Reserve: 1-4-1 Receipts (6,349,860) (3,072,250) (9,422,110)

Right to Buy Allowable Debt Reserve 0 (889,810) 889,810 0

Disabled Facility Grants (1,203,630) (1,019,600) 1,138,200 (1,085,030)

Meopham Police Station (s106) (24,500) 0 0 (24,500)

General Reserve (revenue) (2,763,470) 0 2,034,190 (729,280)

Total (15,215,270) (14,016,340) 12,558,840 (16,672,770)

Page 44



15 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment The purpose of this report is to demonstrate financial performance as at 31 March 
2022 against the original budget set for the 2021/22 financial year, and illustrate 
how this affects the Working Balances and Earmarked Reserves held by the 
Council. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

N/A 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No decision – paper is for information only. 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

N/A 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder No direct implications. 

Digital and website 
implications 

No direct implications. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

No direct implications. 

 

Page 45

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee 

Date: 19 July 2022 

Reporting officer: Director (Corporate Services) 

Subject: Treasury Management Annual Review 2021-22 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To report on treasury management activity during 2021-22 in accordance with the 
requirements of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA’s) revised 
code on Treasury Management. 

Recommendations: 

1. The Finance and Audit Committee note the contents of this report. 
2. Delegated authority be given to the Director (Corporate Services), in consultation with 

the Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee, to amend the figures in this report, as 
necessary following successful completion of the final accounts process. 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal As per Section 1.13B.67 of the Council's Constitution, the Chief 
Finance Officer has delegated responsibility from Cabinet. 

 “in respect of borrowing and investments to arrange such loans 
as are legally permitted to meet the Council’s borrowing 
requirements” 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

A summary of the perceived risks associated with Treasury 
Management were identified in the Treasury Management 
Strategy approved by Council on 23 February 2021.  Officers 
continue to monitor the risks on a day to day basis and identfiy 
mitigating action to minimise risks. 

In order to achieve a balanced budget, the authority relies upon 
generating maximum interest from its investments whilst 
minimising the exposure to risk.  In order to achieve this, 
investments are only placed with institutions which meet the 
criteria set out within this report.  Investment durations do no 
exceed those as advised by Link Asset Services credit ratings 
which are associated with the specific institutions. 

Where the authority is required to borrow to meet the needs of the 
authority, Officers will seek advice from Link Asset Services on 

Page 47 Agenda Item 7



timings and options in order to ensure the best deal for the 
authority. 

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & 
Successfully Managing Key Business Risks. 

Climate Change  N/A 

 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 
2003 to produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the 
actual prudential and treasury indicators for 2021-22.  This report meets the 
requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the 
Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the 
Prudential Code). 

1.2 In accordance with reporting requirements for each financial year, Full Council 
received the following reports for 2021-22: 

 an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Council 23 February 2021) 

 a mid-year (minimum) treasury update report (Council 7 December 2021) 

 an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity 
compared to the strategy (this report, which will be received by Council on 
11 October 2022 through consideration of the Minutes of this meeting of the 
Finance & Audit Committee) 

1.3 The regulatory environment places responsibility on Members for the review and 
scrutiny of treasury management policy and activities.  This report is, therefore, 
important in that respect as it provides details of the outturn position for treasury 
activities and highlights compliance with the Council’s policies previously 
approved by Members. 

1.4 The report also provides confirmation that the Council has complied with the 
requirement, under the Code, to give prior scrutiny to all of the above treasury 
management reports by the Finance and Audit Committee before they were 
reported to the Full Council.  Member training on treasury management issues 
was undertaken during the year on 18 January 2022 in order to support members’ 
scrutiny role. 

1.5 As previously reported to Finance and Audit Committee, the external audit 
process of reviewing and certifying the 2019/20 Statement of Accounts has yet to 
be concluded.  The final accounts process has identified alternative treatment for 
the St George’s transaction.  Therefore the figures included within this report now 
reflect the treatment of this transaction as a loan instead of a finance lease but 
they are still subject to external audit.  For this reason, delegated authority is 
sought for the Director (Corporate Services) to amend the figures stated in this 
report, following successful completion of the final accounts process, in 
consultation with the Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee. 

Page 48



2. THE COUNCIL’S CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCING 

2.1 The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These activities 
may either be:  

2.1.1 Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue 
resources (capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), 
which has no resultant impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or 

2.1.2 If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply 
resources, the capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need 

2.2 The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.  
The table below shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed. 

 2020/21 
Actual £m*1 

2021/22 
Revised 
Budget 
£m*2 

2021/22 
Actual £m*3 

Capital Expenditure – Non HRA 7.533 24.903 18.188 

Capital Expenditure – HRA 13.158 19.000 17.539 

Total Capital Expenditure 20.691 43.903 35.727 

Financed in Year 13.779 17.694 16.593 

Unfinanced Capital Expenditure 6.912 26.209 19.134 

*1 based on the Provisional Outturn Report 2020/21 

*2 as per TMSS 2022/23 

*3 based on the Provisional Outturn Report 2021/22 

3. THE COUNCIL’S OVERALL BORROWING NEED 

3.1 The Council’s underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure is termed 
the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). 

3.2 Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are 
prudent over the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should 
ensure that its gross external borrowing does not, except in the short term, 
exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year 
(2020/21) plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for 
the current (2021/22) and next two financial years.  This essentially means that 
the Council is not borrowing to support revenue expenditure.  The table below 
highlights the Council’s gross borrowing position (external debt plus finance 
lease) against the CFR.  The Council has complied with this prudential indicator. 

 31 March 
2021 Actual 

£m*1 

31 March 
2022 

Revised 
Budget 
£m*2 

31 March 
2022 Actual 

£m*3 

Page 49



CFR Non HRA (£m) 29.144 47.231 42.886 

CFR HRA (£m) 76.792 79.550 76.821 

CFR Commercial (£m) 6.300 6.164 6.164 

Total CFR 112.236 132.945 125.871 

Gross Borrowing Position 107.163 125.147 122.073 

Under / over funding of CFR (5.073) (7.798) (3.798) 

*1 based on the Provisional Outturn Report 2020/21 and reflects the change of treatment for the St 

George’s transaction 

*2 as per TMSS 2021/22 (adjusted for change in accounting treatment of St George’s transaction) 

*3 based on the Provisional Outturn Report 2021/22 

3.3 The authorised limit - the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” 
required by s3 of the Local Government Act 2003.  Once this has been set, the 
Council does not have the power to borrow above this level.  A revised authorised 
limit for 2021/22 was approved by Full Council at its meeting on 22 February 
2022.  The table below demonstrates that during 2021/22 the Council has 
maintained gross borrowing within its authorised limit. 

3.4 The operational boundary – the operational boundary is the expected borrowing 
position of the Council during the year.  Periods where the actual position is either 
below or over the boundary are acceptable subject to the authorised limit not 
being breached.  A revised operational boundary limit for 2021/22 was approved 
by Full Council at its meeting on 22 February 2022. 

3.5 Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator 
identifies the trend in the cost of capital, (borrowing and other long term obligation 
costs net of investment income), against the net revenue stream. 

 

 2021/22 

Authorised Limit (as per TMSS 2022/23) 293.860 

Maximum gross boundary position during the year 126.257 

Operational boundary (as per TMSS 2022/23) 278.860 

Average gross borrowing position 114.618 

Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream 22.79% 

 

4. TREASURY POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2022  

4.1 The Council‘s treasury position at the beginning and the end of 2021-22 was as 
follows: 

Page 50



 31 March 
2021 

Principal 
£m 

Rate 31 March 
2022 

Principal 
£m 

Rate Average 
Life yrs 

PWLB Loans 75.663 2.87% 68.479 2.92% 4.27 

Market Loans 5.800 2.96% 27.200 2.17% 2.17 

Short Term Loans 0.014 0.00% 0.014 0.25% - 

St George’s Loans 26.686 9.47% 26.380 9.47% 46.25 

Total Loans 107.163  122.073   

Finance Lease 0.000  0.000   

Total Debt 107.163  122.073   

Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) 

112.236  125.871 
  

Over/ (Under) 
borrowing 

5.073  3.798   

Total Investments 40.542  53.287   

Net Debt 

(Total Debt minus 
Total Investments)  

66.621  68.786   

 

4.2 From 2018/19, this authority has operated a two loans pool, split between the 
General Fund and Housing Revenue Account (HRA). 

4.3 The maturity structure of the debt portfolio was as follows: 

 31 March 
2021 

Actual 
£m 

March 
2021 

Actual % 

2021/22 
original 
limits % 

31 March 
2021 

Actual 
£m 

March 
2021 

Actual % 

Under 12 months 7.198 6.72 50 10.775 8.83 

12 to 24 months 7.761 7.24 50 14.170 11.61 

24 months to 5 years 32.863 30.66 75 47.946 39.27 

5 to 10 years 33.655 31.41 75 22.802 18.68 

More than 10 years 25.687 23.97 100 26.380 21.61 

 

Page 51



Investment Portfolio Actual 31 
March 2021 

£m 

Actual 31 
March 2021 

% 

Actual 31 
March 2022 

£m 

Actual 31 
March 2022 

% 

Treasury Investments     

Fixed Term Investments 8.000 19.73 11.000 20.64 

Certificate of Deposits 0.000  8.000 15.01 

Notice Accounts 8.000 19.73 8.000 15.01 

Money Market Funds 5.249 12.95 5.365 10.07 

Total managed in house 21.249  32.365  

Property Funds 10.017 24.71 11.594 21.76 

Multi Asset Funds 9.276 22.88 9.328 17.51 

Total managed externally 19.293  20.922  

Total Treasury 
Investments 

40.542 100.00 53.287 100.00 

4.4 All internally managed investments were for up to one year. 

5. THE INVESTMENT STRATEGY AND CONTROL OF INTEREST RATE RISK FOR 
2021/22 

5.1 Investment returns remained close to zero for much of 2021/22.  Most local 
authority lending managed to avoid negative rates and one feature of the year 
was the continued growth of inter local authority lending.  The expectation for 
interest rates within the treasury management strategy for 2021/22 was that Bank 
Rate would remain at 0.1% until it was clear to the Bank of England that the 
emergency level of rates introduced at the start of the Covid-19 pandemic were no 
longer necessitated. 

5.2 The Bank of England and the Government also maintained various monetary and 
fiscal measures, supplying the banking system and the economy with massive 
amounts of cheap credit so that banks could help cash-starved businesses to 
survive the various lockdowns/negative impact on their cashflow. The Government 
also supplied huge amounts of finance to local authorities to pass on to 
businesses.  This meant that for most of the year there was much more liquidity in 
financial markets than there was demand to borrow, with the consequent effect 
that investment earnings rates remained low until towards the turn of the year 
when inflation concerns indicated central banks, not just the Bank of England, 
would need to lift interest rates to combat the second-round effects of growing 
levels of inflation (CPI was 6.2% in February). 

5.3 While the Council has taken a cautious approach to investing, it is also fully 
appreciative of changes to regulatory requirements for financial institutions in 
terms of additional capital and liquidity that came about in the aftermath of the 
financial crisis. These requirements have provided a far stronger basis for 
financial institutions, with annual stress tests by regulators evidencing how 

Page 52



institutions are now far more able to cope with extreme stressed market and 
economic conditions. 

5.4 Investment balances have been kept to a minimum through the agreed strategy of 
using reserves and balances to support internal borrowing, rather than borrowing 
externally from the financial markets. External borrowing would have incurred an 
additional cost, due to the differential between borrowing and investment rates as 
illustrated in the charts shown above and below. Such an approach has also 
provided benefits in terms of reducing counterparty risk exposure, by having fewer 
investments placed in the financial markets. 

5.5 The following graph shows the London Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID - the rate at 
which banks borrow from one another) against the Bank of England Base Rate 
for 2021/22. 

 

6. BORROWING STRATEGY AND CONTROL OF INTEREST RATE RISK RATES IN 
2021/22 

6.1 During 2021/22, the Council maintained an under-borrowed position.  This meant 
that the capital borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement), was not fully 
funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and 
cash flow was used as an interim measure. This strategy was prudent as 
investment returns were very low and minimising counterparty risk on placing 
investments also needed to be considered. 

6.2 A cost of carry remained during the year on any new long-term borrowing that was 
not immediately used to finance capital expenditure, as it would have caused a 
temporary increase in cash balances; this would have incurred a revenue cost – 
the difference between (higher) borrowing costs and (lower) investment returns. 

Page 53



6.3 The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has 
served well over the last few years.  However, this was kept under review to avoid 
incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when this authority may not be able 
to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the refinancing of 
maturing debt. 

6.4 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution was 
adopted with the treasury operations. The Director (Corporate Services) therefore 
monitored interest rates in financial markets and adopted a pragmatic strategy 
based upon the following principles to manage interest rate risks. 

6.5 Interest rate forecasts expected only gradual rises in medium and longer-term 
fixed borrowing rates during 2021/22 and the two subsequent financial years until 
the turn of the year, when inflation concerns increased significantly.  Internal, 
variable, or short-term rates, were expected to be the cheaper form of borrowing 
until well in to the second half of 2021/22. 

 

 

 

6.6 PWLB rates are based on gilt (UK Government bonds) yields through 
H.M.Treasury determining a specified margin to add to gilt yields.  The main 
influences on gilt yields are Bank Rate, inflation expectations and movements in 
US treasury yields. Inflation targeting by the major central banks has been 
successful over the last 30 years in lowering inflation and the real equilibrium rate 
for central rates has fallen considerably due to the high level of borrowing by 

Link Group Interest Rate View  8.3.21

Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24

BANK RATE 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  3 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  6 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

12 month ave earnings 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20

5 yr   PWLB 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40

10 yr PWLB 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 1.90 1.90

25 yr PWLB 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50

50 yr PWLB 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30

Page 54



consumers: this means that central banks do not need to raise rates as much now 
to have a major impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc. This has pulled down 
the overall level of interest rates and bond yields in financial markets over the last 
30 years.  We have seen, over the last two years, many bond yields up to 10 
years in the Eurozone turn negative on expectations that the EU would struggle to 
get growth rates and inflation up from low levels. In addition, there has, at times, 
been an inversion of bond yields in the US whereby 10 year yields have fallen 
below shorter term yields. In the past, this has been a precursor of a recession.  
Recently, yields have risen since the turn of the year on the back of global inflation 
concerns. 

6.7 Gilt yields fell sharply from the spring of 2021 through to September and then 
spiked back up before falling again through December.  However, by January 
sentiment had well and truly changed, as markets became focussed on the 
embedded nature of inflation, spurred on by a broader opening of economies post 
the pandemic, and rising commodity and food prices resulting from the Russian 
invasion of Ukraine. 

6.8 At the close of the day on 31 March 2022, all gilt yields from 1 to 5 years were 
between 1.11% – 1.45% while the 10-year and 25-year yields were at 1.63% and 
1.84%.  Regarding PWLB borrowing rates, the various margins attributed to their 
pricing are as follows: - 

 PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps) 

 PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps) 

 PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps) 

 PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps) 

 Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps) 

 
6.9 There is likely to be a further rise in short dated gilt yields and PWLB rates over 

the next three years as Bank Rate is forecast to rise from 0.75% in March 2022 to 
1.25% later this year, with upside risk likely if the economy proves resilient in the 
light of the cost-of-living squeeze.  Medium to long dated yields are driven 
primarily by inflation concerns but the Bank of England is also embarking on a 
process of Quantitative Tightening when Bank Rate hits 1%, whereby the Bank’s 
£895bn stock of gilt and corporate bonds will be sold back into the market over 
several years.  The impact this policy will have on the market pricing of gilts, while 
issuance is markedly increasing, is an unknown at the time of writing. 

7. BORROWING OUTTURN FOR 2021-22 

7.1 Eight further loans, totalling £21.4m was drawn down during 2021-22.  The 
details can be found in the table below. 

Lender Fund Principal Type Interest 
Rate 

Maturity 

Halton Borough Council GF £5,700,000 Fixed 0.50% 26/04/24 

Oxfordshire County Council GF £2,500,000 Fixed 0.48% 26/04/24 

Oxfordshire County Council GF £1,800,000 Fixed 0.48% 26/04/24 

Oxfordshire County Council GF £2,400,000 Fixed 0.48% 26/04/24 

Page 55



Vale of White Horse Council GF £1,787,160 Fixed 0.30% 24/04/24 

HRA £1,212,840 Fixed 0.30% 24/04/24 

South Oxfordshire District 
Council 

HRA £3,000,000 Fixed 0.30% 24/04/24 

South Oxfordshire District 
Council 

HRA £3,000,000 Fixed 0.75% 31/03/23 

Total  £5,800,000    

 

7.2 The Council has not borrowed more than, or in advance of its needs, purely in 
order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. 

7.3 No rescheduling of debts was carried out during the year as the average 1% 
differential between PWLB new borrowing rates and premature repayment rates 
made rescheduling unviable. 

7.4 On 28 March 2022, a further loan the Council had taken on as a result of HRA 
self-financing matured. Loan principal totalling £7,184,000 was repaid. The 
Council has made a voluntary contribution of Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
of £4,918,121 in order to reduce the CFR accordingly, the HRA refinanced the 
balance of £2,265,879. 

8. INVESTMENT OUTTURN FOR 2021-22 

8.1 Investment Policy - the Council’s investment policy is governed by Department 
for Levelling Up Homes and Communities & Local Government (DLUHC) 
investment guidance, which has been implemented in the annual investment 
strategy approved by the Council on 23 February 2021.  This policy sets out the 
approach for choosing investment counterparties and is based on credit ratings 
provided by the three main credit rating agencies, supplemented by additional 
market data (such as rating outlooks, credit default swaps, bank share prices 
etc.). 

8.2 The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and 
the Council had no liquidity difficulties. 

8.3 Investments held by the Council – the Council maintained an average balance 
of £39.136m of internally managed funds during the year. The internally managed 
funds earned an average rate of return of 0.279%. The 3-month London 
Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID) rate which is used as the most appropriate 
comparative performance indicator was 0.171%. Despite the continued low 
investment yields offered by financial markets, the average rate of return 
exceeded by 0.108%. 

8.4 Property Funds – As at 31 March 2022 the Property Fund Net Asset Value 
(NAV) and Annual Return on Investment was as follows: 

Property Funds 31 March 
2021 NAV £ 

31 March 
2021 

ROI*1 % 

31 March 
2022 NAV £ 

31 March 
2022 ROI*1 

% 

Page 56



Lothbury 5,000,557 1.96 5,728,996 18.61 

Hermes 3,142,488 (0.29) 3,674,608 20.97 

CCLA 1,863,311 (0.67) 2,190,373 17.60 

Total 10,006,356 1.63 11,593,977 19.97 

*1 annual return on investment (based on movement in capital value from previous year and 

dividend income received in year) 

8.5 The capital growth in the Net Asset Value (NAV) of all three property funds 
coupled with the steady dividend return generated by each of the funds resulted in 
an overall annual return on investment of 19.97%.  This is a significant 
improvement on the previous year where the NAV as of 31 March 2021 was lower 
on all three funds than as at 31 March 2020, due to the impact of COVID-19. 

8.6 Appendix 2 to this report shows how the capital fund valuations have changed 
month on month since 2016 as well as the capital value of each of the Property 
Funds over the same period. 

8.7 We continue to meet with the Property Fund Managers on a regular basis to 
ensure that we are aware of the latest fund developments and future plans. 

8.8 Multi-Asset Funds – As of 31 March 2022 the value of the Council’s investment 
in the Multi Asset Funds and Annual Return on Investment was as follows: 

Multi Asset Funds 31 March 
2021 £ 

31 March 
2021 

ROI*1 % 

31 March 
2022 £ 

31 March 
2022 

ROI*1 % 

JP Morgan 5,008,591 20.91 4,944,158 (1.25) 

Jupiter 2,457,019 13.95 2,525,144 2.81 

Aberdeen 1,810,387 11.69 1,860,211 2.78 

Total 9,275,997 21.07 9,329,514 4.00 

*1 annual return on investment (based on movement in capital value from previous year and 

dividend income received in year) 

8.9 Covid-19 had a significant impact on the capital values of the Multi Asset Funds as 
at 31 March 2020 and therefore whilst the overall capital value as at 31 March 
2021 was still below the Council’s initial investment, it had risen substantially from 
the 2020 position resulting in an overall ROI of 21.07% after taking into account 
the dividend received.  Subsequent waves of Covid-19, the Russian invasion of 
Ukraine and the current difficult economic conditions have continued to affect the 
market.  Small rises in two of the fund values and a slight drop in the third, 
coupled with an overall dividend return, similar to that received in 2020/21 has 
resulted in an overall annual Return on Investment (ROI) of 4.00%. 

8.10 Appendix 3 to this report shows how the capital fund valuations have changed 
month on month since 2018 along with the capital value of each of the Multi Asset 
Fund over the same period. 

Page 57



8.11 As with the Property Funds, Officers are closely monitoring capital values and 
remain in regular contact with Fund Managers, to ensure they are aware of the 
latest developments and future plans. 

8.12 Property Acquisitions – The purchase of commercial properties and land 
acquisition is not deemed a Treasury Management investment but a Service 
Investment. However there is a direct impact upon Treasury Management on the 
basis that any such purchase reduces the level of investable cash balances. 
Treasury officers will continue to liaise closely with Legal and Property to ensure 
that cash is available at the appropriate time to facilitate the further purchase of 
commercial properties and land as set out in the 2022/23 Capital Programme. 

8.13 MiFID II – On 3 January 2018 new EU legislation came into force that impacted 
upon the Council’s treasury management activity.  MiFID II (Markets in Financial 
Instruments Directive) was aimed at increasing investor protection by creating a 
more efficient, risk-aware and transparent market for investment services and 
activities. This legislation required the FCA to treat all local authorities as Retail 
Clients but did allow local authorities to opt up to an Elective Professional Client 
status if they met certain pre-determined criteria. The Council was not obliged to 
opt up but by not doing so could have precluded the Council from dealing with 
certain institutions or funds. The Council opted up to Elective Professional Client 
status with all the institutions that required it to do so and has ensured that during 
2021/22 it has continued to comply with the requirements of the institutions to 
maintain Elective Professional Client status. 

9. UK SOVERIGNTY 

9.1 In 2020/21 the Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) was amended 
to reduce the requirement of the UK sovereign rating by one level so that Officers 
could continue to place investments with counterparties within the UK provided 
that the sovereign rating remains above A+, following downgrades by two of the 
main rating agencies.  This amendment was subsequently approved by Full 
Council. 

9.2 There has been no subsequent downgrade’s to the UK Sovereignty rating and 
therefore no further action was necessary during 2021/22, but Officers continue to 
monitor the situation closely. 

10. BACKGROUND PAPERS 

There are no background papers to this report. 
 
 

11. Appendices 

11.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

11.2 Appendix 1 – Prudential and Treasury Indicators Summary 

11.3 Appendix 2 – Property Fund Summary 

11.4 Appendix 3 – Multi Asset Fund Summary 

12. Background Documents  

12.1 There are no background documents. 

Page 58



13 

Lead Officer:  Alexandra Jarvis 

Email:  alexandra.jarvis@gravesham.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 59



14 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment The risks associated with Treasury Management and capital expenditure are 
detailed within this report 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

N/A 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder Treasury Management activities are carried out in accordance with the Treasury 
Management Strategy and Annual Investment strategy which minimises the risk of 
criminal activities.  The arrangements to ensure appropriate governance around 
capital expenditure are set out in the Capital Strategy. 

Digital and website 
implications 

N/A 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

N/A 

 

Page 60

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Prudential and Treasury Indicators Summary  Appendix 1 
 

1.  PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2020-21 2021-22 2021-22 

 Actual Revised* Actual 

 £m £m £m 

Capital Expenditure    

    Non - HRA £7.533 £24.903 £18.188 

    HRA £13.158 £19.000 £17.539 

    TOTAL £20.691 £43.903 £35.727 

     

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream (This is the 
proportion of annual debt financing costs as a percentage 
of the council’s annual budget requirement) 

   

    Non - HRA 13.44% - 14.12% 

    HRA 29.54% - 26.84% 

     

Gross borrowing requirement     

    brought forward 1 April £114.094 £174.674 £107.163 

    carried forward 31 March £107.163 £194.683 £122.073 

    in year borrowing requirement (£6.931) £20.009 £14.910 

    

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) as at 31 March (This 
is the amount of capital spending that has not been 
financed by capital receipts, capital grants of 
contributions from revenue) 

   

    

    Non – HRA £29.143 £140.147 £42.886 

    Commercial £6.300 £6.164 £6.164 

    HRA £76.792 £79.550 £76.821 

    TOTAL £112.235 £225.861 £125.871 

     

Annual change in Cap. Financing Requirement     

    Non – HRA £4.101 £17.807 £13.743 

    Commercial (£0.136) (£0.136) (£0.136) 

    HRA (£3.034) £2.758 £0.029 

    TOTAL £0.931 £6.804 £13.636 

     

Incremental impact of capital investment decisions  £   p  £   p 

    Increase in council tax (band D) per annum  * £14.33  £14.20 

    Increase in average housing rent per week £7.74  £7.44 

 
  

Page 61



2.  TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
INDICATORS  

2020/21 2021/22 2021/22 

 Actual Revised* Actual 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Authorised Limit for external debt (This is the 
maximum amount of borrowing which the council is 
permitted to undertake on a temporary basis to 
manage cash flow demands) 

   

     TOTAL £249.450 £293,860 £293,860 

     
Operational Boundary for external debt (This is the 
maximum amount of borrowing which the council is 
permitted to undertake on a day to day basis and must 
not be breached other than for temporary cash flow 
demand purposes) 

   

     TOTAL £234.450 £278,860 £278,860 

     

Actual external debt £107.163 £194.683 £122.073 

    

Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure    

     Net interest re fixed rate borrowing / investments 100 % 100 % 100 % 
     

Upper limit for variable rate exposure    

     Net interest re variable rate borrowing / investments 25 % 25 % 25 % 

     

Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 
365 days 

£20,000 £20,000 £20,000 

 
 

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing 
during 2021/22 

Lower limit Upper limit 

under 12 months  0% 50% 

12 months and within 24 months 0% 50% 

24 months and within 5 years 0% 75% 

5 years and within 10 years 0% 75% 

10 years and within 15 years 0% 100% 

15 years and within 20 years 0% 100% 

Greater than 20 years 0% 100% 

 

* The Revised 2021/22 are based on the figures included within the TMSS 22/23 prior to the 
St George’s transaction treatment being amended.  Actual figures for 2021/22 shown in the 
tables above reflect the position as at the date of reporting.  They are subject to change 
during the final accounts process. 

 

Page 62



Gravesham Borough Council Investment Portfolio

Property Funds

-£200,000.00

-£150,000.00

-£100,000.00

-£50,000.00

 £-

 £50,000.00

 £100,000.00

 £150,000.00

 £200,000.00

 £250,000.00

 £300,000.00

Jun 16 Sep 16 Dec 16 Mar 17 Jun 17 Sep 17 Dec 17 Mar 18 Jun 18 Sep 18 Dec 18 Mar 19 Jun 19 Sep 19 Dec 19 Mar 20 Jun 20 Sep 20 Dec 20 Mar 21 Jun 21 Sep 21 Dec 21 Mar 22

V
al

u
at

io
n

 (
D

e
cr

e
as

e
)/

In
cr

e
as

e

Property Fund Movement In Capital Values Month on Month 

CCLA Local
Authorities
Property Fund

Lothbury

Hermes

 £-

 £1,000,000.00

 £2,000,000.00

 £3,000,000.00

 £4,000,000.00

 £5,000,000.00

 £6,000,000.00

 £7,000,000.00

 O
p

.…

Ju
n

 1
6

Ju
l 1

6

A
u

g 
1

6

Se
p

 1
6

O
ct

 1
6

N
o

v 
1

6

D
ec

 1
6

Ja
n

 1
7

Fe
b

 1
7

M
ar

 1
7

A
p

r 
1

7

M
ay

 1
7

Ju
n

 1
7

Ju
l 1

7

A
u

g 
1

7

Se
p

 1
7

O
ct

 1
7

N
o

v 
1

7

D
ec

 1
7

Ja
n

 1
8

Fe
b

 1
8

M
ar

 1
8

A
p

r 
1

8

M
ay

 1
8

Ju
n

 1
8

Ju
l 1

8

A
u

g 
1

8

Se
p

 1
8

O
ct

 1
8

N
o

v 
1

8

D
ec

 1
8

Ja
n

 1
9

Fe
b

 1
9

M
ar

 1
9

A
p

r 
1

9

M
ay

 1
9

Ju
n

 1
9

Ju
l 1

9

A
u

g 
1

9

Se
p

 1
9

O
ct

 1
9

N
o

v 
1

9

D
ec

 1
9

Ja
n

 2
0

Fe
b

 2
0

M
ar

 2
0

A
p

r-
2

0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
n

-2
0

Ju
l-

2
0

A
u

g-
2

0

Se
p

-2
0

O
ct

-2
0

N
o

v-
2

0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n

-2
1

Fe
b

-2
1

M
ar

-2
1

A
p

r-
2

1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n

-2
1

Ju
l-

2
1

A
u

g-
2

1

Se
p

-2
1

O
ct

 2
1

N
o

v 
2

1

D
ec

 2
1

Ja
n

 2
2

Fe
b

 2
2

M
ar

 2
2

B
al

an
ce

Property Fund  Capital Values

CCLA Local
Authorities
Property Fund

Lothbury

Hermes

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council Investment Portfolio

Multi Asset Funds

-£800,000.00

-£600,000.00

-£400,000.00

-£200,000.00

 £-

 £200,000.00

 £400,000.00

M
ar

 1
8

A
p

r 
1

8

M
ay

 1
8

Ju
n

 1
8

Ju
l 1

8

A
u

g 
1

8

Se
p

 1
8

O
ct

 1
8

N
o

v 
1

8

D
ec

 1
8

Ja
n

 1
9

Fe
b

 1
9

M
ar

 1
9

A
p

r 
1

9

M
ay

 1
9

Ju
n

 1
9

Ju
l 1

9

A
u

g 
1

9

Se
p

 1
9

O
ct

 1
9

N
o

v 
1

9

D
ec

 1
9

Ja
n

 2
0

Fe
b

 2
0

M
ar

 2
0

A
p

r 
2

0

M
ay

 2
0

Ju
n

 2
0

Ju
l 2

0

A
u

g 
2

0

Se
p

 2
0

O
ct

 2
0

N
o

v 
2

0

D
ec

 2
0

Ja
n

 2
1

Fe
b

 2
1

M
ar

 2
1

A
p

r 
2

1

M
ay

 2
1

Ju
n

 2
1

Ju
l 2

1

A
u

g 
2

1

Se
p

 2
1

O
ct

 2
1

N
o

v 
2

1

D
ec

 2
1

Ja
n

 2
2

Fe
b

 2
2

M
ar

 2
2

V
al

u
at

io
n

 (
D

e
cr

e
as

e
)/

In
cr

e
as

e
Multi Asset Fund  Movement in Capital Values Month on Month

Aberdeen
Diversified Income
Fund

Jupiter Asset
Management

JP Morgan Asset
Management

 £-

 £1,000,000.00

 £2,000,000.00

 £3,000,000.00

 £4,000,000.00

 £5,000,000.00

 £6,000,000.00

B
al

an
ce

Multi Asset Fund Capital Values

Aberdeen
Diversified Income
Fund

Jupiter Asset
Management

JP Morgan Asset
Management

P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee 

Date: 19 July 2022 

Reporting officer: Lisa Nyon - Assistant Director (Corporate Services) 
 

Subject: Annual Governance Statement: 2021-22 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To seek approval from Members of the Finance and Audit Committee of the council’s Annual 
Governance Statement for the 2021-22 financial year. 
 

Recommendations: 

1. Members note the findings of the review of the council’s governance arrangements for 
2021-22. 

2. Members approve and support the Annual Governance Statement for the 2021-22 
financial year. 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 place a statutory 
requirement on local authorities to conduct a review - at least once 
a year - of the effectiveness of its governance framework and 
system of internal control and, additionally,  to prepare an AGS in 
accordance with proper practice.  Proper practice has been 
defined as that set out in ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government’, published by CIPFA/SOLACE.  The annual review 
referred to in this report and the AGS have both been prepared 
with due consideration of this proper practice, adopted via the 
council’s Code of Corporate Governance. 

Assurances are sought from the Monitoring Officer to confirm all 
legal functions have been undertaken during the financial year. 

The Monitoring Officer is also a member of the AGS Assurance 
Group and, as such, comments made by the Monitoring Officer 
have been taken into account in drafting the AGS. 
 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

There is a statutory requirement for the AGS to accompany the 
Statement of Accounts.  Therefore it is intended that the draft AGS 
is presented to the Finance & Audit Committee for approval so 
that it can ultimately be presented alongside the Statement of 
Accounts. 

Page 67 Agenda Item 8



2 

Assurances are sought from the Chief Financial Officer/Section 
151 Officer to confirm all financial functions have been undertaken 
during the financial year. 

The Chief Financial Officer/Section 151 Officer is also a member 
of the AGS Assurance Group and, as such, comments made by 
the Chief Financial Officer/Section 151 Officer have been taken 
into account in drafting the AGS.   
 

Corporate Plan Ensuring the authority has adequate governance and internal 
control arrangements in place underpins all aspects of council 
service delivery and, therefore, the council’s Corporate Plan. 
Specifically, the approval of the AGS directly contributes to the 
achievement of the following policy commitment within Corporate 
Objective #3 – Progress; 

Drive service improvement and corporate governance: a robust 
and benchmarked performance management framework, 
delivered by services underpinned with sound internal controls. 
 

Climate Change Climate change as a theme underpins the projects, initiatives and 
work involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan. As a 
strategic programme in its own right, the work delivered in 2021-
22 was a key consideration to the annual review of the council's 
governance framework - the core findings of which form the 
foundations to the authority's AGS.  

 
1. Introduction 

1.1 Gravesham Borough Council is responsible for undertaking its business in 
accordance with the law and proper standards. In doing so, it needs to ensure that 
public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, 
efficiently and effectively.  

1.2 In discharging this overall responsibility the council has established its Code of 
Corporate Governance, which sets out a commitment as to how the authority 
carries out its functions; the procedures, processes and control environment by 
which it undertakes to deliver its corporate objectives.  

1.3 Approved by Full Council and adopted into the council’s Constitution, the Code of 
Corporate Governance is designed to be consistent with the principles of the 
CIPFA/SOLACE Framework; Delivering Good Governance in Local Government. 

1.4 Assessed against the council’s adopted Code of Corporate Governance, in 
compliance with section 6 (1)(a) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, this 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS) presents the key themes and findings of an 
annual review into the effectiveness of the council’s governance framework and 
system of internal control in 2021-22.  

1.5 In its delivery, GBC has equally demonstrated its compliance with the 
requirements of section 6 (1)(b) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 in 
relation to the presentation of an AGS for the authority in 2021-22. 

1.6 Following its approval by the Finance and Audit Committee, the AGS is required 
to be signed by the most senior officer and most senior Member of the authority. 

Page 68



3 

2. Annual review of the council’s governance framework: 2021-22 

2.1 The review of the council’s governance framework and system of internal control 
for 2021-22 was conducted by the Strategic Policy Manager, in full consultation 
with the council’s AGS Assurance Group. The review was undertaken in 
accordance with the principles adopted by the council’s Code of Corporate 
Governance.   

2.2 As part of this review, assurance of the effective operation of the council’s 
governance arrangements has been sought from a number of sources. All source 
materials, including the results of the review itself, are itemised at Appendix One 
of this report and are available on request to Members of the Committee. 

2.3 In line with the council’s statutory responsibilities, the conclusion to the annual 
review process for the year ended 31 March 2022 is that the council’s governance 
arrangements are considered to be fit for purpose and in accordance with the 
authority’s governance framework, with no significant areas of concern. Full 
details of the annual review are presented at Appendix Two. 

2.4 Members are asked to note the findings of the review of the council’s governance 
arrangements for 2021-22. 

3. Annual Governance Statement: 2021-22 

3.1 The AGS for 2021-22 has therefore been prepared against the findings of the 
annual review of governance.  A copy of the statement, including a relevant suite 
of actions for consideration, is attached at Appendix Three to this report.  

3.2 Whilst no significant control issues were identified, the review did present some 
opportunities to further develop and strengthen the council’s governance 
framework and system of internal control. The plan for activity in the coming year 
is presented in section 14 of the AGS.  

3.3 Members are requested to approve and support the council’s AGS for 2021-22. 

4. Appendices 

4.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

Appendix 1: AGS 2021-22 – supporting evidence 
Appendix 2: Annual Review of Governance 2021-22 
Appendix 3: AGS 2021-22 
 

5. Background papers 

5.1 All background papers and relevant source materials are itemised at Appendix 
One of this report and are available on request to Members of the Committee. 
 

Lead Officer:  
 
Email:  

Lisa Nyon - Assistant Director (Corporate Services)  
 
lisa.nyon@gravesham.gov.uk 

 
  

 

Page 69

mailto:lisa.nyon@gravesham.gov.uk


4 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment Failure to approve the AGS could expose the authority to the risk of receiving a 
qualified opinion on the Statement of Accounts. 

The purpose of the governance review is to identify any potential areas of 
weakness or areas of further improvement, in order to minimise the risk facing the 
council.  Failure to take action in relation to the issues identified within the AGS 
could have a negative effect on the continuous development of the council’s 
governance framework. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No. 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder The AGS reviews all governance and control arrangements in place throughout the 
authority.  Whilst there are no direct implications in relation to Crime and Disorder, 
good governance makes a positive contribution to Community Safety in its broadest 
sense. 

Digital and website 
implications 

In terms of the council's governance arrangements, the council's digital services 
provide a key role in publishing a number of core documents and datasets. On 
approval, the AGS specifically will be published to the council’s website to finalise 
the annual process.  

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

The AGS reviews all governance and control arrangements in place throughout the 
authority.  Whilst there are no direct implications from this report in relation to 
safeguarding children and vulnerable adults, the governance review has 
established the benefits of considering the safeguarding agenda in all core 
corporate decisions.  

 

Page 70

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Appendix One 

Annual Governance Statement 2021-22: supporting evidence 

The list below details the guidance documents and source material used to inform the 
production of the council’s AGS 2021-22.  

All material is available to Members of the Finance & Audit committee on request. 

1. External codes of practice

Document Details 

  CIPFA: Delivering Good 
  Governance Framework 

  defines the principles that should underpin the governance of each 
  local government organisation and provides a structure to help 
  individual authorities with their approach. 

  CIPFA: Application of the Good 
  Governance Framework 
  2020/21 

 covers the impact of the continuing COVID-19 pandemic on 
  governance in local government bodies and the requirements of the 
  Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework. 

CIPFA: The Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer in Local 
Government 

sets out how the requirements of legislation and professional 
standards should be fulfilled by local government CFOs in the 
carrying out of their role. 

  CIPFA: Statement on the Role 
  of the Head of Internal Audit in 
  Public Service Organisations 

  defines the role of the head of internal audit in public services to help 
  ensure organisations engage with and support the role effectively. 

  CIPFA: Financial Management 
  Code 

provides guidance for good and sustainable financial 
management in local authorities. 

  CIPFA: Treasury Management 
  in the Public Services - Code of 
  Practice 

  developed to meet the needs of local authorities in order to provide a 
  clear definition of treasury management activities. 

Page 71

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/f/financial-management-code
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/f/financial-management-code


2. Annual review of the corporate governance framework and system of internal control

Document Details 

Code of Corporate Governance 

the cornerstone to the council’s governance framework, 
the code establishes a commitment as to how the council 
will carry out its functions and the procedures and 
processes by which it will deliver its adopted Corporate 
Objectives.  

Annual review of the corporate 
governance framework and system 
of internal control 

conducted by the council’s AGS Assurance Group against the 
adopted Code of Corporate Governance. 

3. Sources of assurance

Document Details 

  Assurance Statements 

prepared across a series of governance criteria to identify any 
control weaknesses, statements presented by: 

- Chief Executive
- Directors
- Assistant Directors and other council managers
- Chief Financial Officer (s151 officer)
- Head of Internal Audit
- Monitoring Officer

  External audit / inspection reports Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman: Annual Review 2020-21. 

  Chief Audit Executive Opinion annual opinion on the system of internal control prepared 
by                     Chief Audit Executive. 

Page 72



Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22                                                                     Appendix Two 

1 | P a g e

Core Principle A: Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

A1: 
Behaving with 

integrity 

• Ensuring members and officers
behave with integrity and lead a
culture where acting in the public
interest is visibly and consistently
demonstrated thereby protecting
the reputation of the
organisation.

• Ensuring members take the lead
in establishing specific standard
operating principles or values for
the organisation and its staff and
that they are communicated and
understood. These should build
on the Seven Principles of Public
Life (the Nolan Principles).

• Leading by example and using
the above standard operating
principles or values as a
framework for decision making
and other actions.

• Demonstrating, communicating
and embedding the standard
operating principles or values
through appropriate policies and
processes which are reviewed on
a regular basis to ensure that
they are operating effectively.

To effectively communicate the council’s vision and principles, the Corporate Plan is distributed 
via the council’s website, supported with quarterly updates of key activities and service 
performance published via Your Borough.  

A Code of Conduct for Employees is in place and is communicated to all officers as part of the 
authority’s New Starter process on commencement of their role, with Managers ensuring those 
without system access are aware of and have signed up to all relevant policies of the council.  

The council has a Standards Committee in place, which includes an appointed Independent 
Person. The Committee is underpinned by an adopted Member Code of Conduct which has 
been reviewed and considered fit for purpose. The existing Code sets out expected standards 
of behaviour. In view of these standards, the council’s website provides details of the Corporate 
Complaints Procedure and directs any persons with a complaint regarding a Councillor to the 
council’s Monitoring Officer.  

The council’s Corporate Customer Service Charter establishes standards expected of officers. 
It also identifies how the council will address reports of service failures and complaints from 
members of the public. The council’s website hosts specific details of the Corporate Complaints 
Procedure alongside details of the Local Government Ombudsman, with feedback used to 
share improvement and good practice across departments.  

The Local Government Ombudsman’s annual report was considered by the Finance and Audit 
Committee in 2021-22. The report was supplemented with details of a refined complaints 
procedure for the authority, which has been redesigned to reflect a 2-stage process in line with 
adopted industry best practice (Housing Ombudsman recommendation).  

The council’s Register of Interests applies to both officers and Members and requires that 
declarations must be made for any item in which they may have, or may be perceived to have, 
an interest that may influence their decision-making ability. Any Disclosure of Pecuniary 
Interests by Members are reviewed and countersigned by the council’s Monitoring Officer. The 
council also has in place a Gifts and Hospitality register which is updated and distributed.  

In March 2021, Cabinet approved a new Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy for the 
authority. Working alongside the council’s Anti-Money Laundering Policy and Whistleblowing 
Policy, the documents are collectively designed to develop an effective working environment 
that supports its zero-tolerance approach towards fraud, bribery, and corrupt activity. To 
communicate the council’s commitment, all are published to the council’s website.    

P
age 73

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/footer/contact-us/make-a-complaint/overview
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/footer/contact-us/make-a-complaint/overview
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4698&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4698&Ver=4
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies?result_235247_result_page=C
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/policies
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/policies
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/policies


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

2 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

A2:  
Demonstrating 

strong 
commitment to 
ethical values 

 
 

• Seeking to establish, monitor and 
maintain the organisation’s 
ethical standards and 
performance.  
 

• Underpinning personal behaviour 
with ethical values and ensuring 
they permeate all aspects of the 
organisation’s operational culture 
and operation.  
 

• Developing and maintaining 
robust policies and procedures 
which place emphasis on agreed 
ethical values.  
 

• Ensuring that external providers 
of services on behalf of the 
organisation are required to act 
with integrity and in compliance 
with ethical standards expected 
by the organisation. 
 

Throughout 2021-22 all committee reports have been drafted and decisions made with explicit 
consideration of professional advice relating to; financial implications, delivery of the Corporate 
Plan objectives and, equally, a series of ethical considerations; legal and data protection 
implications, climate change, Section 17 of the Crime & Disorder Act, Section 11 of the Children 
Act 2004 and Section 43 of the Care Act 2014 (Safeguarding) and Equalities Act provisions.  

In January 2021, Cabinet agreed a new training programme for Members, including 
Communication and Social Media training aimed at identifying the appropriate ethical values 
and behaviour expected of Councillors in fulfilling their roles when engaging residents (see B3). 
In addition, a series of wider ethical awareness training sessions were delivered in 2021-22, 
including: Licensing; Treasury Management and Planning (E1). Training planned for 2022-23 
includes Member roles and responsibilities, involving declarations of interest and confidentiality. 

At an officer level, the council has built the requirement for the promotion of ethical standards 
into its performance and retention processes. The council’s recruitment policy and job 
description material make clear the importance of adhering to expected ethical standards. 
Equally, the appraisal process sets out a requirement for managers to evidence their 
compliance with the equality agenda, further embedding this within the culture of the authority.  

The council has an effective Corporate Procurement Strategy that acts as the foundation on 
which the authority’s approach to procurement is based. Related to this, the council’s contract 
process terms and conditions emphasise the requirement for providers to deliver contracted 
services on behalf of the council in line with ethical standards as determined by legislation. In 
order to reflect changes in this agenda brought about by the UK leaving the EU, as well as 
better embracing climate change and sustainability in our procurement activity, alongside our 
commitment to supporting local businesses in recovering from the pandemic, the Strategy, and 
associated Contract Procedure Rules, will be revised in 2022-23 (see A3).  

The council has in place a robust Working in Partnership Framework which is the central point 
of reference in developing new partnerships, linking the formation of new partnership working 
opportunities to the delivery of the council’s Corporate Plan objectives. The framework outlines 
a procedure for managing partnerships and includes a pledge in ‘Maintaining Ethical 
Standards’. This sets out expectations of Members, officers, and partners in terms of working in 
partnership and specifically a commitment to “maintaining high ethical standards in the conduct 
of the partnership’s business, including the promotion of equality and respect for all sections of 
the community”.  A revised Framework was agreed by Full Council in 2021-22 and adopted into 
the council’s Policy Framework (see B2). 

P
age 74

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=4421&Ver=4
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies
http://gbcstaff/intranet/document-store/documents/?mdocs-cat=mdocuments


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

3 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

A3:  
Respecting the 

rule of law 

 
• Ensuring members and staff 

demonstrate a strong 
commitment to the rule of the law 
as well as adhering to relevant 
laws and regulations.  
 

• Creating the conditions to ensure 
that the statutory officers, other 
key post holders, and members, 
are able to fulfil their 
responsibilities in accordance 
with legislative and regulatory 
requirements.  

 

The council’s Constitution sets out the roles and responsibilities of the Executive and all elected 
Members. The Constitution is periodically reviewed, updated and re-issued to ensure that it 
remains up to date and reflective of the council's governance structure. In 2021-22, updates to 
the Constitution included a revised Working in Partnership Framework being adopted into the 
Policy Framework. This was a direct result of a full review that had been undertaken into the 
framework which proposed a number of amendments to key governance controls including; 
revising the financial threshold for a significant partnership to £50,000 and ensuring the 
council’s revised equalities objectives and climate change commitment form key considerations 
in the evaluation of any partnership arrangement. The revised Framework was ultimately 
agreed by Full Council in 2021-22 (see B2).  
The Constitution’s scheme of delegation (Annex 1) was also considered and subsequently re-
affirmed at Annual Council in May 2021 (see E2). 
 
The council’s Constitution also established formal roles and responsibilities of officers. Annex 1 
(Section 1.12 – Proper Officers & Section 1.13 - Functions delegated to officers of the council) 
sets out the responsibilities of the following: 

• Chief Executive: a full-time appointment who is also the Head of Paid Service. The Chief 
Executive Officer has completed a specific assurance statement to demonstrate how their 
role has effectively been executed during 2021-22.  

• Section 151 Officer: the Section 151 officer is the Director (Corporate Services) and the 
Deputy Section 151 Officer is the Assistant Director (Corporate Services). The Section 151 
Officer has completed a specific ‘Chief Financial Officer’ assurance statement which sets 
out how the council has complied with the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer in Local Government in 2021-22, as well as how the council has met its 
Section 151 obligations as outlined within the Constitution.  

• Monitoring Officer: The Monitoring Officer has completed a specific assurance statement 
to demonstrate how their role has properly been discharged during 2021-22. The role is 
undertaken by the Chief Legal Officer for Medway Council under the terms of the shared 
Legal Service between the authorities. Full Council approved the appointment of a new 
officer to the post in 2021-22.    

 

 

P
age 75

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/constitution
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-in-local-government
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-in-local-government
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=4620&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

4 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

A3:  
Respecting the 

rule of law 

[cont.] 

• Striving to optimise the use of the 
full powers available for the 
benefit of citizens, communities 
and other stakeholders.  
 

• Dealing with breaches of legal 
and regulatory provisions 
effectively.  

 
• Ensuring corruption and misuse 

of power are dealt with 
effectively.  
 

The Chief Executive, and the Section 151 officer are permanent members of the council’s 
Management Team, with the Monitoring Officer, or Deputy Monitoring Officer, also in 
attendance during 2021-22. Through these positions they are able to provide effective and 
appropriate financial and legal advice - in line with statutory requirements - in all decisions 
taken by the council’s Management.   

POTENTIAL ACTION: Central to the governance control environment, the Constitution ensures 
effective leadership throughout the authority, outlining the core executive and non-executive 
functions and the legal roles and responsibilities of the council. In order to ensure it remains up 
to date in regards to legal expectations and accurately reflective of the council's governance 
structure, completion of the next phase of the scheduled review of the Constitution will form an 
AGS recommendation for 2022-23, inclusive of key activities such as the implementation of 
revised Contract Procedure Rules (see A2). 

Complimenting constituted arrangements, the council’s transparency webpages include specific 
information relating to the council’s Corporate Management Team (CMT). Published in line with 
the expectations of the Local Government Transparency Code 2015, the information presents a 
clear outline of the roles and responsibilities of the council’s Chief Executive, Directors and 
Service Managers, supported by information relating to salary provision (see B1). 

To provide a framework to the reporting and response involved in dealing with a misuse of 
power, in March 2021 Cabinet approved a new Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy for the 
authority. Working alongside the council’s Anti-Money Laundering Policy and Whistleblowing 
Policy, the documents are collectively designed to develop an effective working environment 
that supports its zero-tolerance approach towards fraud, bribery, and corrupt activity. To 
communicate the council’s commitment, all three documents are published to the website.    

 

P
age 76

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/senior-staff-salaries-and-organisation-chart
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies?result_235247_result_page=C
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/policies
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/policies
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/policies


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

5 | P a g e  
 

 
Core Principle B: Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

B1:  
Openness 

• Ensuring an open culture through 
demonstrating, documenting and 
communicating the 
organisation’s commitment to 
openness.  

 
• Making decisions that are open 

about actions, plans, resource 
use, forecasts, outputs and 
outcomes. The presumption is for 
openness. If that is not the case, 
a justification for the reasoning 
for keeping a decision 
confidential should be provided.  
 

• Providing clear reasoning and 
evidence for decisions in both 
public records and explanations 
to stakeholders and being explicit 
about the criteria, rationale and 
considerations used. In due 
course, ensuring that the impact 
and consequences of those 
decisions are clear.  
 

• Using formal and informal 
consultation and engagement to 
determine the most appropriate 
and effective interventions/ 
courses of action.  

The council’s website forms a key tool in delivering the authority’s commitment to openness 
and transparency in how it conducts its business. The website is set out in a clear and easily 
accessible way, using infographics and plain language. Information residents use most, such as 
Council Tax, and Waste and Recycling can be accessed quickly and easily from the main page.  
 
To effectively communicate the council’s vision and principles, the Corporate Plan is made 
available via the council’s website. On a quarterly basis formal reports are presented to the 
appropriate Cabinet Committee enabling scrutiny in the performance of the council’s key 
frontline services, supported by quarterly publications of key activities and performance via 
Your Borough. Completing the reporting cycle, the council also reports year-end outturns for the 
Performance Management Framework (PMF) in its Annual Performance Report. 

In addition, the council continues to be committed to the government’s transparency agenda.  A 
specific section of the council’s website has been created in order to enable the publication of a 
number of key data sets and formal reports including: 

• Senior Staff Salaries & Organisation chart; 
• Procurement and contracts data;  
• Civic Budget Book and Financial Statements; and  
• Member Allowances. 

The council’s Constitution sets out the rules and protocols associated with decision making at 
an executive level, including those classified as ‘key decisions’. In preparing reports for a 
decision, all have been drafted with explicit consideration of professional advice relating to; 
financial implications, delivery of the Corporate Plan objectives and, equally, a series of ethical 
considerations; legal impact, data protection, Section 17 of the Crime & Disorder Act, Section 
11 of the Children Act 2004 and Section 43 of the Care Act 2014 (Safeguarding) and Equalities 
Act provisions. All decisions are captured within the minutes of a committee meeting and are 
published, along with any key decisions, to the Committee section of the website.  

In determining policy direction, the council considers not only the needs of local residents but 
actively consults to identify local service demand. The council’s arrangements for community 
consultation and how these feed into local policy development is set out in this review 
document at B3: Engaging with individual citizens and service users effectively.  
 

P
age 77

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/annual-performance-report
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/constitution
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/councillors-and-meetings/committees


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

6 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

B2:  
Engaging 

comprehensively 
with institutional 

stakeholders 
 

• Effectively engaging with 
institutional stakeholders to 
ensure that the purpose, 
objectives and intended 
outcomes for each stakeholder 
relationship are clear so that 
outcomes are achieved 
successfully and sustainably.  

 
• Developing formal and informal 

partnerships to allow for 
resources to be used more 
efficiently and outcomes 
achieved more effectively. 
  

 

The council has in place a clear statement of the organisation’s purpose and its vision for the 
borough which underpin the authority’s approach to stakeholder engagement.   

The council’s adopted Local Plan sets out the strategic vision for the development of the 
borough to 2028 across; housing needs, commercial, public and private development, including 
transport infrastructure, along with protection for the local environment (see C1). 

To work towards this vision and ultimately deliver relevant outcomes for local residents, the 
council’s Corporate Plan 2019-23 sets out three clear strategic objectives, each supported by a 
series of policy commitments:  

• People;  
• Place; and 
• Progress. 

 
In developing the new plan, the council undertook a 12-week public consultation that saw over 
800 Gravesham residents, businesses and community groups provide over 2,500 individual 
pieces of information and intelligence relating to requests for council provision and priority 
intervention. The exercise also enabled participants the opportunity to rank each of the 
council’s key services in terms of their individual level of perceived importance. The information 
obtained from this process was collated and analysed and acted as a sound baseline 
throughout the development of the policy commitments that form the foundation of the 
Corporate Plan.  

The work delivered against these objectives is measured both by qualitative and quantitate 
analysis, with quarterly updates of the council’s key activities and service performance 
published via Your Borough and the council’s website. 

POTENTIAL ACTION: An essential component in the council’s governance framework, the 
Corporate Plan sets the tone and direction of travel for the authority over a four-year 
administration period. In advance of the local elections in 2023, to ensure the council’s next 
Corporate Plan is designed in full consideration of the community’s needs and expectations of 
the authority and its core services, the delivery of a full 12-week consultation process will form 
an AGS recommendation for 2022-23. 

The council has in place a robust Working in Partnership Framework which is the central point 
of reference in developing new partnerships, linking the formation of new partnership working 
opportunities to the delivery of the council’s Corporate Plan objectives.  

P
age 78

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/overview
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=2965&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

7 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

B2:  
Engaging 

comprehensively 
with institutional 

stakeholders 
[cont.] 

 

• Ensuring that partnerships are 
based on:  

o Trust;  
o a shared commitment to 

change;  
o a culture that promotes 

and accepts challenge 
among partners; and 

o that the added value of 
partnership working is 
explicit. 

 

A review of the framework was undertaken in 2020-21 to account for the inclusion of a number 
of key governance controls including; revising the financial threshold for a significant 
partnership to £50,000 and ensuring the council’s revised equalities objectives and climate 
change commitment form key considerations in the evaluation of any partnership arrangement. 
The revised Framework was ultimately agreed by Full Council in 2021-22 and adopted into the 
council’s Policy Framework (see A2). 

The practical governance of the council’s partnership working arrangements, including those of 
the council’s established shared services, are reviewed on an annual basis to ensure they are 
robust and maintain the same commitment towards the adopted corporate objectives. 
Collectively these arrangements form the Corporate Register of Partnerships.  

Outside of those formal established partnerships, in 2021-22 the council undertook a review of 
its support for local community groups and stakeholders. Following an evaluation of the 
emerging needs across Gravesham and considering the council’s position as recovery from the 
pandemic evolves, the review established a suite of new priorities for determining funding:  

• Providing support to the voluntary and community sector in Gravesham to including 
partnership working and collaboration; 

• Provide services that are open to all local residents in need in our community; and 
• Organisations that help the council deliver its Community Engagement and Equalities 

priorities. 
As a result of the review, a list was compiled of those organisations who it was felt the council 
should extend its support through a 12-month funded Service Level Agreement. The awarded 
SLAs are to be reviewed at the end of the period to ensure that the council can consider any 
changes in need and demand, but also to ensure a process where all community organisations 
can be equally considered for support. This new approach to local community groups was 
endorsed by the Community and Leisure Committee. 

B3:  
Engaging with 

individual citizens 
and service users 

effectively 
 
 

 
• Establishing a clear policy on the 

type of issues that the 
organisation will meaningfully 
consult with or involve 
communities, citizens, service 
users and other stakeholders to 
ensure that service provision is 
contributing to the achievement 
of intended outcomes.  

 

In 2021, the council adopted a new Community Engagement Strategy which sets out four core 
objectives as the framework for developing community engagement activity:  

• Being a listening council; 
• Empowering residents and communities; 
• Supporting community organisations; and 
• Building cohesive communities. 

 
 
 

P
age 79

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/registers
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=441&MId=4441&Ver=4
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0010/1196659/Community-Engagement-Strategy-final-web.pdf


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

8 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

B3:  
Engaging with 

individual citizens 
and service users 

effectively 
[cont.] 

 

• Ensuring that communication 
methods are effective and that 
members and officers are clear 
about their roles in engagement.  
 

• Encouraging, collecting and 
evaluating the views and 
experiences of communities, 
citizens, service users and 
organisations of different 
backgrounds including reference 
to future needs.  

 
• Implementing effective feedback 

mechanisms in order to 
demonstrate how views have 
been taken into account. 

 
• Balancing feedback from more 

active stakeholder groups with 
other stakeholder groups to 
ensure inclusivity.  

 
• Taking account of the impact of 

decisions on future generations 
of tax payers and service users. 

To practically deliver effective engagement opportunities with local residents, the council has a 
number of diverse community-based initiatives.  
For example, the council has an established suite of engagement forums to enable local 
residents’ effective, informed and timely opportunities to help shape council policy and, equally, 
to enable the council to communicate key announcements and policy decisions. Established 
community forums include: 

o Gifted Young Generation (formerly Gifted Young Gravesham); 
o Gravesham Youth Council; and 
o Gravesham Business Network. 

 
Alongside the engagement opportunities presented through its established forums, the council 
provide various consultation opportunities through its website enabling the community to help 
shape service provision. In 2021-22 formal consultations included: 

o Boundary Commission (electoral ward review);  
o Business Ratepayers Budget 2022-23; 
o Hackney Carriage Private Hire Licensing Policy 2021-26; and 
o Community Safety. 

 
To promote transparency and wider engagement with council decisions, residents can use 
digital platforms such as; Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and YouTube to get updates from, and 
interact with, the authority. In order to counter the social restrictions imposed by Covid-19, and 
under the provisions of the Coronavirus Act 2020, this functionality meant that in the early part 
of 2021-22 residents were able to remotely access Council meetings and therefore continue to 
partake in local decision making.     
 
The role of Members in promoting consultation and responding to public feedback is crucial, 
with the Constitution setting out the importance of Members as ‘Community Representatives’. 
The Constitution also presents guidelines for public petitions in terms of their administration and 
how the council would respond, including Full Council debate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 80

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/community-and-leisure/youth-council/overview
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/business/business-support/b2b,-networking-and-promotion/gravesham-business-network
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/have-your-say/consultations
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/constitution


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

9 | P a g e  
 

Core Principle C: Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and environmental benefits. 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

C1:  
Defining 

outcomes 

 
 
 

• Having a clear vision which is an 
agreed formal statement of the 
organisation’s purpose and 
intended outcomes, containing 
appropriate performance 
indicators, which provide the 
basis for the organisation’s 
overall strategy, planning and 
other decisions.  

 
• Specifying the intended impact 

on, or changes for, stakeholders 
including citizens and service 
users. It could be immediately or 
over the course of a year or 
longer. 
 

• Delivering defined outcomes on 
a sustainable basis within the 
resources that will be available. 

 
• Identifying and managing risks to 

the achievement of outcomes.  
 

• Managing service users’ 
expectations effectively with 
regard to determining priorities 
and making the best use of the 
resources available.  
 

The council has in place a clear statement of the organisation’s purpose and its vision for the 
borough.  The council’s adopted Local Plan sets out the strategic vision for the development of 
the borough to 2028 across; housing needs, commercial, public and private development, 
including transport infrastructure, along with protection for the local environment. Underpinning 
the ongoing delivery of the Local Plan as a framework is the council’s Local Development 
Scheme. Work towards the key milestones within the scheme is monitored by the established 
Local Plan Management Board, supported by a suite of key controls e.g. project plan and risk 
assessment that are regularly reported through to the CMT and Lead Member. To work towards 
the Local Plan vision and ultimately deliver relevant outcomes for local residents, in October 
2019 Council adopted a new Corporate Plan 2019-23. The plan established three clear 
strategic objectives each supported by a series of policy commitments.  

To communicate the council’s Corporate Plan, the document is made available via the council’s 
website, complimented internally with a ‘lite’ or summary version being made available to all 
staff. This is supported by quarterly publications of the council’s key activities and service 
performance via Your Borough. Completing the reporting cycle, the council also reports details 
of the year-end outturns for the PMF in its Annual Performance Report. Qualitative and 
quantitate performance reporting gives Members and service users access to timely and 
accurate information about service delivery, supporting intervention to address any barriers to 
good performance. In delivering the new Corporate Plan, the council also adopted a PMF 
focussed on representing all service areas within the authority and specifically designed to 
introduce performance indicators for each adopted policy commitment. To help facilitate 
delivery of the Corporate Plan, in 2020-21 a Corporate Delivery Plan was established. Drawing 
together the key projects and initiatives of service business plans and other governance 
sources, the material is presented against the council’s Corporate Plan commitments to chart 
their respective delivery. The document forms the basis of senior management 1-1 activity, for 
which a new specific template has also been designed, including details of any relevant 
Management Team or Committee actions that are outstanding. 

More broadly, the council’s annual business planning process specifically links in the activities 
of the individual departments, and ultimately those of individual officers, with the corporate 
objectives of the council providing a ‘golden thread’; an understanding of how each officer 
contributes to the delivery of the council’s vision. A key element to the process is the ability to 
define clear performance indicators for individual service objectives, coupled with a specific risk 
assessment to identify potential risks to services achieving objectives and mitigating actions 
(see F1). 

P
age 81

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/overview
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/local-development-scheme
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building/local-plan/local-development-scheme
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/annual-performance-report


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

10 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

C1:  
Defining 

outcomes 

[cont.] 

 

 

COMPLETE: As a result of the significant impact presented by Covid-19 upon council 
resources, the business planning process for 2021-22 was postponed. The reinstatement of a 
timely and comprehensive business planning programme, specifically run-in conjunction with 
the annual budget setting process, represents an important component of the council's internal 
control environment, and, as such, this formed a key recommendation of the AGS 2020-21. 
Activities to deliver the 2022-23 business planning process were successfully established and 
completed in 2021-22, with reporting to CMT set to commence in early 2022-23. 

C2:  
Sustainable 

economic, social 
and 

environmental 
benefits 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
• Considering and balancing the 

combined economic, social and 
environmental impact of policies 
and plans when taking decisions 
about service provision. 
 

• Taking a longer-term view with 
regard to decision making, taking 
account of risk and acting 
transparently where there are 
potential conflicts between the 
organisation’s intended 
outcomes and short-term factors 
such as the political cycle or 
financial constraints. 

 
 

 
 

 

In order to enable Members to have the knowledge base with which to carry out effective 
decision making and scrutiny, an annual training and development plan is delivered. This 
approach was especially important in 2019-20 given the large number of new Members to the 
council following the 2019 local elections. A mixture of statutory, formal and awareness/ 
educational sessions, the comprehensive programme is tailored to meet all needs (see E2). 
 
In 2021-22, the council introduced a new five-year Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
spanning 2022-23 to 2026-27. In detailing the emerging budget gap that the council is now 
facing on its General Fund Services, the Strategy identifies a package of proactive measures 
intended to restore financial sustainability in the medium term. The core principles underlying 
the MTFS are presented at D2: Planning interventions. 
 
As part of its plans to diversify its income stream and ultimately address the continued 
uncertainty surrounding local government funding, the council has established a Local Authority 
Trading Company (Rosherville Limited), with subsidiaries Rosherville Servicing and Rosherville 
Property Development Limited subsequently formed in 2020-21 and the council approving the 
formation of Rosherville Repairs & Maintenance in March 2022. These new trading 
arrangements enable the council to provide commercial services to the public and local 
businesses. Profits from these activities will help fund and sustain essential frontline services 
whilst equally providing tangible social value e.g. local employment opportunities.   
 
POTENTIAL ACTION: With a view to enhancing the governance environment of Rosherville 
Limited, consideration of the overall governance framework for the company, including the 
appointment of non-executive Director/s to the Rosherville Board, will form an AGS 
recommendation for the council in 2022-23 as primary shareholder. As an exercise endorsed 
by a recent Internal Audit, with Rosherville Repairs & Maintenance due to launch in Spring 
2022 and to begin taking on contracts soon afterwards, it is considered that the review will be 
completed by the council as shareholder in the Autumn 2022, with subsequent actions, subject 
to approval of any changes to the framework by Full Council, being completed by the end of 
March 2023. 

P
age 82

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/financial-strategy


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

11 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

C2:  
Sustainable 

economic, social 
and 

environmental 
benefits 
[cont.] 

 

 
• Determining the wider public 

interest associated with 
balancing conflicting interests 
between achieving the various 
economic, social and 
environmental benefits, through 
consultation where possible, in 
order to ensure appropriate 
trade-offs.  

 
• Ensuring fair access to services.  
 

 
In preparing reports for a decision, in 2021-22 each has been drafted with explicit consideration 
of the combined economic, social and environmental impact the decision will present the 
borough. For example, in 2021 Council adopted a new Equality Policy into the authority’s policy 
framework, complete with the statutory requirement for a suite of equality objectives to be 
worked towards in the coming 4-year period. Throughout 2021, when undertaking decisions 
professional advice relating to the advancement of the Equalities agenda, alongside Equality 
Impact Assessments as required, has ensured the potential benefits a decision may bring are 
fully considered in line with the council’s commitment to tackling discrimination, providing 
equality of opportunity for all and, more broadly, “developing a cohesive and resilient 
community”.   
 
In order to ensure fair access to services, the council has in place a Customer Service and 
Access Strategy. The strategy, complimented by the Accessibility for All procedure, provides a 
commitment for the council to; “work with our community and service users to understand the 
longer-term vision and aims for how services will be accessed and will ensure improvements 
through mechanisms such as the website and contact centre.” 
 
POTENTIAL ACTION: In order to effectively plan council service resources, it is essential the 
authority is fully informed and considered in regards to community intelligence. Given the 
already existing socio-economic challenges facing the borough and the financial position facing 
the authority as identified in the MTFS, a review or position statement of the ‘cost of living crisis’ 
will form an AGS recommendation for 2022-23. The review will consider both potential 
interventions in direct response and the future planning for preparedness relating to the 
ongoing effect of the economic challenge ahead.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 83

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=4415&Ver=4
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

12 | P a g e  
 

Core Principle D: Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcomes 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 
D1:  

Determining 
interventions 

 

 
 

 
• Ensuring decision makers 

receive objective and rigorous 
analysis of a variety of options 
indicating how intended 
outcomes would be achieved 
and associated risks. Therefore 
ensuring best value is achieved 
however services are provided. 
 

• Considering feedback from 
citizens and service users when 
making decisions about service 
improvements or where services 
are no longer required in order to 
prioritise competing demands 
within limited resources available 
including people, skills, land and 
assets and bearing in mind future 
impacts.  

 
 

 
Decision makers receive accurate, relevant and timely performance and intelligence to support 
them with objective and rigorous analysis of options covering intended outcomes, financial 
impact and associated risks in order to inform efficient service delivery. This can take the form 
of regular performance reporting, or bespoke reports. As an example, performance reporting 
gives Members and service users access to timely and accurate information about service 
delivery, supporting intervention to address any barriers to good performance and equally 
ensures value for money is a key consideration of any decision taken by the council.  
 
The process of decision making and delegation to officers is detailed in the Constitution, with 
details of which decisions are to be administered in this way included in the Scheme of 
Delegation (see E2). 
 
Decisions by committees are recorded through committee minutes and are published on the 
council’s website. This is complimented by the publication of key decisions as determined. 
In determining policy direction, the council considers not only the needs of local residents and 
service users but actively consults to identify local service demand. In 2021-22 a series of 
formal consultations were undertaken that were fully considered as part of the end policy 
decisions (see B3). 

 

D2:  
Planning 

interventions 

 

 
• Establishing and implementing 

robust planning and control 
cycles that cover strategic and 
operational plans, priorities and 
targets. 
  

• Engaging with internal and 
external stakeholders in 
determining how services and 
other courses of action should be 
planned and delivered. 

 
An effective PMF is vital to the success of any organisation in delivering consistently high 
quality services to local residents. The Corporate Plan, designed in consideration of community 
need and consultation, presented a new PMF allowing the council to evaluate if it is effectively 
achieving against the stated corporate objectives. For residents it provides genuine 
accountability in how successfully the council is administering its resources.  
 
The Cabinet drives the successful implementation of the Corporate Plan, with responsibility for 
working with, and holding council officers to account, in the delivery of the three adopted 
strategic objectives. The council recognises that it cannot achieve its vision for the borough on 
its own and is increasingly working with partners to achieve these objectives. 

P
age 84

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/constitution
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/councillors-and-meetings/committees


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

13 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

D2:  
Planning 

interventions 

[cont.] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

• Considering and monitoring risks 
facing each partner when 
working collaboratively, including 
shared risks. 
  

• Ensuring arrangements are 
flexible and agile so that the 
mechanisms for delivering goods 
and services can be adapted to 
changing circumstances. 
  

• Establishing appropriate key 
performance indicators (KPIs) as 
part of the planning process in 
order to identify how the 
performance of services and 
projects is to be measured. 
  

• Ensuring capacity exists to 
generate information required to 
review service quality regularly. 
  

• Preparing budgets in accordance 
with objectives, strategies and 
the medium term financial plan. 
 

• Informing medium and long term 
resource planning by drawing up 
realistic estimates of revenue 
and capital expenditure aimed at 
developing a sustainable funding 
strategy. 
 

Formal performance reporting takes place at different times and to different audiences in order 
to ensure fully informed decision making: 

• Quarterly: Performance reports of all tiers of indicators to CMT. Subsequently reported 
to Cabinet and individual Cabinet Committees for consideration and scrutiny prior to 
publishing on the council’s digital services and Your Borough. 

• Yearly: Annual Performance Report against all performance indicators, including an 
outline of all relevant achievements directly contributing to the council’s corporate 
objectives, published to the council’s transparency webpage. 

Timely and accurate reporting of qualitative and quantitate analysis enables early intervention 
strategies to be implemented in areas of poor performance or increased risk to service delivery.  

In order to embed performance benchmarking activity, all indicators, wherever possible, are 
compared to other authorities enabling the council to better understand its own levels of 
performance and where any good practice can be identified to feed into the next year’s 
business planning process.  

More broadly, the council’s business planning process specifically links in the activities of the 
individual departments, and ultimately those of individual officers, with the corporate objectives 
of the council providing a ‘golden thread’; an understanding of how each officer contributes to 
the delivery of the council’s vision. Each business plan also puts in place service level (or 
management) indicators to monitor the delivery of priorities at an operational level that fall 
outside the corporate reporting process.  Business Plans are monitored in-year with 
management indicators reported quarterly to the CMT in order to identify relevant intervention. 
 
Underpinning all plans and partnerships is the council’s commitment to sound financial 
planning. The council operates within a strict financial and regulatory environment. The 
council’s financial planning arrangements ensure that finances remain sustainable and robust, 
and that both revenue and capital resources are aligned with the key policy objectives. This 
future planning, aimed at resourcing the achievement of core objectives, is evidenced through 
the council’s MTFS.  
 
Due to past and present prudent financial stewardship, the council has been able to positively 
respond to the financial pressures first identified in 2016 and those presented by the Covid-19 
pandemic. In 2021-22, these timely and targeted interventions culminated with Council adopting 
a balanced 2021-22 budget for the authority, which is based on sound assumptions for how 
planned expenditure will be met. 
 
 

P
age 85

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/annual-performance-report


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

14 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

D2:  
Planning 

interventions 

[cont.] 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Despite this, the continued uncertainty around the future funding of local government and the 
significant and evolving challenge to council service provision presented by the Covid-19 
pandemic, saw Council also adopt a new five-year (2022-23 to 2026-27) MTFS in 2021-22. In 
detailing the emerging budget gap that the council is now facing on its General Fund Services, 
the Strategy identifies a proactive package of measures intended to restore financial 
sustainability in the medium term. The key objectives of the MTFS are:  

• To ensure that effective financial planning and management contributes to the council 
achieving the objectives set out in the Corporate Plan; 

• To maximise income where possible to support the Council’s priorities; 
• To ensure sound and robust financial management arrangements which inform 

decision-making regarding effective resource allocation and asset use; 
• To continue to improve value for money, managing our resources effectively and 

efficiently; 
• To ensure that decisions relating to projects or to new or amended function delivery 

methods consider both the initial costs and the ongoing financial liabilities those 
decisions will create; and 

• To ensure we remain resilient in the longer term.  
 

Whilst the council has an acknowledged robust system of controls in place to deliver effective 
service planning, since 2020-21 the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic has been significant on 
the authority, both in terms of planned strategic activity and the requirement to adjust and 
reshape frontline service provision.  
 
Whether meeting the sizeable challenge of transforming the working environment in providing 
over 300 staff with the IT functionality for remote working - enhanced in 2021-22 through the 
delivery of the M365 platform and new corporate telephony system – or redirecting frontline 
resources in the issuance of essential business support grants to support the local economy, 
the authority has had to be resilient, creative and transformational in how it has adapted to the 
pressures presented to it, and the local community more broadly, throughout the last two years.  
 
Despite a significant upturn in demand, and the logistical challenges presented by the new 
working environment, in 2021-22 there was a reduction in the number of corporate complaints 
received by the council in relation to its service provision compared with the 2019-20 (pre-
Covid) level.  

P
age 86

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=4622&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

15 | P a g e  
 

 
 

D2:  
Planning 

interventions 

[cont.] 

 

 
COMPLETE: A recommendation by CIPFA for local government as a sector, ultimately built 
into an adopted action for the AGS 2019-20, was to undertake a review of the council’s 
administration of the Covid-19 crisis. The review was to consider both the decisions undertaken 
in direct response and the future planning for preparedness of a second wave of the virus. The 
review was also tasked with considering the underpinning approach to business continuity 
across the organisation. The immediate practical challenges presented by the Covid-19 
pandemic were considered by Members at Council in May 2020, with the full results of the 
subsequent formal review of the council’s response presented to Cabinet in February 2021. 
This was subsequently refreshed with a further annual review considered by Cabinet in 
February 2022. 
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 
 
 
 
 
 

D3:  
Optimising 

achievement of 
intended 
outcomes  

 
  

 

 

 
• Ensuring the medium term 

financial strategy integrates and 
balances service priorities, 
affordability and other resource 
constraints.  
 

• Ensuring the budgeting process 
is all-inclusive, taking into 
account the full cost of 
operations over the medium and 
longer term.  

 
• Ensuring the medium term 

financial strategy sets the context 
for on-going decisions on 
significant delivery issues or 
responses to changes in the 
external environment that may 
arise during the budgetary period 
in order for outcomes to be 
achieved while optimising 
resource usage.  

 
 

 
In the spirit of the principles and standards within CIPFA’s Financial Management Code  
(FM Code), underpinning all plans and partnerships is the council’s commitment to sound 
financial planning. The council operates within a strict financial and regulatory environment. The 
council’s financial planning arrangements ensure that finances remain sustainable and robust, 
and that both revenue and capital resources are aligned with the key policy objectives.  
 
More broadly, to demonstrate that the processes the council has in place satisfy the 17 
principles of good financial management established by the FM Code, the council undertook a 
self-assessment in 2020-21 with the results presented to the Finance and Audit Committee. 
The assessment concluded; “there are no significant improvements to be made. Out of the 17 
standards the council is compliant in 15 and moderate improvements are required for the other 
two standards.”   
 
COMPLETE: The new FM Code stated that local authorities should be working towards full 
compliance by the end of the financial year 2021-22. As such, in order to deliver on the controls 
required in the set timescale, the commitment to establish a fully compliant suite of processes 
in 2021-22 formed a key recommendation within the 2020-21 AGS. Activity delivered in the last 
year has seen full compliance now achieved as reported to Finance & Audit Committee. 
 
Due to past and present prudent financial stewardship, the council has been able to positively 
respond to the financial pressures first identified in 2016 and those presented by the Covid-19 
pandemic. In 2021-22, these timely and targeted interventions culminated with Council adopting 
a balanced 2021-22 budget for the authority, which is based on sound assumptions for how 
planned expenditure will be met. 

P
age 87

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=4355&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=4423&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=4652&Ver=4
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/f/financial-management-code
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4482&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4699&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

16 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

D3:  
Optimising 

achievement of 
intended 
outcomes  

[cont.] 

 

 
 

• Ensuring the achievement of 
‘social value’ through service 
planning and commissioning. 

 
Despite this, the continued uncertainty around the future funding of local government and the 
significant and evolving challenge to council service provision presented by the Covid-19 
pandemic, saw Council also adopt a new five-year (2022-23 to 2026-27) MTFS in 2021-22.  
 
The core principles underlying the MTFS are presented at D2: Planning interventions. 
 
The council has an effective Corporate Procurement Strategy which acts as the foundation on 
which the authority’s approach to procurement is based. Related to this, the council’s contract 
process terms and conditions emphasise the requirement for providers to deliver contracted 
services on behalf of the council in line with ethical standards expected by government 
legislation. In regards to ‘social value’, as part of its procurement strategy, the council has 
committed to; “Ensure all tenders include consideration of the social value act to encourage 
opportunities for local employment, local supply chain, apprenticeships and reduced carbon 
emissions.” Work to revise the Strategy, complete with refreshed Contract Procedure Rules, is 
to commence in 2022-23 (see A2/A3). 
 
To further enhance the council’s commitment to the agenda, in 2021-22 the authority produced 
a new dedicated Social Value Policy. Presented to the Commercial Services Committee, the 
policy presents the following key principles: 

• To achieve more of our strategic aims at no extra cost; 

• Complying with legislative requirements and council values; 

• Being open and transparent in procurement by formally and consistently considering 
social value; 

• Improving local social, economic and environmental wellbeing when procuring 
contracts; 

• Championing social value at the council; 

• Build a shared understanding of social value within the council and its partner 
organisations; and 

• Any spend arising from social value must be aligned to the council’s corporate plan and 
objectives. 

 
 
 
 

P
age 88

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=4622&Ver=4
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=445&MId=4658&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

17 | P a g e  
 

Core Principle E: Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

E1:  
Developing the 
entity’s capacity  

 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 

• Reviewing operations, 
performance and use of assets 
on a regular basis to ensure their 
continuing effectiveness.  
 

• Improving resource use through 
appropriate application of 
techniques such as 
benchmarking and other options 
in order to determine how 
resources are allocated so that 
defined outcomes are achieved 
effectively and efficiently. 
 

• Recognising the benefits of 
partnerships and collaborative 
working where added value can 
be achieved. 

 
• Developing and maintaining an 

effective workforce plan to 
enhance the strategic allocation 
of resources. 
 

The council has a number of mechanisms in place with which to ensure its continued 
development, ranging from an Asset Management Plan through to a Workforce Development 
Plan. These controls are in place to improve use of resources now and into the future.  
 
One such example, and in support of the council’s adopted Corporate Plan objective #3: 
Progress, is the council’s ‘Service Review’ programme. The aim of the programme was to 
review each of the council’s services in order to determine if the services are being delivered in 
the most efficient way and to investigate potential income generating and commercial 
opportunities. The programme concluded in 2019-20 having achieved its financial targets. 
 
With a commitment to the delivery of value for money services, a key principle within the 
council’s adopted MTFS (see D2), in March 2021 CMT took the decision to instigate a new 
Service Review process. Subsequently refocussed and remodelled, the Corporate 
Improvement Project will be manager-led, and constitute two clear stages: 

• Value for Money Study: a once per administration position statement for the authority. 
Aims to measure the ‘value’ of services delivered by the council, directly compared to 
its geographical nearest neighbours where possible, and the identification of options to 
refine service activity and resource provision in light of the commitments within the 
Corporate Plan and, crucially, the wider social policy challenges impacting the borough. 
 

• Corporate Improvement Team: ‘Phase 2’ will be directly overseen by the Corporate 
Management Team and delivered by a new Corporate Improvement Team, drawn from 
the council’s Wider Management Team. This annual exercise will identify the key 
challenges, opportunities and risks facing council services, with recommendations 
being generated that will identify the options for service efficiencies or redesign, 
alongside potential income generation initiatives. 

 
In terms of wider officer development, the council has in place a Workforce Development Plan.  
The plan has the following key priorities: organisational and leadership development; skills 
development; recruitment & retention / pay & rewards. 
 
Workforce planning is a core business process for the authority and will form a key part of the 
evidence base to support the council’s Investors in People (IiP) reassessment in 2022-23 (E2).  
 

P
age 89

https://www.investorsinpeople.com/


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

18 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

E2:  
Developing the 
capability of the 

entity’s leadership 
and other 
individuals  

  

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 
 

• Publishing a statement that 
specifies the types of decisions 
that are delegated and those 
reserved for the collective 
decision making of the governing 
body. 
 
 

• Developing protocols to ensure 
that elected and appointed 
leaders negotiate with each other 
regarding their respective roles 
early on in the relationship and 
that a shared understanding of 
roles and objectives is 
maintained.  
 

 
• Ensuring the leader and the chief 

executive have clearly defined 
and distinctive leadership roles 
within a structure whereby the 
chief executive leads in 
implementing strategy and 
managing the delivery of 
services and other outputs set by 
members and each provides a 
check and a balance for each 
other’s authority. 
 

A scheme of delegation is in place and is held within Annex 1 of the Constitution. The scheme 
is considered annually and was re-issued and agreed at Annual Council in May 2021. The 
scheme sets out responsibilities of the council and those delegated to relevant committees, 
such as the Finance and Audit Committee and Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  
The council has appointed a full-time Chief Executive who is also the Head of Paid Service.  
The council’s Constitution (Annex 1 - Section 1.12 – Proper Officers) clearly defines the 
responsibilities of the Chief Executive. 

The Chief Executive and the Leader of the council have weekly one-to-one meetings as part of 
a range of regular communication to ensure appropriate channels of strategic intelligence.   

With the council having adopted its strategic objectives via its Corporate Plan, the authority’s 
CMT is tasked with implementing this political direction and has a number of methods in place 
to achieve this, including the planning and delivery of a programme of Cabinet Away Days – a 
recommendation of the latest LGA Peer Challenge (G3) that was implemented in 2021-22.   

The CMT consists of the Chief Executive, Directors and includes the appointed Section 151 
Officer and the Monitoring Officer (or nominated deputies as required) and, as of 2020-21, the 
Communications Manager.  

Additionally, Wider Management Team meetings have continued in 2021-22 consisting of the 
Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors and Service Managers, with meetings scheduled 
on a monthly basis.  Information from these meetings is then disseminated to officers within the 
departments through the PMF arrangement.  In addition, the agendas and minutes of all 
Management Team meetings are accessible to the entire Wider Management Team to ensure 
that all senior managers are able to build a wider knowledge and understanding of the work that 
is being undertaken across the authority. 

Regular meetings are also held between the Leader and a number of key officers throughout 
the organisation, including the Chief Executive, Directors, Section 151 Officer and Service 
Managers.  Through these meetings the Leader is able to maintain up-to-date knowledge of key 
projects and issues and is therefore able to provide effective political leadership. Other Lead 
Members also hold briefings with key officers of services within their portfolio of responsibilities 
to ensure there is an understanding of both officer and Member needs throughout the 
organisation – arrangements that have proven invaluable during the Covid-19 pandemic.  

 

 

P
age 90

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/constitution
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=4618&Ver=4
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/constitution


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

19 | P a g e  
 

 
Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

E2:  
Developing the 
capability of the 

entity’s leadership 
and other 
individuals  

[cont.] 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

• Developing the capabilities of 
members and senior 
management to achieve effective 
leadership and to enable the 
organisation to respond 
successfully to changing legal 
and policy demands as well as 
economic, political and 
environmental changes and risks 
by:  
o ensuring members and staff 

have access to appropriate 
induction tailored to their role 
and that on-going training 
and development matching 
individual and organisational 
requirements is available 
and encouraged; 

o ensuring members and 
officers have the appropriate 
skills, knowledge, resources 
and support to fulfil their 
roles and responsibilities and 
ensuring that they are able 
to continually update their 
knowledge;  

o ensuring personal, 
organisational and system-
wide development through 
shared learning, including 
lessons learnt from 
governance weaknesses 
both internal and external. 

 

In regard to sustainable senior officer and Member development, the council has a variety of 
initiatives in place to ensure the authority can continue to thrive in the challenging and changing 
legal and policy environment. 
 
At an officer level, the council has put in place an induction process which covers key corporate 
issues and is completed for all new starters across all employment status (full/part-time, 
temporary contracts, remote workers etc). Refreshed by CMT in 2021-22, the process includes 
the distribution of corporate policies identified for reading and formal sign-off. This ensures that 
all new starters not only receive service specific training but also get an understanding of the 
corporate organisation and their responsibilities.  
 
Specific inductions are arranged for those frontline officers working within the council’s 
operational services (e.g., waste operatives) who undertake an induction and training 
programme which is tailored to their roles within the council prior to commencing their duties. In 
addition, all officers that are undertaking shared or joint-working initiatives at GBC must go 
through a ‘Shared Services Induction’ checklist. 
 
In terms of assessment and development, in line with the council’s PMF appraisals are to be 
carried out every year for all officers and half-yearly reviews are also undertaken as required.  
Through this, officers can assess the levels of performance being realised and, equally, 
highlight any additional training needs they require in order to meet set targets.  These can also 
be considered through the regular one-to-ones that occur during the year.  
 
The council has a defined training budget available which covers qualification training, non-
qualification training and Continuous Professional Development (CPD).  This enables the 
council to respond to training needs which come about not only through staff turnover and 
continued development, but also changes in legislation, such as the requirement for persons 
involved in civil enforcement to be properly qualified. In addition, each year Service Managers 
provide a detailed plan for their own individual services within their Service Business Plan, 
including those officers requiring professional training qualifications e.g. accountancy. 
To ensure officers and Members have appropriate knowledge of changing legislative demands 
on the authority, monthly policy briefings are provided to the council’s Wider Management 
Team that provide a summary of all recent policy announcements and consultations from 
central government.  This is supplemented by a half-yearly legislative briefing to Management 
Team that analyses significant legislative changes introduced by the government.  
 

P
age 91



Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

20 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

E2:  
Developing the 
capability of the 

entity’s leadership 
and other 
individuals  

[cont.] 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Holding staff to account through 
regular performance reviews 
which take account of training or 
development needs. 

 
• Ensuring arrangements are in 

place to maintain the health and 
wellbeing of the workforce and 
support individuals in maintaining 
their own physical and mental 
wellbeing.  
 

• Taking steps to consider the 
leadership’s own effectiveness 
and ensuring leaders are open to 
constructive feedback from peer 
review/inspections.  
 

• Ensuring that there are 
structures in place to encourage 
public participation. 
 
  

 
The importance of performance appraisal and personal development is to be reinforced in the 
council’s new Workforce Development Plan, a key part of the council’s commitment to the IiP 
programme, assessment of which was scheduled for early 2022-23 (see E1).   
 
The council also has in place several key avenues for workforce communication. In 2021-22, 
CMT agreed to the launch of a redesigned Staff Forum, complete with updated Constitution. 
The forum fulfils a number of roles but is primarily designed by the CMT to develop a sense of 
transparency and trust in a two-way form of communication. As an example, the forum is used 
directly to engage with staff representatives, with feedback used to help inform policy decisions 
for the well-being of the overall workforce, as well as acting as an engagement hub to 
communicate key business decisions.   

On a less formal level, the Chief Executive Officer delivers a weekly e-message for all staff. The 
messages provide a further layer of key communication for all staff, ranging from legislative 
changes through to opportunities for personal health development, and have proved particularly 
important in the face of the new operational environment the council has faced since the onset 
of Covid-19. At a Member level a similar informal product (Member’s Bulletin) is provided to 
outline key developments in the council and opportunities for engaging with the community at 
various forums, as well as Member training and development sessions.   
 
More broadly, the council is committed to promoting the physical and mental health and 
wellbeing of the workforce through specific interventions and opportunities, which form a central 
responsibility for all managers. There is a dedicated intranet page with a wide range of support 
and guidance for staff and their managers across the spectrum of health and wellbeing topics 
e.g. Employee Assistance Programme and The Gr@nd’s health programmes, alongside an 
ongoing commitment to Mental Health Awareness week.  
 
This package of support took on increasing importance in 2021-22 as the authority 
implemented a 6-month trial Hybrid Working Policy. Building on the benefits and learning points 
through homeworking practices during the pandemic, the authority has identified the work/life 
benefits that can be realised through an effective hybrid approach for its workforce. The trial 
arrangement is supported by a positive ‘staff offer’ that incorporates many of the physical and 
mental health development opportunities listed above. The trial will be formally reviewed in 
2022-23 to determine its on-going status, with staff input through a formal survey a key 
consideration in shaping the future working environment of the council.  

P
age 92

http://gbcstaff/intranet/health-and-well-being/


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

21 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 
 

E2:  
Developing the 
capability of the 

entity’s leadership 
and other 
individuals  

[cont.] 

 

 COMPLETE: Underpinning all efforts in terms of workforce capability is the council’s 
commitment to the IiP accreditation and its pledge to become ‘an employer of choice’. In its last 
assessment, the council secured a ‘Silver’ accreditation. The 2019-20 AGS included a 
commitment in 2020-21 to delivering a detailed action plan to work towards implementing key 
milestones for the programme. This action plan was successfully implemented, and work was 
delivered throughout 2021-22 as the authority worked towards its scheduled IiP re-assessment 
in early 2022-23.  
 
In order to enable Members to have the knowledge base with which to carry out effective 
decision making and scrutiny, an annual training and development plan is delivered. This 
approach was especially important in 2019-20 given the large number of new Members to the 
council following the 2019 local elections. A mixture of statutory, formal and awareness/ 
educational sessions, the comprehensive programme is tailored to meet all needs.  
In January 2021, Cabinet agreed a new training programme for Members in 2021-22, including 
Communication and Social Media training aimed at identifying the appropriate ethical values 
and behaviour expected of elected Councillors in fulfilling their roles when engaging residents 
(see B3). In addition, a series of wider ethical awareness training sessions were delivered in 
2021-22, including; Licensing; Treasury Management and Planning (see A2). 
 
The council’s arrangements for community consultation and how that feeds into local policy 
development is set out in this review document at B3: Engaging with individual citizens and 
service users effectively. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 93

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=4421&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

22 | P a g e  
 

Core Principle F: Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial management 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F1:  
Managing risk 

  

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Recognising that risk 
management is an integral part 
of all activities and must be 
considered in all aspects of 
decision making.  
 

• Implementing robust and 
integrated risk management 
arrangements and ensuring that 
they are working effectively. 

 
• Ensuring that responsibilities for 

managing individual risks are 
clearly allocated. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The council expects volatility and risk in the environment in which it operates. The council has a 
long-established process in place to identify the principal risks that may influence or impact on 
the delivery of services. The risk management process requires judgements to be made on the 
likelihood and impact of a potential risk and enables the council to develop and implement 
appropriate controls to manage or mitigate these risks to reduce the impact on the council.  

Monitoring risk is an on-going process and compliments all council projects and day to day 
business. At a corporate level, an annual review is undertaken of both the council’s Risk 
Management Strategy and the Corporate Risk Register, with the results presented to Cabinet 
for endorsement.  

In March 2011 it was agreed by Cabinet that the Risk Management Strategy would only be 
presented for approval if it was subject to updates and amendments resulting in material 
changes to the strategy. The 2021-22 review identified that no substantial amendments or 
updates were required to the Strategy. 
 
In regards the Corporate Risk Register, in 2021-22 the annual risk identification exercise was 
undertaken in full consideration of the findings of a desktop review into the process by the Risk 
& Resilience Team (RRT) at Zurich Risk Services. Following Finance and Audit Committee 
endorsement, the council’s Corporate Risk Register for 2022-23 was ultimately approved by 
Council. Progress made against the actions in relation to each risk recorded in the Corporate 
Risk Register will be monitored quarterly by the Risk Management Working Group and key 
findings will be presented via a half yearly report to the Finance & Audit Committee. 

Informing the risk management process, each service area must also consider risk as part of 
the business planning, project management and other corporate processes and, equally, also 
identify relevant actions and controls to put in place to mitigate identified operational risks. 

In seeking to provide broader corporate oversight of the operating risk environment, in 2021-22 
the council further enhanced is internal controls with the introduction of an internal Risk 
Management Working Group.  A key component of the CIPFA FM Code, the group meets on a 
quarterly basis, with subsequent reporting to CMT. This pooled corporate resource enables the 
sharing of knowledge and common understanding of the current and future risks to the authority 
and its service areas. The group’s formation also aids the risk escalation process, whereby an 
identified risk at service level could be, if felt necessary, escalated to the Corporate Risk 
Register. 

 

P
age 94

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies/risk-management-strategy/introduction
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies/risk-management-strategy/introduction
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/registers
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=4623&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

23 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 

F1:  
Managing risk 

[cont.] 

 

 

Additionally, all committee reports include an appendix that identifies the ‘implications’ of any 
decisions being recommended through the report, including an assessment of risk. This 
appendix is also included in formal reports to the CMT Team. 

COMPLETE: As a key element of the authority’s governance arrangements, to effectively 
assess service level risk and ensure this is considered within the wider corporate risk 
framework, a broader programme of risk management training in 2021-22 formed a 
recommendation within the 2020-21 AGS. Against this, relevant sessions for managers across 
the authority were duly delivered by Zurich Risk Services in 2021-22, with plans for future 
sessions as refreshers and for new officers to the authority.  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 
 
 
 
 
 

F2:  
Managing 

performance 
[cont.] 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

• Monitoring service delivery 
effectively including planning, 
specification, execution and 
independent review. 
 

• Providing members and senior 
management with regular reports 
on service delivery plans and on 
progress towards outcome 
achievement. 
 

• Making decisions based on 
relevant, clear objective analysis 
and advice pointing out the 
implications and risks inherent in 
the organisation’s financial, 
social and environmental position 
and outlook. 

 
 
 
 

 
An effective PMF is vital in delivering consistently high-quality services for local residents. The 
Corporate Plan, designed in consideration of community need and consultation, presented a 
new PMF allowing the council to evaluate if it is effectively achieving against each of the stated 
corporate objectives. Formal qualitative and quantitate reports are presented to the appropriate 
Cabinet Committee quarterly, enabling scrutiny in the performance of the council’s key frontline 
services. This is supported by quarterly publications of the council’s key activities and service 
performance published via Your Borough. Completing the reporting cycle, the council also 
reports details of the year-end outturns for the framework in its Annual Performance Report.  
 
Corporate reporting is supplemented by individual services’ own reports and thematic or project 
reporting. For example, having passed its climate motion in June 2019, the council committed 
to establishing the climate change agenda as a strategic theme to underpin the projects, 
initiatives and work involved in the delivery of the council's Corporate Plan as it works towards 
its ambition of carbon neutral status by 2030. In doing so a pledge was made to produce an 
Annual Report, with the latest such report presented to Council in December 2021.  
 
In 2021-22, the governance of the climate change agenda was further enhanced with the 
adoption of the council’s first Climate Change Strategy, which aims to clearly articulate the 
actions that need to be taken in order to meet the council’s net zero ambition. In overseeing the 
implementation of the decisions, design and performance of the projects and initiatives involved 
in the strategy, Council also introduced a new Climate Change Advisory Board in 2021-22, 
which is also tasked with reporting back to Cabinet on a six-monthly cycle. 
 
 
 

P
age 95

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/annual-performance-report
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=4621&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

24 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F2:  
Managing 

performance 
[cont.] 

 

 

  

 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
• Ensuring an effective scrutiny or 

oversight function is in place 
which provides constructive 
challenge and debate on policies 
and objectives before, during and 
after decisions are made thereby 
enhancing the organisation’s 
performance and that of any 
organisation for which it is 
responsible.  
 

• Ensuring there is consistency 
between specification stages 
(such as budgets) and post 
implementation reporting (e.g. 
financial statements).  
 

 
All committee reports to Members in 2021-22 were drafted with explicit consideration of the 
financial implications of any decision along with other implications including; Corporate Plan 
objectives, legal duties and an assessment of risk. To demonstrate the commitment to 
delivering on its climate motion, in 2020-21 the council also enhanced its decision-making 
controls by introducing climate change as an additional consideration. Therefore, any decisions 
that would impact on for example Objective 1 – People, which features policy commitments 
relating to the environment, would be presented with a risk impact assessment of the decision 
to the broader health of the local environment within the context of the council’s climate motion. 
 
In 2021-22, a review of the authority’s reporting template was undertaken. In accepting and 
adopting the key findings of the review, CMT identified a need for refocussing the implications 
of a report by creating two clear categories: Key (front) and Secondary (back). Through this 
review, CMT can more effectively scrutinise proposals in direct consideration of the implications 
to legal, finance/value for money, Corporate Plan and Climate Change, given their now fixed 
prominence at the front of the new reporting template.  Updated guidance has also been 
prepared to assist report authors with fully considering implications and ensuring this is 
effectively captured within the new report template.   

Annex 1 of the Constitution sets out the responsibilities of the council and the responsibilities 
delegated to committees including the responsibilities of the Overview Scrutiny committee.  The 
Overview Scrutiny Committee meets on a monthly basis, with agendas, minutes and details of 
Membership published to the council’s website. Chaired by the Leader of the Opposition, the 
committee is able to ‘call-in’ decisions from the Cabinet in order for them to be further 
scrutinised.  The Overview Scrutiny Committee has an established work plan to provide a 
framework for its activities, with the conclusion to the Maritime Strategy review and a new 
review of Street Cleanliness, Littering, and Fly-tipping throughout the Borough key areas of 
focus in 2021-22. 

Annex 2 of the Constitution sets out the Financial Procedure Rules for the council. This 
provides a framework to the development of the Budget, arrangements and controls for 
budgetary control, and the end stage of auditing of the council’s accounts. The council’s 
transparency webpage includes details of the Civic Budget Book and the published financial 
statements, along with a series of core financial policies. 

 

 

 

 

P
age 96

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/constitution
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=105&Year=0
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/constitution
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

25 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F3:  
Robust internal 

control 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 

 
• Aligning the risk management 

strategy and policies on internal 
control with achieving objectives.  
 

• Evaluating and monitoring risk 
management and internal control 
on a regular basis. 

 
• Ensuring effective counter fraud 

and anti-corruption arrangements 
are in place.  

 
• Ensuring additional assurance on 

the overall adequacy and 
effectiveness of the framework of 
governance, risk management 
and control is provided by the 
internal auditor.  

 
• Ensuring an audit committee or 

equivalent group/ function, which 
is independent of the executive 
and accountable to the governing 
body:  

 
o provides a further source 

of effective assurance 
regarding arrangements 
for managing risk and 
maintaining an effective 
control environment; 

o that its recommendations 
are listened to and acted 
upon. 

 

The purpose of the council’s Risk Management Strategy is; “to embed risk management into 
the daily operations of the council. Good risk management will lead to good management, good 
performance, good stewardship of public money, good public engagement and, ultimately, good 
outcomes for citizens and service users.”  

The strategy is reviewed and updated annually and presented to Cabinet when substantial 
changes are required.  

Practical delivery of the council’s risk management processes is outlined at F1: Managing Risk. 
 
Annex 1 of the Constitution sets out the responsibilities of the council and the responsibilities 
delegated to committees including the Finance and Audit Committee which has a dual 
responsibility to; “monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the 
authority”.  
 
This responsibility helps strengthen the council’s risk management arrangements through close 
scrutiny of the management actions specified in the Corporate Risk Register and enhanced 
contribution to the development of the annual Corporate Risk Register. Additionally, in 
monitoring the council’s risks the Finance and Audit Committee oversee a mid-year review of 
the Corporate Risk Register, offering Members the opportunity to both review existing risks and 
the work being delivered to mitigate, and to suggest the addition of new risks for consideration.  
 
The council’s Internal Audit and Counter Fraud team is delivered through a shared service with 
Medway Council, with a strategy in place to outline the core objectives of its work. In delivering 
against this strategy, and in order to comply with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the 
service presented an Audit and Counter Fraud Plan for 2021-22, approved by the Finance and 
Audit Committee. The Plan includes details of resources dedicated to deliver a programme of 
planned audit work to assist councils, both in strengthening their internal control environments 
and in proactive counter fraud work by conducting investigations into referrals received and 
frauds identified.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 97

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4699&Ver=4
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4482&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4482&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

26 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F3:  
Robust internal 
control [cont.] 

In monitoring progress against the adopted Audit and Counter Fraud Plan, and in line with the 
Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme (QAIP), in 2021-
22 the Finance & Audit Committee received regular reports detailing:  

• The proportion of recommended actions agreed by client management; 
• The proportion of recommended actions implemented by the agreed target date;  
• The number of recommendations agreed that are; not yet due, implemented and 

outstanding; and,  
• The position of all recommendations currently within the follow-up process. 

In addition, the Finance & Audit Committee also received details of all recommendations 
outstanding more than six months after the scheduled implementation date. Services are 
provided with an opportunity to provide an update to be included in the report explaining any 
reasons for delay and may also requested to attend the Committee.  
 
At its meeting in March 2022, the Finance and Audit Committee agreed the proposed Audit 
Plan for Q1-Q2 2022-23 and Counter Fraud Plan for 2022-23. Although an Audit plan is drafted 
for the full year based on resources predicted to be available, in order to ensure internal audit 
resources continue to be focused on the organisations highest risks the Committee endorsed 
the adoption of the new six-month plan, with a subsequent review to be undertaken in July 
2022-23.  
 
In light of the full audit programme of assurance reviews undertaken in 2021-22, the Head of 
Internal Audit was able to provide a full opinion, delivered in direct consideration of the CIPFA 
Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public Service Organisations (see G3). 
 
To provide an effective framework for counter fraud and anti-corruption arrangements, in March 
2021 Cabinet approved a new Counter Fraud and Corruption Strategy for the authority. 
Working alongside the council’s Anti-Money Laundering Policy and Whistleblowing Policy, the 
documents are collectively designed to develop an effective working environment that supports 
its zero-tolerance approach towards fraud, bribery, and corrupt activity. To communicate the 
council’s commitment, all three documents are published to the website.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 98

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4701&Ver=4
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-head-of-internal-audit?crdm=0
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-head-of-internal-audit?crdm=0
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies?result_235247_result_page=C
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/policies
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/policies


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

27 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

F4:  
Managing data 

  

 

  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Ensuring effective arrangements 
are in place for the safe 
collection, storage, use and 
sharing of data, including 
processes to safeguard personal 
data. 
 

• Ensuring effective arrangements 
are in place and operating 
effectively when sharing data 
with other bodies. 

 
• Reviewing and auditing regularly 

the quality and accuracy of data 
used in decision making and 
performance monitoring.  
 

The council collects, holds and uses data about people and organisations with whom it deals 
with in order to conduct its business. As part of the council’s governance control arrangements 
therefore, the authority’s Data Protection Policy outlines the scope of the agenda and the 
measures put in place to mitigate the risk of data breaches. Refreshed to account for the 
implications of the Data Protection Act 2018, the policy also sets out the appointed Data 
Protection officers charged with promoting the policy and monitoring compliance. As part of the 
council’s work to enhance the level of governance control in this area, all formal decisions and 
committee reports require consideration of the need for a relevant data impact assessment. 

The council makes information available to the public via the information access regime 
provided for by the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information 
Regulations (EIR) 2004. Individuals may also access their own personal data by exercising the 
right of subject access under the Data Protection Act 1998.  
 
The council complies with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 by publishing 
accurate data within appropriate timeframes to the council’s website.  
 
The council has also committed as a signatory to the current Kent and Medway Information 
Sharing Agreement. The main purpose of the agreement is to provide services in Kent and 
Medway with a best practice framework for the governance and exchange of personal and 
sensitive data. Procedures on how to comply with the framework, including relevant 
administrative arrangements, are made available to council officers as required. This agenda is 
overseen by the council’s Information Governance Group, chaired by the Director (Corporate 
Services); the council’s appointed Senior Information Risk Officer. 
 
More broadly, the council is dedicated to continually seeking to improve the scope and quality 
of its data to support good decision-making and improved service outcomes. Central to this is 
the council’s PMF that makes clear the council’s commitment and arrangements to ensuring 
good data quality, involving in-year spot-checks and verification of performance data. 
Collectively these processes ensure the most accurate and up to date performance information, 
vital for decision making purposes at CMT and Member level.   
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 99

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/policies
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data
http://www.kelsi.org.uk/school-management/data-and-reporting/access-to-information/information-sharing
http://www.kelsi.org.uk/school-management/data-and-reporting/access-to-information/information-sharing


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

28 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F5:  
Strong public 

financial 
management 

  
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Ensuring financial management 
supports both long term 
achievement of outcomes and 
short-term financial and 
operational performance. 
 

• Ensuring well-developed 
financial management is 
integrated at all levels of 
planning and control, including 
management of financial risks 
and controls. 

The council’s financial planning arrangements ensure that finances remain sustainable and 
robust and that both revenue and capital resources are aligned with the key policy objectives.  
This future planning, aimed at resourcing the achievement of core objectives, is evidenced 
through the council’s MTFS.   
 
Due to past and present prudent financial stewardship, the council has been able to positively 
respond to the financial pressures first identified in 2016 and those presented by the Covid-19 
pandemic. In 2021-22, these timely and targeted interventions culminated with Council adopting 
a balanced 2021-22 budget for the authority, which is based on sound assumptions for how 
planned expenditure will be met. 
 
Despite this, the continued uncertainty around the future funding of local government and the 
significant and evolving challenge to council service provision presented by the Covid-19 
pandemic, saw Council also adopt a new five-year (2022-23 to 2026-27) MTFS in 2021-22. The 
core principles underlying the MTFS are presented at D2: Planning interventions. 
 
Within the council’s financial planning are a number of more short-term controls to manage the 
council’s finances in line with achieving adopted corporate objectives: 

• The Civic Budget Book for the council sets out the budgetary requirements for the year 
and is agreed annually. It is published on the council’s website for public review. 
Monitoring controls are in place, with quarterly budget monitoring reports presented to 
the Cabinet and Finance and Audit Committee.  

• A set of Financial Statements are produced for each financial year. The Statement of 
Accounts summarises the council’s financial performance during the year and includes 
key financial statements (see G2).  

• The council’s Capital Strategy is intended to outline the principles followed by the 
authority in its approach to capital investment over the long-term. Annually reviewed, 
the strategy sets out the framework within which the council will plan, procure, prioritise 
and manage its capital investment and financing decisions in support of the delivery of 
the council’s priorities, as set out in the Corporate Plan, and has intrinsic links to the 
Treasury Management Strategy of the council. 

• The council has adopted CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code 
of Practice  2021, producing an annual Treasury Management Report (including the 
Annual Investment Strategy Report) and an annual Treasury Management Review 
report outlining treasury management activities and performance for the previous year. 
The council also submits regular in-year treasury management monitoring reports to 
the Finance & Audit Committee. 

P
age 100

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=4622&Ver=4
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/budgets-and-budget-monitoring
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/statement-of-accounts
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies?result_235247_result_page=C
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2021-edition
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2021-edition
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4700&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4697&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

29 | P a g e  
 

 
F5:  

Strong public 
financial 

management 

[cont.] 

 

  
 
The Section 151 Officer ensures that appropriate advice is given on all financial matters, proper 
financial records and accounts are kept, and oversees an effective system of financial control.  
 
Annex 2 of the Constitution sets out the Financial Procedure Rules for the council. This 
provides a framework to the development of the Budget, arrangements and controls for 
budgetary control, and the end stage of auditing of the council’s accounts. 
 

 

Core Principle G: Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit to deliver effective accountability 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 
 
 
 

G1:  
Implementing 

good practice in 
transparency  

 

  

 

 
• Writing and communicating 

reports for the public and other 
stakeholders in an 
understandable style appropriate 
to the intended audience and 
ensuring that they are easy to 
access and interrogate.  
 

• Striking a balance between 
providing the right amount of 
information to satisfy 
transparency demands and 
enhance public scrutiny while not 
being too onerous to provide and 
for users to understand.  

 

The council continues to be committed to the government’s transparency agenda and is 
compliant with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015.   

A specific section of the council’s website has been created in order to enable the timely and 
accurate publication of a number of key data sets and formal reports including: 

• Senior Staff Salaries & Organisation chart; 
• Procurement and contracts data;  
• Civic Budget Book and Financial Statements; 
• Pay Policy Statement; and 
• Member Allowances. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 101

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/constitution
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

30 | P a g e  
 

G2:  
Implementing 

good practices in 
reporting 

 

 
 

• Reporting at least annually on 
performance, value for money 
and the stewardship of its 
resources. 
 

• Ensuring the performance 
information that accompanies the 
financial statements is prepared 
on a consistent and timely basis 
and the statements allow for 
comparison with other similar 
organisations.  
 

• Ensuring members and senior 
management own the results. 

 
• Ensuring robust arrangements 

for assessing the extent to which 
the principles contained in the 
Framework have been applied 
and publishing the results on this 
assessment including an action 
plan for improvement and 
evidence to demonstrate good 
governance. 

 
• Ensuring that the Framework is 

applied to jointly managed or 
shared service organisations as 
appropriate.  
 

Complementing formal reporting processes to Members – as set out elsewhere in this review 
document – the council’s website forms an essential part in delivering the authority’s 
commitment to openness and transparency in how it conducts its business.   
 
Reports available via the Council’s Transparency webpage include: 

• Annual Report: Alongside the quarterly performance monitoring reports, published via 
Cabinet Committee agendas and summarised in Your Borough publications, the 
council also produces an Annual Report to complete the performance reporting 
process. In 2021-22 the council therefore published its Annual Report for 2020-21. 

• Financial Statements: The Statement of Accounts, produced each year, summarises 
the council’s financial performance during the year and includes key financial 
statements supported by notes. The Statement of Accounts also includes a dedicated 
section to performance management. The presented performance indicators have been 
selected not only to evidence the link between the resourcing of the council against the 
delivery of its core objectives but, as nationally recognised indicators reported to 
government, to enable accurate performance benchmarking against comparative 
authorities, enabling the authority the ability to measure its effective value for money. 

 
POTENTIAL ACTION: During the external audit process in the summer of 2020 relating to 
2019/20 accounts, the accounting treatment relating to the St George’s Centre was raised by 
Grant Thornton, proposing a departure from the methodology adopted and audited during the 
2018/19 accounts. As such, the authority has not yet secured full endorsement to its Statement 
of Accounts for the 2019-20 and 2020-21 financial years. The council will continue to 
productively engage with Grant Thornton to resolve these outstanding matters in 2022-23.    
 
The council has adopted a Code of Corporate Governance (the Code). The Code acts as the 
cornerstone to the council’s governance framework by which it is accountable to its users and 
wider community stakeholders. Within that framework, the Code sets out a commitment as to 
how the council carries out its functions, and the procedures and processes by which it 
undertakes to deliver the adopted Corporate Objectives. The Code is subject to annual review 
and ensures governance arrangements are consistent with the core governance principles as 
set out in the 'Delivering Good Governance' framework, published by CIPFA/SOLACE. The 
current framework on publication resulted in a new code, approved by Full Council. 
 
Through this process, the council reviews its governance arrangements on an annual basis 
culminating in the production of an AGS, approved by the Finance and Audit Committee. The 
review extends to the council’s shared services as relevant assurance statements from service 
managers are secured as part of the review process. The AGS includes a detailed action plan 
setting milestones for the year ahead to deliver activities that further strengthen controls.  

P
age 102

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/transparency-and-open-data/annual-performance-report
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/statement-of-accounts
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4697&Ver=4
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-governance


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

31 | P a g e  
 

Standard Method of compliance Evidence of compliance 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

G3:  
Assurance and 

effective 
accountability  

 
 

 

 
• Ensuring that recommendations 

for corrective action made by 
external audit are acted upon. 
  

• Ensuring an effective internal 
audit service with direct access 
to members is in place which 
provides assurance with regard 
to governance arrangements and 
recommendations are acted 
upon.  

 
• Welcoming peer challenge, 

reviews and inspections from 
regulatory bodies and 
implementing recommendations. 

 
• Gaining assurance on risks 

associated with delivering 
services through third parties and 
that this is evidenced in the 
annual governance statement.  

 
• Ensuring that when working in 

partnership, arrangements for 
accountability are clear and that 
the need for wider public 
accountability has been 
recognised and met. 

 

In line with the published CIPFA guidance, as part of the annual review of governance controls 
a specific assurance statement was completed by the Head of Internal Audit to demonstrate 
how the council has complied with the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal 
Audit in Public Service Organisations. This was complimented by the Section 151 Officer 
completing a specific ‘Chief Financial Officer’ assurance statement which sets out how the 
council has complied with the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in 
Local Government, as well as how the council has met its Section 151 obligations as set out 
within the Constitution. There were no issues of concern raised by either the Chief Financial 
Officer or the Head of Internal Audit. These statements form a key part of the annual review of 
governance control arrangements, the basis of the council’s AGS.  
 
The annual report from the Local Government Ombudsman is also considered by the Finance 
and Audit Committee. 
 
In 2019-20, the council undertook an LGA peer challenge exercise. The team’s report was 
published in January 2020 and presented to Cabinet in February 2020. Amongst its core 
recommendations that have been formulated into a detailed action plan, the peer team found 
Gravesham to be a well-run council with a proactive approach to dealing with the financial 
challenges of the last decade. The council has sound finances and is well placed to deal with 
the challenges ahead, crucial in light of the impact presented by Covid-19. 
 
It was committed that a report be brought back to Cabinet in 2021 to provide an update to 
Members on progress against the action plan and this was duly presented. Work continued in 
2021-22 in delivering on the adopted action plan, with the March meeting of Cabinet identifying 
remaining activities be incorporated within the relevant service area business plans, with a 
commitment to continued Lead Member progress briefings. 
  
The council has in place a robust Working in Partnership Framework which is the central point 
of reference in developing new partnerships for the council, linking the formation of new 
partnership working opportunities to the delivery of the Corporate Plan’s objectives. The 
framework outlines what is expected of Members, officers and external parties in terms of 
“Accountability: They should be accountable to the public for their actions and the manner in 
which they carry out their responsibilities, and should co-operate fully and honestly with any 
scrutiny appropriate to their particular office.” 
A revised Framework was ultimately agreed by Full Council in 2021-22 and adopted into the 
council’s Policy Framework (see B2). 

 

P
age 103

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-head-of-internal-audit?crdm=0
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-head-of-internal-audit?crdm=0
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-in-local-government
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-in-local-government
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4698&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4698&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=3114&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=4743&Ver=4
http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=144&MId=2965&Ver=4


Annual Review of Governance Arrangements: 2021-22 

32 | P a g e  
 

 
References 
 
CIPFA:  
- Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 
- Application of the Good Governance Framework  
- The role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government 
- Statement on the role of the Head of Internal Audit in public sector organisations 
- Financial Management Code 
- Treasury Management in the Public Services: code of practice  
 
 
Gravesham Borough Council:  
- Code of Corporate Governance 
 P

age 104



DELIVERING A GRAVESHAM TO BE PROUD OFDelivering a Gravesham to be proud of

A N N U A L  G O V E R N A N C E
S T A T E M E N T

2  0  2  1 -  2 2

P
age 105



Contents 
 

1: Introduction 
 
2-3: Definition & Environment 
 
4-5: Vision & Performance 
 
6: Finance 
 
7-8: Audit & Risk  
 
9-10: Partnerships & Transparency 
 
11: Trading 
 
12-13: Covid-19 & Review 
 
14: Plan 
 
 
 
 

1: Introduction 
 

Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) is responsible for undertaking its   
business in accordance with the law and proper standards. In doing so, it   
needs to ensure that public money is safeguarded, properly accounted for 
and used economically, efficiently and effectively.     

In discharging this overall responsibility, GBC has established its Code of  
Corporate Governance which sets out a commitment as to how the council  
carries out its functions; the procedures, processes and control   
environment by which it undertakes to deliver its corporate objectives.   

Approved by Full Council and adopted into the council’s Constitution, the   
Code of Corporate Governance is designed to be consistent with the   
principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework; Delivering Good   
Governance in Local Government.     

Assessed against the council’s adopted Code of Corporate Governance, in 
compliance with section 6(1)(a) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations   
2015, this Annual Governance Statement (AGS) presents the key themes 
and findings of an annual review into the effectiveness of the council’s    
governance framework and system of internal control in 2021-22.    

In its delivery, GBC has equally demonstrated its compliance with the   
requirements of section 6 (1)(b) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations   
2015 in relation to the presentation of an AGS for the authority in 2021-22.   

 

P
age 106

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-governance
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-governance
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/corporate-governance
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/d/delivering-good-governance-in-local-government-framework-2016-edition
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/d/delivering-good-governance-in-local-government-framework-2016-edition


2: Definition  
 
The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, 
cultures and values that direct and control the council, and its   
activities, through which it accounts to, engages with, and leads the   
community.  It enables the council to monitor the achievement of its  
corporate objectives and to consider whether those objectives led to   
the provision of appropriate, cost-effective services that delivered   
positive outcomes for the local community. 

The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework,  
designed to manage risk to a reasonable level.  It cannot eliminate all  
risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.   

The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to 
identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the council’s policies, 
aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised 
and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. 

The governance framework outlined in this AGS has been in place at  
GBC for the year ended 31 March 2022. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

3: Environment  
 
The council’s policy-setting and decision-making process is presented in  
its Constitution, with Full Council identified as the ultimate determining  
body. Cabinet is responsible for most day-to-day decisions within the   
policy framework, ultimately subject to scrutiny by the Overview Scrutiny   
Committee. The Constitution also details the council’s internal financial   
control framework, including comprehensive contract procedure rules,   
financial procedure rules and the scheme of delegation.  Essential to the   
discharging of the internal control environment are these appointed roles:   

• Chief Executive: a full-time appointment and the Head of Paid 
Service, with overall responsibility for the management and 
coordination of council employees. The role is required to report to 
Council as appropriate with regard to the way in which the overall 
discharge by the council of its different functions is coordinated. 

• Section 151 Officer: the s151 officer is the Director (Corporate 
Services) and the Deputy Section 151 Officer is the Assistant 
Director (Corporate Services). The Section 151 Officer has 
completed a specific ‘Chief Financial Officer’ assurance statement 
which sets out how the council has complied with CIPFA’s Role of 
the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government in 2021-22, as 
well as how it has met its Section 151 obligations.  

• Monitoring Officer: ensures the lawfulness and integrity of the 
council’s decision-making processes, supports the work of the 
Standards Committee and the investigation and reporting on 
issues that embrace all aspects of the authority’s governance. 

Action 1: The Constitution is an integral component of the council’s   
governance framework. To ensure it remains up to date regarding legal 
expectations and accurately reflective of the council's governance 
structure, completion of the next phase of its scheduled review will form an 
AGS recommendation for 2022-23, inclusive of key activities such as the   
implementation of revised Contract Procedure Rules.   

P
age 107

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-in-local-government
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-chief-financial-officer-in-local-government


4: Vision 5: Performance  
The council has in place a corporate vision for the borough. As a clear 
statement of the organisation’s purpose, to work towards this vision the 
council has an established Corporate Plan 2019-23.  

Designed on an extensive evidence base including; a community 
consultation, a community needs study, and the primary manifesto aims of 
the elected administration, to provide a framework for the council’s 
activities the Corporate Plan has three clearly defined strategic objectives:  

• People: a proud community; where residents can call a safe, 
clean borough their home; 

• Place: a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive 
local economy taking advantage of growth in the area, supported 
by its strong and active community; and 

• Progress: an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and 
committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 
skilled workforce and strong governance environment. 

Departmental business plans are established to translate the corporate 
objectives into appropriately planned and resourced strategies, projects 
and interventions. It is the elected Members who are ultimately responsible 
for the delivery of the council’s corporate objectives, and this is facilitated 
through the strong communication channels between Members and 
officers evident in 2021-22. 

Action 2: An essential component in the council’s governance framework, 
the Corporate Plan sets the tone and direction of travel for the authority 
over a four-year administration period. In advance of the local elections in 
2023, to ensure the council’s next Corporate Plan is designed in full 
consideration of the community’s needs and expectations of the authority 
and its core services, the delivery of a full 12-week consultation process 
will form an AGS recommendation for 2022-23. 

The council’s adopted Corporate Plan presented a new Performance 
Management Framework (PMF), allowing the authority to critically evaluate 
progress against its stated objectives, provide industry intelligence to drive 
service transformation and, for residents, it delivers genuine scrutiny in 
how successful the council is in administering its resources.  

Central to the delivery of the PMF is a commitment to a transparent 
performance monitoring and reporting process at all levels, both in regards 
to the authority and the personal development of officers, an agenda   
successfully realised in 2021-22. 

Formal qualitative and quantitate performance reporting takes place at 
different times and to different audiences in order to ensure fully informed 
policy  decision making:  

• Quarterly: Performance reports of all tiers of indicators to 
Corporate Management Team (CMT). Subsequently reported to 
Cabinet and individual Cabinet Committees for consideration and 
scrutiny, prior to publishing to the council’s digital platforms and  
Your Borough magazine. 

• Yearly: Annual report against all performance indicators, including 
an outline of relevant achievements directly contributing to the 
council’s corporate objectives. This is supported by individual 
services’ own reports and thematic or project reporting e.g. the 
Climate Change Annual Report as presented to Full Council. 

More broadly, the authority’s business planning process specifically links 
in the activities of the individual departments, and those of individual 
officers, with the corporate objectives of the council providing a ‘golden 
thread’; an understanding of how the performance of each officer 
contributes to the council’s objectives and, ultimately, the delivery of its 
vision for the borough.  

P
age 108

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan


6: Finance  
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a council to 
ensure that one officer has responsibility for the proper administration of its 
financial affairs. In 2021-22 this responsibility was held by the Director 
(Corporate Services), with a Deputy Section 151 officer also appointed - 
Assistant Director (Corporate Services).  The council’s financial 
management arrangements conform to the requirements of CIPFA’s 
guidance on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer in Local Government. 

In terms of its financial controls, the council works to the principles and 
standards within CIPFA’s Financial Management Code. To test and 
ultimately demonstrate that council processes satisfy the principles 
established by CIPFA’s Financial Management Code, a self-assessment 
was undertaken in 2021-22. It concluded no significant improvements 
were required, with compliance fully achieved in each of the 17 standards. 

The council has in place a 10-year Medium-Term Financial Plan, which 
sets out the forecasted budget for the council over the period. This is 
supported by the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), which outlines 
how the authority wants to structure and manage its finances in full 
consideration of the successful delivery of the council’s corporate 
objectives. In 2021-22, the council introduced a new five-year MTFS 
spanning 2022-23 to 2026-27.  

Regular budget monitoring took place in 2021-22 to manage the council’s 
Net Revenue Budget.  Regular meetings are held between officers and the 
Cabinet Portfolio Holders to discuss any specific budget issues and budget 
monitoring reports were presented to the Finance & Audit Committee and 
Cabinet on a quarterly basis throughout 2021-22.  Directors, Assistant 
Directors and Service Managers are responsible for the financial 
management of service areas within the council, which includes the 
effective monitoring of financial performance against budget.  

Throughout 2021-22, the council utilised a number of short-term controls 
to directly manage its finances in delivering the corporate objectives:  

• The Civic Budget Book sets out the budgetary requirements for the 
year and is agreed annually before its online publication. Monitoring 
controls are in place, with quarterly budget monitoring reports 
presented to Cabinet and Finance and Audit Committee.  

• A set of Financial Statements are produced for each financial year. The 
Statement of Accounts summarises the council’s financial performance 
and includes key financial statements.  

• The council’s Capital Strategy is intended to outline the principles 
followed by the authority in its approach to capital investment over the 
long-term. Annually reviewed, the strategy sets out the framework 
within which the council will plan, procure, prioritise and manage its 
capital investment and financing decisions in support. 

• The council has adopted CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public 
Services: Code of Practice  2021, producing an annual Treasury 
Management Report (including the Annual Investment Strategy Report) 
and an annual Treasury Management Review report outlining activities 
and performance delivered. The council also submits in-year treasury 
management monitoring reports to the Finance & Audit Committee. 

Action 3: Given the already existing socio-economic challenges facing the 
borough and the financial position facing the authority as identified in the 
MTFS, a review or position statement of the ‘cost of living crisis’ will form 
an AGS recommendation for 2022-23.  
 
Action 4: During the external audit process in the summer of 2020 relating 
to 2019/20 accounts, the accounting treatment relating to the St George’s 
Centre was raised by Grant Thornton, proposing a departure from the 
methodology adopted and audited during the 2018/19 accounts. As such, 
the authority has not yet secured full endorsement to its Statement of 
Accounts for the 2019-20 and 2020-21 financial years. The council will 
continue to productively engage with Grant Thornton to resolve these 
outstanding matters during the 2022-23 financial year. 
 

P
age 109

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/f/financial-management-code
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/financial-strategy
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/budgets-and-budget-monitoring
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/budgets-audits-and-accounts/statement-of-accounts
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/240221/Capital-Strategy.pdf
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2021-edition
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/treasury-management-in-the-public-services-code-of-practice-and-crosssectoral-guidance-notes-2021-edition
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4481&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4481&Ver=4
https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=110&MId=4381&Ver=4


7: Audit 8: Risk  
The council has a shared Audit and Counter Fraud service with Medway 
Council. The purpose of the team is to provide independent, objective 
assurance, investigation and consulting services to add value and improve 
the council’s operations. In doing so, the team brings a systematic and 
disciplined approach to evaluating and improving the effectiveness of risk 
management, internal control and governance processes.  

In undertaking its responsibilities, the service operates to the Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards and, in light of the full audit programme of 
assurance reviews undertaken in 2021-22, the Head of Internal Audit was 
able to provide a full opinion, delivered in direct consideration of the CIPFA 
Statement on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit in Public Service 
Organisations. 

The responsibilities of the Finance & Audit Committee include the 
consideration of reports from internal and external audit, and inspection 
agencies, as well as monitoring the performance of internal audit.  During 
2021-22, the Finance and Audit Committee received and considered a 
number of reports from council officers and external bodies, enabling the 
committee to obtain assurances of the internal control and governance 
arrangements of the council and to monitor action in addressing any 
issues identified by these reports. 

The council is committed to continuously improving its governance 
framework. In doing so, the authority works to implement the findings and 
key recommendations of its external auditors and statutory inspectors 
where these further strengthen the existing controls and processes that 
drive the governance environment. 

 

The council has a long-established process in place to identify the 
principal risks that may influence or impact on the delivery of services.  

The process requires judgements to be made on the likelihood and impact 
of a potential risk and enables the council to develop and implement 
appropriate controls to mitigate these risks and reduce their impact.  

Monitoring risk is an on-going process and complements all council 
projects and day to day business. Central to the council’s approach is an 
annually reviewed Risk Management Strategy, which outlines the adopted 
approach for identifying, evaluating, managing and recording risks to 
which the authority is exposed.  

Against that framework, the council prepares an annual Corporate Risk 
Register following a thorough review of the risks already identified by the 
council and consideration to the identification of potential new strategic 
risks, alongside those identified within the business planning process. 

In seeking to provide broader corporate oversight of the operating risk 
environment, in 2021-22 the council further enhanced is internal controls 
with the introduction of an internal Risk Management Working Group.    

At a Member level the Finance & Audit Committee is responsible for 
monitoring the effective development and operation of these management 
arrangements, including a mid-year review of the Corporate Risk Register.  

Alongside the listed controls delivered in 2021-22, all committee reports 
included an appendix that identified the ‘implications’ of any decisions 
being recommended through the report, including an assessment of risk. 

 

P
age 110

https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/standards/public-sector-internal-audit-standards
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-head-of-internal-audit?crdm=0
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-head-of-internal-audit?crdm=0
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/reports/the-role-of-the-head-of-internal-audit?crdm=0
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/strategies
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/registers
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/registers


9: Partnerships  
 
The council is consistently seeking to identify innovative solutions in the 
design and delivery of its services. This can include consideration of 
partnership working opportunities with public bodies and local agencies, 
including identification of shared service opportunities. These have been 
fully considered during 2021-22 as they have arisen. 

The council has in place a robust Working in Partnership Framework 
acting as the central point of reference in developing new partnerships, 
linking the formation of new opportunities to the delivery of the council’s 
Corporate Plan objectives. The latest review of the framework accounted 
for the inclusion of a number of key governance controls including; revising 
the financial threshold for a significant partnership to £50,000 and ensuring 
the council’s revised equalities objectives and climate change commitment 
form key considerations in the evaluation of any partnership arrangement. 
The new framework was presented to Full Council for adoption in 2021-22. 

In support of the framework, as in previous years a comprehensive review 
of the council’s Corporate Register of Partnerships was undertaken in 
2021-22 to ensure all relevant partnerships are included and demonstrate 
their continued effectiveness, value for money and alignment to the 
council’s corporate objectives.    

Outside of formal established partnerships, the council undertook a review 
of its support for local community groups and stakeholders in 2021-22. 
Following an evaluation of the emerging needs across Gravesham and 
considering the council’s position as recovery from the pandemic evolves, 
a series of 12-month funded Service Level Agreements were awarded. 
This new approach to local community groups was endorsed by the 
Community and Leisure Cabinet Committee. 

10: Transparency  
 
The government maintains a commitment to increasing transparency 
across central and local government in order to make data more readily 
available and enable residents to hold service providers truly to account. 

As a publicly funded organisation, GBC is equally committed to openness 
and accountability.  In 2021-22, the council published a series of datasets 
in line with the Local Government Transparency Code 2015 and other 
transparency commitments including; senior staff salaries, organisation 
chart, spending on items over £500, details of new contracts and also the 
adopted Pay Policy Statement. 

To promote transparency and wider engagement with council decisions, 
residents can use digital platforms such as; Facebook, Twitter, Instagram 
and YouTube to get updates from, and interact with, the authority. To 
counter the social restrictions imposed by Covid-19, and under the 
provisions of the Coronavirus Act 2020, this functionality meant that in the 
early part of 2021-22 residents were able to remotely access Council 
meetings and therefore continue to partake in local decision making.     

 

P
age 111

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/about-the-council/policies-strategies-open-data/registers


11: Trading 
 
As part of its plans to diversify its income stream and ultimately address 
the continued uncertainty surrounding local government funding, in    
2019-20 the council established its first Local Authority Trading Company.  

The formation of Rosherville Limited, with the authority as sole 
shareholder, enables the provision of commercial services to local 
residents and businesses, with profits helping fund and sustain essential 
frontline services, whilst providing tangible social value e.g. local 
employment opportunities. This commercial agenda has been further 
enhanced through the establishment of subsidiaries Rosherville Servicing 
Limited and Rosherville Property Development Limited and, in 2021-22, 
approval of the formation of Rosherville Repairs & Maintenance.  

The companies have been established to operate with a high degree of 
commercial freedom, underpinned by a commitment to the principles and 
best practice advocated by the Lawyers in Local Government guidance 
note; The Governance of Council Interests in Companies.  

As such, following its initial establishment Cabinet adopted the    
company’s Articles of Association which: 

• form the basis of its constitution;  
• define the responsibilities of directors;  
• outline core business; and 
• identify how shareholders exert control over the board of 

directors.  
 

The Articles have been based upon the model Articles Companies (Model 
Articles) Regulation 2008 with the necessary modifications to reflect 
accountability to the council, the council's requirements and specifically 
those matters of business which have been reserved for Shareholder 
Approval.                                                                                                          

 

 

In line with these controls, Rosherville Limited and its subsidiaries produce 
an annual business plan.  To provide appropriate flexibility and freedoms 
to trade, it is for the parent company itself to approve the detailed annual 
Business Plans for established subsidiaries. The annual business plan for 
the holding company is approved by the Cabinet.  The plan details 
scheduled activities for the forthcoming year ensuring business is both in 
line with the council’s corporate objectives and, equally, provides 
appropriate social and financial returns for the authority where applicable.  

As sole shareholder, there are also clear arrangements in relation to the 
council which are defined in a formal Shareholders Agreement, providing 
in detail the governance and approved decision-making process. The 
Leader of the Council (or nominated representative) acts as the 
Shareholder’s representative to provide a link between the Shareholder 
and Rosherville Limited.   

In order to support the Leader in making decisions in relation to 
Rosherville Limited, other than those reserved for Cabinet, the council has 
established a Shareholder Group consisting of the Chief Executive, 
Director of Corporate Services (as the authority’s Section 151 Officer) and 
Monitoring Officer, as well as other officers as the need arises.  Whilst 
there are specific decisions which are delegated to Cabinet for 
determination, other matters can be undertaken by the Leader, in 
consultation with the Shareholder Group; specific terms of reference have 
been established for this group. 

Action 5: With a view to further enhancing the governance environment of 
Rosherville Limited, consideration of the overall governance framework for 
the company, including the appointment of non-executive Director/s to the 
Rosherville Board, will form an AGS recommendation for the council in 
2022-23 as primary shareholder.  

P
age 112



 

  

12: Covid-19  
 
The practical impact of the Covid-19 pandemic for the council presented 
itself in 2020-21, principally via the Coronavirus Act 2020. In response, the 
council actively made plans, preparations and amendments to policy and 
processes, with the following representing only a selection of the measures 
undertaken in 2021-22: 

• Supporting vulnerable residents: including food and fuel grants 
and the administration of a Community Outbreak Management 
Fund and a Household Support Fund. 

• NHS Test and Trace Service: administered over 400 Test and 
Trace grants under the mandatory scheme and over 250 across 
the discretionary scheme in 2021-22. 

• Allocation of business support grants: administration of the 
government’s Additional Restrictions Grant – central to the 
council’s Economic Stimulus Package, Restart Grant and Omicron 
Hospitality and Leisure Grant schemes. 

• Council tax support: administered the government’s Hardship 
Fund and provided further financial support initiatives (e.g. 
Hardship Payments). 

• Support for the homeless in the borough: claimed £81,600 
from government under the Protect Plus and Cold Weather Fund 
which enabled temporary placements into accommodation as well 
essential home starter packs for those in need. 

• Support for council officers and Members: initiatives ranging 
from the launch of a trial Hybrid Working Policy – underpinned by 
new technological advances – through to interventions to support 
the mental health and well-being of council officers. 

 

Full details of the council’s second Covid-19 review were reported to 
Cabinet in 2021-22. 

 13: Review  
 
In compliance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the council 
has responsibility for conducting an annual review of the effectiveness of 
its governance framework, including the system of internal control.  The 
review is undertaken using the established criteria of the CIPFA/SOLACE 
Framework; Delivering Good Governance in Local Government, as 
adopted in the council’s Code of Corporate Governance. In support of the 
framework, the following have been considered in the 2021-22 review: 

• The continued value and effectiveness of the council’s governance 
framework as defined in the Code of Corporate Governance; 

• Reviews carried out by Internal Audit, external auditors and other 
review bodies that scrutinise the systems of internal control;  

• The opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the  
overall control environment from the Head of Internal Audit; 

• The completion of control questionnaires by the Monitoring Officer, 
Chief Financial (s151) Officer and the Head of Internal Audit; and 

• The completion of self-assessment control questionnaires by the 
Chief Executive, Directors, Assistant Directors, Service Managers 
and other key managers within the council. 
 

 
Conclusion: In line with the council’s statutory responsibilities, the 
conclusion to the annual review process for the year ended 31 March 2022 
is that the arrangements in place are considered to be fit for purpose and 
in accordance with the council’s governance framework, with no significant 
areas of concern. The key findings of the annual review form the basis of 
the recommendations made in this 2021-22 AGS to further enhance the 
council’s existing governance and control environment in 2022-23.  
 
This AGS was considered by Management Team on 7 June 2022 and will 
be presented to the Finance & Audit Committee on 19 July 2022. 

P
age 113

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/documents/s66281/Cabinet%20-%20COVID%20Update%20Report%20-%20220221.pdf


14: Plan 
Although not presenting any significant governance and internal control issues, the annual review did present opportunities for enhancement of the council’s 
governance environment. In endorsing this AGS, the Finance and Audit Committee therefore agree to the following activities being delivered in 2022-23:  

Control Action Corporate Plan  

Constitution  

The Constitution is an integral component of the council’s governance framework. 
To ensure it remains up to date regarding legal expectations and accurately 
reflective of the council's governance structure, completion of the next phase of its 
scheduled review should be undertaken, inclusive of key activities such as the 
implementation of revised Contract Procedure Rules. 

#3 Progress 
Successfully manage key business risks: embed a 
culture of compliance with all policy, constitutional and 
legislative demands. 

Corporate Plan 
2023-27: 

Consultation 

An essential component in the council’s governance framework, the Corporate Plan 
sets the tone and direction of travel for the authority over a four-year administration 
period. In advance of the local elections in 2023, to ensure the council’s next 
Corporate Plan is designed in full consideration of the community’s needs and 
expectations of the authority and its core services, the delivery of a full 12-week 
consultation process should be undertaken. 

#3 Progress  
Drive service improvement and corporate 
governance: a robust and benchmarked performance 
management framework, delivered by services 
underpinned with sound internal controls. 

Financial 
Pressures: 

Review 

Given the already existing socio-economic challenges facing the borough and the 
financial position facing the authority as identified in the MTFS, a review or position 
statement of the ‘cost of living crisis’ should be delivered with a view to considering 
both the council’s support interventions and the authority’s planning for the ongoing 
economic challenge ahead. #3 Progress 

Sound financial management: deliver an environment 
of responsible financial management through a robust 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and consistent budget 
monitoring regime. 
 Statement of 

Accounts 

 
During the external audit process in the summer of 2020 relating to 2019/20 
accounts, the accounting treatment relating to the St George’s Centre was raised by 
Grant Thornton, proposing a departure from the methodology adopted and audited 
during the 2018/19 accounts. As such, the authority has not yet secured full 
endorsement to its Statement of Accounts for the 2019-20 and 2020-21 financial 
years. The council will continue to productively engage with Grant Thornton to 
resolve these outstanding matters during the 2022-23 financial year. 
 

Rosherville 
Limited: 

Governance 
framework 

With a view to enhancing the governance environment of Rosherville Limited, 
consideration of the overall governance framework for the company, including the 
appointment of non-executive Director/s to the Rosherville Board, will form an AGS 
recommendation for the council in 2022-23 as primary shareholder.  

#3 Progress 

Develop an entrepreneurial culture: deliver on 
commercial opportunities to generate income and 
provide a social impact. 
 

P
age 114



Certification by Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee 

I confirm that the 2021-22 Annual Governance Statement has been considered and approved by Gravesham Borough Council at the meeting of 

the Finance & Audit Committee on 19 July 2022. 

………………………... 

Councillor Gurbax Singh 

Date………………….. 

Endorsement by the Leader of the Executive and the Chief Executive 

………………………....... ………………………... 

Councillor John Burden Stuart Bobby 

Leader of the Executive Chief Executive 

Date………………………  Date……………………… 

P
age 115



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee 

Date: 19 July 2022 

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Service (Chief Audit Executive) 

Subject: Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Annual Report 2021-22 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To inform Members of the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud work completed during 2021-22 
and to present the opinion of the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, as 
Chief Audit Executive, on the council’s internal control environment. 

Recommendations: 

1. Endorse the work undertaken by the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Service for Gravesham during 2021-22 in providing an effective service to the 
council. 

2. Consider and endorse the opinion on the council’s internal control environment 
provided by the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service. 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities 
to: undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the 
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 
processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local 
authority is responsible for establishing the internal audit service.  
Gravesham Borough Council has delegated this responsibility to 
the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver internal audit 
services through the Shared Service to both authorities. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

An adequate and effective Internal Audit & Counter Fraud function 
provides the council with assurance on the proper, economic, 
efficient and effective use of council resources in delivery of 
services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could 
have an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council. 

Corporate Plan The work of the Internal Audit supports the council in achieving all 
of its objectives set out in the Corporate Plan but is particularly 
relevant to Objective #3 Progress. 

Climate Change  There are no direct climate change implications to this report. 

 
 

Page 117 Agenda Item 9



2 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) require the Chief Audit 
Executive to provide an annual internal audit opinion based on an objective 
assessment of the framework of governance, risk management and control. The 
Annual Audit & Counter Fraud Report 2021-22 has been prepared for the 
authority to meet this requirement. 

1.2 Since 1 March 2016, the council’s internal audit activity has been delivered by the 
Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service with Medway Council. 

2. Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Annual Report 2021-22 

2.1 The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service has provided update reports 
to Members at three meetings of the Finance & Audit Committee during 2021-22.  
This Annual Report reproduces the findings detailed in those Update reports along 
with the results of work finalised since the last Update, to provide Members with a 
summary of all work delivered by the team in the year.  

2.2 The Annual Report is intended to provide Members with sufficient details of the 
results of the work of the team to support the opinion of the Chief Audit Executive 
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the council’s overall control environment.  

2.3 The annual report, which can be found at appendix 2, has been prepared in line 
with the requirements of the PSIAS. 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

3.2 Appendix 2: Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Annual Report 2021-22 

4. Background Documents  

4.1 There are no background documents. 

Lead Officer:  James Larkin 

Email:  James.larkin@medway.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 118



3 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require that: The chief audit executive 
must establish risk-based plans to determine the priorities of the internal audit 
activity, consistent with the organisation’s goals. This report, summarising the work 
of the Audit & Counter Fraud team, provides a key source of assurance for the 
council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its internal control arrangements. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Service provides an independent and objective 
opinion to the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its 
effectiveness in achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the service 
combined with a sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to 
community safety in its broadest sense.. 

Digital and website 
implications 

The council’s performance management framework includes the publication of the 
outturns against the Performance Measures and Indicators in the Corporate 
Business Plan. The proportion of recommendations made by the Audit & Counter 
Fraud Team that are implemented by Management is one of the council’s overall 
Performance Indicators and is therefore reported to the public via the council’s 
Annual Report published on the council’s website.  

The Local Government Transparency Code requires the publication of data relating 
to Fraud Investigation; this is published in line with the requirements on the 
council’s website.   

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report. 

 

Page 119

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council 
 
 
 
 

Audit & Counter Fraud  
Annual Report  

2021-22  
Gravesham Borough Council 

  

Page 121



   Page 2 of 34 

1. Introduction 
The Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was established on 1 March 2016 to provide internal audit 
assurance and consultancy, proactive counter fraud and reactive investigation services to Medway 
Council & Gravesham Borough Council.    

The Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (CIIA) defines internal auditing as: an independent, objective 
assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations. It 
helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to 
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.  The 
Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service combines this role with working alongside the councils to manage 
their fraud risk, including work to prevent, detect and investigate fraudulent activity committed against 
the councils.  The team also acts as the Single Point of Contact between both authorities and the 
Department for Work & Pensions Fraud & Error Service for their investigation of Benefits Fraud.   

In accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards), the Head of Audit & 
Counter Fraud provides Members with update reports detailing the work and findings of the team. The 
Standards also require that the Chief Audit Executive must deliver an annual internal audit opinion and 
report that can be used by the organisation to inform its governance statement. The annual internal 
audit opinion must conclude on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s framework 
of governance, risk management and control. 

2. Independence  
The Audit & Counter Fraud Charter was approved by Gravesham’s Finance & Audit Committee in March 
2021 and sets out the purpose, authority, and responsibility of the team. The Charter sets out the 
arrangements to ensure the team’s independence and objectivity through direct reporting lines to 
senior management and Members, and through safeguards to ensure officers remain free from 
operational responsibility and do not engage in any other activity that may impair their judgement.   

The work of the team during the period covered by this report has been completed with full 
independence as set out in the Charter and standard 1100. The work completed has also been free from 
any inappropriate restriction or influence from senior officers and/or Members.  

Given its responsibilities for counter fraud activities, the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
cannot provide independent assurance over the counter-fraud activities of either council. Instead, 
independent assurance over the effectiveness of these arrangements will be sought from an external 
supplier of audit services on a periodic basis. The most recent of these reviews was undertaken by 
Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council in 2018-19.  

3. Resources 
The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service reports to the Section 151 Officers of Medway 
Council and Gravesham Borough Council.  At the start of the year, the team had an establishment of 14 
officers (13.64FTE), made up of the Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud, two Internal Audit Team 
Leaders, six Internal Auditors (5.78FTE), one Counter Fraud Team Leader, two Counter Fraud Officers 
(1.86FTE), one Audit & Counter Fraud Intelligence Analyst and one Audit & Counter Fraud Assistant. 

The Shared Service Agreement sets out the basis for splitting the available resources between the two 
councils, approximately 64% for Medway with the remaining 36% for Gravesham. At the time the 
Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Plans for 2021-22 were prepared, this establishment was forecasted to 
provide a total of 1,815 days available for internal audit and counter fraud work (net of allowances for 
leave, training, management, administration etc.). The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for 
Gravesham was prepared with a resource budget of 654 days.  

Page 122



   Page 3 of 34 

Following the retirement of the counter fraud assistant and resignation of one Internal Audit Team 
Leader, the service was restructured to reflect the move back to designated roles and redistribute some 
of the responsibilities. The establishment of 14 officers remains, made up of the Head of Internal Audit 
& Counter Fraud, one Internal Audit Manager, one Senior Internal auditor, six Internal Auditors 
(5.78FTE), one Counter Fraud Manager, two Counter Fraud Officers, and two Counter Fraud Intelligence 
Analysts (1.86FTE). Some existing Officers were successful in changing roles within the service and as a 
consequence there were several periods of vacancy while staff were recruited. 

As of 31 March 2021, the net staff days available for Gravesham for 2021-22 amounted to 641 days and 
541 days (84%) were spent on chargeable internal audit and counter fraud work.  Of this chargeable 
time, 322 days (59%) was spent on audit assurance and consultancy work, while 219 days (41%) was 
spent on pro-active counter fraud and investigations work. The current status and results of all work 
carried out are detailed at section five of this report.   

Learning and development needs and objectives were agreed through the Performance Development 
Review (appraisal) process, and delivered through a mixture of formal qualification training, formal skills 
training, job-shadowing/mentoring and ‘on the job’ training. Team meetings have taken place 
throughout the year, both virtually and in person, and all team members have had regular one to one 
meetings with their line manager to monitor progress with work-plans.  

4. Opinion of the Chief Audit Executive  
The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities to ensure that they have: a sound 
system of internal control which— (a) facilitates the effective exercise of its functions and the 
achievement of its aims and objectives; (b) ensures that the financial and operational management of 
the authority is effective; and (c) includes effective arrangements for the management of risk.   

In my capacity as Chief Audit Executive, with responsibility for the provision of internal audit services to 
the council, I am required to provide the organisation, and the Chief Executive, with a statement as to 
my opinion of the adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, internal control, 
and governance processes. This opinion is intended to support the council’s annual governance 
statement. 

The overall scope of Internal Audit work is defined in the Audit & Counter Fraud Charter and the specific 
scope of work for the year 2021-22 was detailed in the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Plan, both of 
which were approved by the Finance & Audit Committee. The Plan cannot address all risks across the 
council, but available resources are focused on the highest areas of risk to the authority and those linked 
to its corporate objectives. There are no specific limits of our scope to report to the Committee. 

The Internal Audit Team operates in accordance with the working practices set out in the Internal Audit 
Manual and work is subject to supervision and quality review. This means we can be satisfied that the 
team has carried out all internal audit work in line with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and in 
accordance with our Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme.   

In forming my opinion, I have considered the outcomes of work completed during the year, which is 
based on the plan agreed by Members on 9 March 2021 and the subsequent amendments to that plan 
that were agreed on 21 September and 10 November 2021 to address changes in resource and risk 
priorities. While placing no specific reliance on sources of external assurance, these have been 
considered alongside the work completed by the Internal Audit Team.    

The council has a duty to manage its resources in a proper, economic, efficient, and effective manner to 
achieve its objectives. It applies internal controls to manage risks to an acceptable level as it is not 
possible to remove risks to achieving these objectives completely. Internal Audit can only provide 
reasonable and not complete assurance of effectiveness. The work completed as part of the Internal 

Page 123



   Page 4 of 34 

Audit & Counter Fraud Plan for 2021-22 is summarised in this report, assessing the effectiveness of 
managing the risks identified by the council, and forms the basis of evidence for my overall opinion.  

In addition to planned assurance reviews, the monitoring of progress to implement agreed actions 
identified in earlier reviews have also been considered. While not all risks have been examined within 
our work programme, I am satisfied that those not directly examined have a sufficient assurance 
approach in place to provide reasonable assurance of effective management.  

While it has been identified that the authority has mainly established adequate internal controls within 
the areas subject to review since my last opinion was issued in July 2021, there are areas where 
compliance with existing controls should be enhanced or strengthened or where additional controls 
should be introduced to reduce the council’s exposure to risk.  Where such findings have been 
identified, actions have been agreed by management to improve the controls within the systems and 
processes they operate. Management have accepted responsibility for the implementation of these 
actions and follow up arrangements are in place to ensure that appropriate action is taken 

I am therefore satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to draw a reasonable conclusion as to the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, system of internal control and 
governance processes. 

Annual Opinion 2021-22 

It is my opinion that during the year ended 31 March 2022, Gravesham Borough Council’s risk 
management, system of internal control, and framework of governance, were sufficient and 
effective, and contributed to the proper, economic, efficient, and effective use of resources in 
achieving the council’s objectives. 

James Larkin 

Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 

5. Results of planned Audit & Counter Fraud work  
The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Plan 2021-22 for Gravesham was approved by the Finance &Audit 
Committee in March 2021. The Plan was intended to provide a clear picture of how the council would 
use the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud resources, reflecting all work planned for the team for 
Gravesham during the financial year including the council’s core finance and governance arrangements, 
operational assurance work, proactive counter fraud work, responsive investigations and consultancy 
services.  

Arrangements to monitor the delivery of planned work is built into the team’s processes with individual 
officer time recording data feeding into an automated performance monitoring workbook; this tracks 
the performance of the team against the shared service work-plan as a whole and enables the 
supervisory staff to plan and support officers to deliver their individual work plans. 

During the course of the year the plan was amended to take into account changes in resource levels 
created by sickness and staff vacancies. Members agreed revisions to the original plan for 2021-22 to 
remove planned reviews of:  

 Performance management Framework & Reporting 

 Project Management – M365 

 Housing Rent Administration & Collection 

 Financial Planning 
 

The tables below provide details of the work from 2020-21 that was finalised in 2021-22, the progress of 
work undertaken as part of the 2021-22 annual plan and the results of investigative work completed.  

Page 124



   Page 5 of 34 

 

Page 125



   Page 6 of 34 

2020-21 Internal Audit Assurance Work Finalised in 2021-22 (items in italics detailed in previous update reports) 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

6 Cyber security 15 14.8 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to protect the council network. 
The review found that the council is broadly compliant with the National Cyber 
Security Council’s 10 Steps to Cyber Security, with appropriate cyber security 
prevention and detection arrangements in place, though there is a need for 
adjustment to some arrangements as a result of changes brought about by the COVID-
19 pandemic. There are appropriate policies and training in place, though 
enhancements are required to arrangements for access and monitoring staff 
completion.  Opinion: .   
Overall Opinion: . Actions: Three high and four medium priority.  
Actions relate to adjustment to arrangements as a result of changes brought about 
by the COVID-19 pandemic and enhancements to arrangements for access and 
monitoring staff completion of training /policies.  

14 Corporate debt 
recovery 

15 18.6 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to identify and recover corporate debts to 
maximise debt collection and prevent reputational damage. 
The review found that the council has an approved Corporate Debt Strategy in place 
containing an agreed criteria for identifying corporate debts and a process map 
outlining the matching/recovery process undertaken through use of data matching 
software. While the data matching software identifies the debt owed by an individual, 
checks of individual systems are still required to ensure the prioritisation criteria 
outlined in the strategy is applied correctly.  
Once a corporate debt has been established, the process involves liaison with the 
customer to assess their situation, determine what support can be provided and 
ultimately agree a payment plan with the approval of the relevant department(s). 
Audit testing confirmed that this process is followed in practice, though corporate debt 
activity was temporarily halted at the height of the COVID-19 pandemic.   
Arrangements exist for payment plans to be monitored and for payments received to 
be allocated in accordance with the Corporate Debt Strategy. Although in practice 
there are clear arrangements for returning corporate debt cases to individual 
departments, these arrangements are not documented within the Corporate Debt 
Strategy or process map.  
There is regular liaison with departmental recovery officers regarding the progress of 
corporate debt cases, however the review identified some inconsistency over the 
location and responsibility for updating records, which presents a risk that not all 

P
age 126



   Page 7 of 34 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

recovery officers will be aware of the most recent action taken in respect of corporate 
debt cases.   
There are appropriate arrangements in place for Management Team to receive 
regular reports on the level of outstanding debt managed by the council. Opinion: 

.   
Overall Opinion: . Actions: One high, one medium and one low priority.  
Actions relate to a review of the debt data matching process and the tools involved, 
including an assessment on the number of potential corporate debt cases and the 
resource required to manage these cases; the process to be followed should 
corporate debt fail to engage with customers and/or payments are stopped being 
documented; and, reviewing the process for updating customer records on relevant 
systems following corporate debt action to ensure all officers have up to date 
information on the status of corporate debt cases.   

19 Traded services - 
Rosherville Ltd 

15 22 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - Gravesham Borough Council have governance and accounting 
arrangements in place to monitor delivery of Rosherville Limited and its subsidiaries. 
The review confirmed that the formation of Rosherville and its subsidiary companies 
have all been approved via the correct governance processes; as have the governance 
arrangements, Board Membership, Article of Association (AOA), formation of a 
shareholder group, and business plans for each company. It was noted that there are 
no Non-Executive Directors as part of the LATCo Board. Roles and responsibility 
training was provided to council Members; however, a review of attendees found that 
not all Directors had received the training.  
There is a Shareholder’s Agreement in place setting out the rights of the council as sole 
shareholder; along with signed SLAs for support services provided by the council. An 
annual review of the SLA has been conducted in accordance with the terms in the 
agreement.  
Appropriate arrangements are in place for Rosherville Ltd and its subsidiaries to be 
invoiced on a quarterly basis for support services provided by the council and evidence 
was seen to confirm this is working in practice.  
Budgets for Rosherville have been appropriately approved and authority delegated to 
the Director (Corporate Services) to operationally manage release of funding. 
Arrangements are also in place for payments to be appropriately authorised and 
processed and a review of the payments made at time of audit found all to have been 
processed correctly.  

P
age 127



   Page 8 of 34 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

It was noted there is currently no framework to provide update reports to the 
shareholder, outside of the annual business plans received by Cabinet. Opinion: 

.   
Overall Opinion: . Actions: One high and two medium priority. 
Actions relate to consideration of the Rosherville Ltd board including the Non-
Executive Directors, training for additional staff on roles and responsibilities, and 
performance reporting from Rosherville to the Shareholder Board. 

 
2021-22 Internal Audit Assurance work (items in italics detailed in previous update reports) 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

Core governance and financial systems assurance work 

1 Governance 
framework 

8 8.9 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - An effective Governance Framework is in place. 
The review found that while a 2019-23 Code of Governance is in place, which 
underpins the council’s objectives and ensures compliance with the CIPFA / SOLACE 
Delivering Good Governance Framework, there is a need for several policies, 
strategies and plans identified as governance mechanisms to be updated.  
There are arrangements in place for an Annual Governance Statement to be compiled 
each year, alongside a review of the council’s governance arrangements.  As part of 
this review, assurance of the effective operation of the council’s governance 
arrangements is sought from a number of sources, including Assurance Statements, 
External Audit / inspection reports and the Opinion of the Chief Audit Executive.  An 
opportunity was identified to enhance the evidence requirements within the 
Assurance Statements.  Arrangements exist for officers with key governance 
responsibilities to contribute to preparation of the AGS and for the AGS to be 
presented to Management Team and approved by the Financel & Audit Committee.  
There was evidence available that this process was followed in relation to the 2020-21 
AGS. Opinion: . 
Overall Opinion: . Actions: Three medium and one low priority. 
Actions relate to the ensuring that documents identified as governance mechanisms 
are kept up to date and regularly checked to ensure this remains the case; including 
tables of amendments in policies, reviewing processes for ensuring business plans 
are completed in full and signed off prior to the start of the year to which they 

P
age 128



   Page 9 of 34 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

relate; and, strengthening evidence requirements in the assurance statements 
which contribute to the AGS. 

2 Constitution 
maintenance 

12 13.2 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - Effective arrangements are in place to maintain Gravesham Borough 
Council’s Constitution. 
The review found that an appropriate Constitution is in place for Gravesham Borough 
Council, which is in line with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2000, as 
amended.  Copies of the Constitution are available online and can be made available 
in print, where requested.  The appointment of an Interim Monitoring Officer, to 
temporarily replace the outgoing Monitoring Officer was agreed on 23 February 2021 
by full Council, though the secondment agreement necessary for this role to be carried 
by a Medway Council employee within the Legal Services Shared Service was 
completed retrospectively during the review.  Appointment of a new Monitoring 
Officer was considered by full Council on 05 October 2021, with it agreed that 
Medway Council’s newly appointed Monitoring Officer be appointed as Gravesham 
Borough Council’s Monitoring Officer also, continuing the previous arrangement.  
Appropriate responsibilities have been identified to ensure that the Constitution is 
maintained and are set out within Articles 1.5 and 15.3 of the Constitution; an 
amendment was identified to clarify the identity of the ‘Proper Officer’ in the context 
of making minor amendments to the Constitution.  Procedures are in place to 
regularly review the Constitution and there is an appropriate process for proposing 
changes, including consultation with relevant officers and Members, and approval in 
line with the requirements of the Constitution.  Audit testing confirmed that this 
process is followed in practice, though it was noted that the documents forming part 
of the Constitution would benefit from either a review date or a table of amendments 
being included. Opinion: . 
Overall Opinion: . Actions: One high and one medium priority. 
Actions relate to a secondment agreement for the new Monitoring Officer being put 
in place and measures being put into place to ensure that the documents that make 
up the Constitution are noted as to when they were updated, or that a table of 
amendments is included. 

3 Risk management 
compliance 

10 10 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to manage operational risks. 
The review found that the council’s Risk Management Strategy 2021-22 was 
presented to Cabinet in March 2021 and sets out the council’s risk management 
processes, including responsibility for operational risk management. Audit testing 
confirmed that managers are aware of the Strategy.  

P
age 129



   Page 10 of 34 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

Arrangements exist for operational risks to be identified, assessed, and recorded in 
Service Risk Registers as part of the annual business planning process. Due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, the business planning process for 2021-22 was postponed but 
there is an action within the council’s 2020-21 Annual Governance Statement for this 
to be reinstated. Due to the postponement of the business planning process, audit 
testing focused on a review of 2020-21 Service Risk Registers and identified some 
inconsistencies in the level of detail recorded within the template, which is designed to 
ensure compliance with the risk management process.  
Risk management training was delivered by Zurich Municipal in December 2017, and 
further training is scheduled for October 2021. It was noted that there are managers 
involved in the business planning process who will not have completed either session.  
Although Business Plans and therefore Service Risk Registers are considered live 
documents and can be reviewed at any time, there is no formal or documented 
process currently in place for registers to be reviewed in the 15 months between 
preparation / submission and the end of the year to which the register relates.   
There are arrangements in place for a compliance check and “sweep” and filter of all 
Service Risk Registers to be undertaken, to identify all high scoring risks, which are 
then shared with Financial Services for awareness when completing the corporate risk 
management process. Risks that are considered to be operational should be 
maintained within the Service Risk Register and managed at a service level. Opinion: 

. 
Overall Opinion: . Actions: One high and two medium priority. 
Actions relate to reviewing the processes in place for assessing and recording 
operational risks; reviewing the arrangements in place for providing consistent risk 
management training to staff; and, reviewing the arrangements in place for 
reviewing Service Risk Registers. 

4 Performance 
management 
framework & 
reporting 

15 N/A Removed from 
plan 

Removal from Plan agreed at the September 2021 Meeting. 

5 Bank 
reconciliation 

10 9.7 Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - Bank reconciliations are carried out accurately and on a timely basis. 
The review found that access to banking systems is appropriately restricted and there 
are appropriate bank signatories in place. Access to banking records on the council’s 
network drive is also restricted but individual access is to be reviewed. There are 
procedure notes in place supporting the bank reconciliation process, however they 
could be more comprehensive to ensure continuity of the process should staffing 

P
age 130



   Page 11 of 34 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

change. There is appropriate segregation of duties within the bank reconciliation 
function, with the officer responsible for the reconciliation having no approval rights 
for the bank accounts and restricted access to the council’s financial systems. There 
are regular and timely reconciliations of the council’s income and expenditure 
between the bank accounts and general ledger and these reconciliations are 
reviewed regularly by a senior officer. Audit testing confirmed that reconciliations are 
carried out and reviewed in a timely manner. Processes are in place for all 
discrepancies to be investigated and promptly resolved, with any ongoing issues 
discussed at monthly meetings. Opinion: . 
Overall Opinion: . Actions: One low priority. 
Action relates to more comprehensive bank reconciliation procedure notes. 

6 Project 
management - 
M365 

15 N/A Removed from 
plan 

Removal agreed by Committee November 2021. 

7 Income collection  15  Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place for the processing and accounting of income 
paid by Direct Debit. 
 

8 Housing benefit & 
CTR appeals 

15 13.4 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 – Arrangements are in place to appropriately process HB and CTR appeals. 
The review found that arrangements are in place to notify claimants and other 
persons affected of their right to request an explanation, request a reconsideration, or 
make an appeal against their HB and/or CTR decision, via an information sheet 
provided with the decision notice. Information is also available to the public regarding 
appeals on the council’s website.  
Administration of HB and CTR reconsiderations and appeals is undertaken in 
accordance with relevant legislation, and there are arrangements in place to record 
and monitor all reconsiderations and appeals received. There are no set timescales for 
the processing of reconsiderations and appeals, however local targets have been set 
and there is evidence that these are being met.  Audit testing confirmed that 
reconsiderations are considered by an independent officer and claimants are notified 
of the decision reached, including their right to appeal if the decision has not been 
changed. Audit testing also confirmed that HB appeals are processed correctly to the 
Tribunal Service by an independent appeals officer. CTR appeals are made directly to 
the Valuation Office by the claimant. A written decision for all appeals is provided by 
the Tribunal Service or Valuation Office, with a copy of the letter sent to the appellant 
and all involved parties. Opinion: . 

P
age 131



   Page 12 of 34 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

Overall Opinion: . Actions: None. 

9 Council Tax 
discounts, 
disregards & 
exemptions 

10 10.6 Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to appropriately administer Council Tax 
discounts, disregards, and exemptions. 
The review found that the Council Tax DDEs available to taxpayers are set out in 
legislation; comparison of a sample of DDEs applied to accounts against the relevant 
legislation found them all to have been appropriately determined. There are 
procedure notes available to support the administration of Council Tax DDEs, 
however it was found there are a number of documents with various review dates. 
There is information regarding Council Tax DDEs available on the council’s website. 
Council Tax enquiries can be made using the relevant phone number and email 
address. Some applications for DDEs can be made via the Council Tax account service, 
and some forms are also available online; the remainder are available as paper forms 
which can be requested. Further audit testing on the sample of DDEs applied to 
accounts found that the majority were supported by appropriate applications and 
documentation, with just minor isolated omissions. It was however identified that 
application forms are not required for all DDEs which could lead to the incorrect DDE 
being applied and make any fraudulent intent harder to prove. Audit testing 
confirmed the DDEs reviewed had been applied correctly and within reasonable 
timescales bearing in mind the COVID-19 pandemic. When DDEs are applied, review 
dates can be added, we were advised that reviews are carried out and some evidence 
of this was seen, however there is not currently a set documented schedule for these 
reviews. There are arrangements in place for DDEs to be removed and any debt to be 
recovered if it is found the taxpayer is no longer eligible. Arrangements are in place 
for a penalty to be considered and applied when necessary. Opinion: . 
Overall Opinion: . Actions: One high, one medium and one low priority. 
Actions relate to a review of the procedure notes/guidance for the administration 
of Council Tax DDEs; a review of applications (including online and paper forms), 
ensuring that appropriate applications are accompanied by a signed application 
form; and, a review of the arrangements in place to review Council Tax DDEs to 
ensure that they remain valid, with these reviews documented. 

10 Housing rent 
administration 
and collection 

15 N/A Removed from 
plan 

Removal from Plan agreed at the November 2021 Meeting. 

11 VAT 10 4.3 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - Effective arrangements are in place to manage the council’s VAT matters. 

P
age 132



   Page 13 of 34 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

The review found officers dealing with VAT have received sufficient guidance / 
training to do so effectively. The Corporate Fair Debt policy had been updated to 
enhance write-on procedures to ensure payments on bad debts have VAT properly 
handled, however this policy has since been superseded by the Corporate Debt 
strategy, which is more strategic in nature. While no specific comments are made 
regarding VAT within the Strategy, it is acknowledged that this scenario is relatively 
rare and would be dealt with when needed.   
Procedures are in place for a digital tax return to be submitted to HMRC, with the 
majority of information pulled directly from the Civica Financial Management System. 
Parallel running was undertaken on implementation of the system and returns are still 
checked manually to ensure they are correct before the final submission is made to 
HMRC. No issues have been identified to date. Procedures are in place to ensure 
appropriate VAT is reclaimed from HMRC and this is fully accounted for, with a 
reconciliation undertaken. Opinion: . 
Overall Opinion: . Actions: None. 

12 Financial planning 10 N/A Removed from 
plan 

Removal from Plan agreed at the February 2022 Meeting. 

Corporate risks assurance work 

13 Planning 
applications (inc 
validations and 
decisions) 

15  Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - Arrangements exist for planning applications to be administered and 
managed in line with legislation and council policy. 

14 Business 
continuity 
planning 

15  Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to ensure the council is undertaking its 
responsibilities in relation to Business Continuity as required by the Civil 
Contingencies Act 2004. 

15 Garden waste 
collection service  

10 9.9 Final report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to manage the council’s garden waste 
collection service. 
The review found that the council’s garden waste collection service is appropriately 
advertised, and the fees and charges are reviewed annually. Customers can arrange 
sign up to the garden waste bin collection service online or via customer services; 
eligibility is established, and payment is taken at the point of application.  
There are appropriate arrangements in place to ensure the information entered at the 
time of application is correctly transposed onto the Collective waste management 
system. Arrangements are also in place to deliver bins, ensure new customers are 

P
age 133



   Page 14 of 34 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

correctly added to the collection schedules and to advise customers of their collection 
dates. Audit testing confirmed these arrangements to be working in practice.  
Procedures are in place to facilitate renewal of subscriptions and renewal reminders 
are sent. Customers that have cancelled the service or do not renew are appropriately 
removed from collection schedules and arrangements made to collect their bin. 
However, at the time of audit there were 869 subscriptions that had not been 
renewed and the garden waste bin had not been returned. 
Arrangements exist for customers to purchase garden waste sacks and there are 
arrangements in place to collect payment and to manage control stock. 
Take-up of the garden waste collection service is monitored via a management 
indicator; income received is monitored through the council’s budget monitoring 
procedures and there are also regular reports to the Operational Services Cabinet 
Committee. Opinion: . 
Overall Opinion: . Actions: One low priority. 
Recommendation relates to arrangements being made for a review of the 
procedures to collect garden waste bins from customers where necessary. 

16 Temporary 
accommodation 

15 17 Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - The provision of temporary accommodation (TA) outside of the area is 
appropriately managed. 
The review found that Section 208 of the Housing Act 1996 provides that 
accommodation, so far as is reasonably practicable, shall be in the local authority’s 
district.  However, there are occasions where this is not possible, and TA must be 
provided outside of the district.  There are a number of points set out in homelessness 
legislation that should be taken into account in determining whether accommodation 
is suitable for homeless applicants, including those placed out of the area.  This along 
with other guidance and best practice was reviewed and compared to the council’s 
processes, which identified some control weaknesses, including the lack of agreed 
policies / procedures.  It was also identified that costs associated with provision of 
temporary accommodation outside of the council’s housing stock are not being 
effectively recovered.  We were advised at the outset of the audit that the newly 
appointed Service Manager had already determined the need for changes to the 
structure of the Housing Options team and also recognised there may be some control 
weaknesses that are yet to be addressed.  A full service review took place in 2021 and 
Management Team approved a restructure which commenced in June 2021 and was 
implemented from October 2021.  This saw introduction of a specific Temporary 
Accommodation Officer role, reporting to a Homelessness & Allocations Team 
Manager and in turn a Housing Options Manager.  These roles have now been 

P
age 134



   Page 15 of 34 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

recruited and we were advised that the new structure will allow for the actions 
identified in this report to be addressed. Opinion: . 
Overall Opinion: . Actions: Eight high and one medium priority. 
Actions relate to the Temporary Accommodation Out of Area Placement policy (or 
an equivalent policy) being agreed and reviewed/signed off regularly; up-to-date 
workflows/procedures for managing temporary accommodation being put in place; 
procedures being reviewed to ensure compliance with the Homelessness Code of 
Guidance for local authorities can be demonstrated relating to the standard / 
suitability of accommodation for out of area placements; and arrangements being 
in put in place to ensure that costs are recovered for all temporary accommodation 
placements outside of the council’s housing stock. 

17 Leaseholder 
management 

10 12.2 Final report 
issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - There are arrangements are in place for the administration of leaseholder 
service charges. 
The review found leaseholder service charges are administered in line with legislation 
and a summary of this legislation is available in the Leaseholders’ Handbook, though 
the handbook requires updating. Responsibility for administering leaseholder service 
charges has been allocated, with procedure guides in place, though it would be 
beneficial for these to be more detailed to enhance resilience. Arrangements exist for 
leaseholder service charges to be set when properties are sold or transferred, with the 
charges and terms set out in the lease. Records are held of all council leaseholders, 
though due to the volume of information, this is currently stored across several 
spreadsheets and work is planned to create a database to compress the information.  
Leaseholder service charges are set in line with the financial year April – March, with 
interim service charges calculated in February of each year, for the forthcoming 
financial year, and quarterly invoices raised for each leaseholder based on these 
amounts. There is not currently any documented guidance or a policy in place setting 
out how interim service charges are calculated.  
In September of each year, arrangements exist for the actual costs for the previous 
financial year to be provided by the relevant services and apportioned to individual 
leaseholder properties, before being used to prepare Certificates of Service Charges 
for each leaseholder, detailing the actual cost of services provided, less the interim 
service charges for that year, to give either the balance due to the council, or the 
refund due to the leaseholder. If a balance is due, an invoice is raised and if a refund is 
due, this is issued to the leaseholder. Audit testing confirmed that Certificates of 
Service Charges are prepared accurately. Arrangements exist for service charge 
disputes to be investigated. There are arrangements in place for leaseholder debt to 

P
age 135



   Page 16 of 34 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

be regularly monitored and for debt to be recovered in line with a debt recovery 
flowchart, which testing confirmed is followed in practice. Leaseholders have a right 
to request a summary of how their service charges have been calculated and to 
inspect the council’s accounts supporting the summary. A management audit can also 
be requested. As far as officers are aware, such as a request has not been received 
and therefore the council’s preparedness for this has not been tested. Opinion: 

. 
Overall Opinion: . Actions: One high and three medium priority. 
Actions relate to the Leaseholders’ Handbook being updated, procedure notes being 
reviewed, the arrangements in place to calculate interim service charges being 
reviewed, and reviewing the arrangements in place to respond to requests to view 
the accounts which can be made available for the inspection of leaseholders. 

18 Housing 
allocations 

15  Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place to manage housing allocations for social 
housing. 

19 HRA building 
compliance 

15 17.5 Final Report 
Issued 

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - The council has arrangements in place to ensure the required safety checks 
are carried out on HRA properties so that the council meets its duties as a landlord. 
The review found the council is aware of the safety checks it is required to undertake 
in accordance with current regulations and legislation. Arrangements, including the 
necessary budget, have been put in place to undertake safety checks. Service 
providers engaged to undertake safety checks have been secured following the 
correct procurement processes. Roles and responsibilities between the council and 
service providers have been clearly identified. Performance targets have been clearly 
defined and cover all key areas of the contracts. Performance targets are monitored 
and reviewed and include regular reporting to management. Procedures are in place 
to report, escalate and resolve any problems. Budget monitoring is undertaken on a 
regular basis. The council holds or has access to appropriate records in relation to the 
checks carried out on its properties and these records contain all information as 
prescribed by current regulations or legislation. Data is held or shared in accordance 
with the Data Protection Act or the General Data Protection Regulations. Opinion: 

. 
RMO2 - The council has arrangements in place to respond to new legislation or 
changes to current legislation. 
The review found there is a process in place to review all government publications for 
upcoming changes to the duties of local authority landlords. Relevant changes are 
identified, and reviews and risks are discussed at senior levels to assess the impact 

P
age 136



   Page 17 of 34 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

they may have on the council. All existing safety work being carried is measured 
against any newly identified requirements. Opinion: . 
Overall Opinion: . Actions: None. 

20 Council housing 
disabled 
adaptations 

15  Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control 

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to appropriately manage disabled 
adaptations to council properties. 

21 GDPR 15  Final Report 
Issued 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - An action plan exists to ensure compliance with GDPR across the council. 
The review found that at the time the audit fieldwork was undertaken, a draft action 
plan had been created to support the development and maintenance of GDPR 
compliant practices within services. Alongside this, work was underway to introduce 
a methodology to help assess each service’s compliance with GDPR and produce a 
series of service level action plans. Significant resourcing issues have however meant 
that recent attention has had to be focused on core activities. As a result, although 
the action plan has been agreed in principle, it has yet to be finalised, with 
responsible officers and implementation dates allocated for delivery of the plan. It is 
understood that once finalised, the plan will be monitored via one-to-one meetings 
and the Information Governance Strategy Group. Opinion: . 
RMO2 - Arrangements are in place for the reporting and monitoring of data 
incidents. 
The review found that there is a suite of policies intended to provide the principles by 
which the council’s information governance arrangements will be directed, though 
there is a need for these to be re-shared with staff. Staff training is appropriately 
referenced in these policies, and there are plans for Data Protection refresher 
training to be rolled out to all staff, however this is not intended to cover detailed 
arrangements for reporting and handling data incidents, nor has training specifically 
relating to this subject been provided to staff previously. The Data Breach Policy is 
comprehensive and includes sections setting out the steps an officer or other person 
concerned should take if a data incident has occurred or may occur. A flowchart is 
also provided which sets out the action that should be taken to report and investigate 
incidents within one hour, four hours, 12 hours, 48 hours, 72 hours, and eight weeks. 
Arrangements exist for Data Incident Notification forms to be completed and 
forwarded to the Information Governance team in order for data incidents to be 
logged; audit testing confirmed that forms are being completed but not always in 
accordance with the required timescales. The Data Breach Policy is clear on the 
requirement for a Breach Owner to be nominated and a Data Breach Team compiled 
to assess the seriousness of and investigate incidents, including liaising with relevant 

P
age 137



   Page 18 of 34 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

officers in relation to whether the Information Commissioner’s Office should be 
notified of the incidents. Processes for recording the outcome of investigations are 
however currently unclear and it was difficult to establish if the agreed process had 
been followed, beyond submission of the Data Incident Notification form, for the 
sample reviewed. There are arrangements set out in the Data Breach Policy for 
incidents to be assessed for lessons learned and all incidents are classified and 
discussed at Information Governance Strategy Group meetings. There is not currently 
a formal stage built into the data incident handling process to follow-up on incidents 
and the action that has been taken, though this is identified as an action within the 
GDPR action plan discussed above. Opinion: . 
Overall Opinion: . Actions: Four high and one medium priority. 
Actions relate to the GDPR action plan being finalised; the most up to date versions 
of the Information Governance policies being shared with staff; planned training to 
be reviewed to consider the need for specific training on data incident handling; 
and, a review of the forms and processes in place to capture data incidents, to 
ensure a   complete record is available of the incident and action taken. 

22 Corporate 
complaints 

15  Fieldwork 
complete, in 
quality control 

The review considered the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - Arrangements are in place for the handling and processing of corporate 
complaints.   

23 Waste & Recycling 
Collection Service 

15  Final Report 
Issued 

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to manage the council’s domestic waste & 
recycling collection service. 

24 Accessibility 
Regulations 

15 15.1 Final Report 
Issued 

The review will consider the following Risk Management Objective: 
RMO1 - There are arrangements in place to ensure compliance with the Public 
Sector Bodies (Websites and Mobile Applications) (No. 2) Accessibility Regulations 
2018. 
The review found that appropriate arrangements have been put in place to check for 
and fix accessibility issues on the council’s main website, gravesham.gov.uk; an 
accessibility statement which is reviewed and updated regularly is also in place.  The 
Central Digital and Data Office (CDDO) has been monitoring a sample of public sector 
websites including the council’s main website, checking this against the WCAG 2.1 AA 
standards.  Following the check in August 2021 the council was advised that based on 
the testing, the site was partially compliant with WCAG 2.1 AA.  The council was given 
12 weeks to review the issues and report back on the actions taken, which was 
completed in November 2021.  At the time of audit, the Silktide App used to monitor 
accessibility of the council’s main website indicated an accessibility score ranked as 
‘excellent’, which had consistently been the case for some time.  There are 

P
age 138



   Page 19 of 34 

Ref Activity Day budget Days used Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

arrangements in place to ensure that new content added to the council’s main 
website meets the Accessibility Regulations and training and additional software for 
staff is planned to assist with ensuring content is accessible at the point of creation.  
Although the above arrangements are in place for the council’s main website, there 
are several other council-linked websites which do not currently have an accessibility 
statement, nor are there arrangements to check and fix accessibility problems in 
accordance with the Accessibility Regulations and CDDO guidance.  The staff intranet 
also requires an accessibility statement. Opinion: . 
Overall Opinion: . Actions: One medium and two low priority. 
Actions relate to reviewing and updating a web accessibility action plan, 
investigating / agreeing arrangements for websites other than the main council 
website to be made compliant with the Accessibility Regulations and publishing an 
accessibility statement on the council’s intranet to explain that it is currently 
exempt from the regulations. 

25 Finalisation of 
2020-21 planned 
work  

20 19.9 Complete All reviews from 2020-21 have been finalised and outcomes reported to the 
Committee. 

26 Responsive 
assurance work  

13 2.6 Complete Please refer to the table below for information relating to responsive assurance 
activity. 

 

Responsive Assurance Activity (items in italics detailed in previous update reports) 

Activity Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

Election Result Calculations The team carried out detailed checks to ensure the accuracy of spreadsheets used to verify the ballots 
issued and calculate the results of the County & PCC elections as well as the Local Bi-Election held in May.  

Business Restart Grant Validation Independent validation to confirm that Business Restart Grant funding had been spent in accordance with 
the conditions set by the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) 

 

Other consultancy services including advice & information (items in italics detailed in previous update reports) 

Client service area Services provided 

Town Twinning Association The team carried out an audit of the Gravesham Town Twinning Association’s accounts. 

Right to Buy A review of the Right to Buy application process has commenced, with a view to confirming that there are 
arrangements to ensure compliance with the General Data Protection Regulations. 

P
age 139



   Page 20 of 34 

Client service area Services provided 

Rosherville A review of the processes for splitting costs between the council and Rosherville Servicing Ltd has 
commenced, with a view to confirming that accounting arrangements are accurate. 

 
Counter Fraud Activity  

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget 
Days 
used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions agreed 

 Counter fraud 
proactive work (inc 
external data 
matching such as NFI 
& KIN) 

42 72.2 Active A significant amount of resource has been dedicated to the review of data matches 
received from both the 2019-20 and 2020-21 NFI exercises, many of which led to 
investigations, the results of which are detailed in the table for ‘Reactive Investigations 
work: external investigations’. Full details relating specifically to the results of the NFI 
Exercise will be included in the NFI annual report.  
Potential discrepancies highlighted by the activity of the Kent Intelligence Network (KIN) 
have also resulted in investigations that have identified commercial premises not included 
in the ratings list, which have resulted in new business rate liabilities.  

 Fraud awareness 5 0 N/A Due to staff shortages, there has been no fraud awareness training during the year. 

 
Reactive Investigations work: external investigations 

Area 
Number of 

referrals 
rejected 

Number of 
investigations 

concluded 
Summary of results 

Cashable 
Savings 

Non-cashable 
Savings 

Prevented 
Losses 

Business Rates 2 15 Three cases resulted in creation of new NNDR 
liability. 
12 cases concluded with no evidence of fraud. 

£24,458.11 N/A N/A 

Business Grants 4 12 One cases resulted in recovery of an incorrectly 
paid grant.  
11 cases concluded with no evidence of fraud. 

£10,000 N/A N/A 

Council Tax 16 261 135 cases were concluded with changes to the 
council tax discount/exemption, 22 of which 
also resulted in the issue of a civil penalty.  
127 cases were concluded with no evidence of 
fraud. 

£145,096.20 
(Historic 
Liability)  
£67,062.30 
(Additional 
liability for 
future years) 
£1,610 (Civil 
Penalties)  

N/A N/A 

P
age 140



   Page 21 of 34 

Area 
Number of 

referrals 
rejected 

Number of 
investigations 

concluded 
Summary of results 

Cashable 
Savings 

Non-cashable 
Savings 

Prevented 
Losses 

CTRS 10 24 Nine cases resulted in corrections to the council 
tax reduction award, one of which also resulted 
in a civil penalty. 
12 cases were concluded with no evidence of 
fraud. 

£16,508.34 
(Historic 
Liability)  
£8,697.90 
(Additional 
liability for 
future years) 
£70 (Civil 
Penalty)  
£2,913.65 (HB 
Overpayments) 

N/A N/A 

Housing Allocations 3 0 Three referrals rejected as insufficient 
information to justify investigation. 

N/A N/A N/A 

Right to Buy 1 1 One case concluded with no evidence of fraud. N/A N/A N/A 

Tenancy 3 8 Two cases resulted in the recovery of a council 
property. 
One case resulted in changes to the council tax 
discount, leading to the issue of a civil penalty. 
Five cases concluded with no evidence of fraud 

£1,033.24 
(Historic 
Liability)  
£321.79 
(Additional 
liability for 
future years) 

 

N/A N/A 

 
Reactive Investigations work: internal investigations (items in italics detailed in previous update reports) 

Allegation Investigation activity & actions 

 Three cases concluded with no case to answer 

P
age 141



   Page 22 of 34 

6. Quality Assurance & Improvement Programme  
The Standards require that: The chief audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and 
improvement programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity. A Quality Assurance & 
Improvement Programme (QAIP) has been prepared to meet this requirement.  The Audit & Counter Fraud 
Shared Service QAIP for 2021-22 was agreed by Gravesham’s Finance & Audit Committee in March 2021.  

The arrangements set out in the QAIP have been implemented with the collection and monitoring of 
performance data largely automated through the team’s time recording and quality management processes.  It 
should be noted that the results recorded below have not been subjected to independent data quality 
verification.  

In line with the QAIP, the team monitor performance against a suite of 24 performance indicators. Performance 
targets have been set for 12 of the 24 indicators and outturns presented are those as of 31 March 2022.   

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for report period 
    

Non LA Specific Performance Measurements  
    

A&CF1 Cost of the Audit & Counter Fraud Service N/A  

Total Cost £546,759 (Budgeted cost £600,574) 

LA Share £198,398 (Budgeted cost £209,667) 

A&CF2 Cost per A&CF day £400 £326 

A&CF3 Proportion of staff with relevant professional 
qualification: 

75%  

Relevant audit qualification 21% 

Relevant counter fraud qualification 36% 

A&CF4 Proportion of non-qualified staff undertaking 
professional qualification training   

25% 28% 

A&CF5 Time spent on CPD/non-professional 
qualification training, learning & 
development 

70 days  83 days 

A&CF6 Compliance with PSIAS 100% Our January 2019 self- assessment showed 
full compliance with 94% of the standards, 
partial compliance with a further 4% and 
work required to address the remaining 
2%.  
Work to address the areas that require 
improvement has been delayed due to 
reallocation of resources during the covid 
pandemic and a number of periods of staff 
vacancy.  

A&CF7 Staff turnover N/A N/A 
    

LA Specific Performance Measurements  
    

A&CF8  Average cost per assurance review £5,000   £4,274 

A&CF9  Proportion of available resources spent on 
chargeable work  

85% 84% 

A&CF10 Proportion of chargeable time spent on: N/A  

assurance work 58% 

consultancy work 1% 

A&CF11 Proportion of chargeable time spent on:  N/A  

Page 142



   Page 23 of 34 

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for report period 

proactive counter fraud work  14% 

reactive counter fraud work 27% 

A&CF12 Proportion of productive time spent on SPOC 
associated duties 

N/A 29 days 

A&CF13 Proportion of agreed assurance assignments: 95%  

Delivered  90% 

Underway 10% 

A&CF14 Proportion of completed reviews subject to a 
second stage (senior management) quality 
control check in addition to the primary 
quality control review 

10% 10% 

A&CF15 Proportion of actions agreed by client 
management 

90% 100% 

A&CF16 Number of actions agreed that are: N/A  

Not yet due 14 

Implemented 44 

Outstanding 19 

A&CF17 Proportion of agreed actions implemented by 
agreed date 

N/A 70% 

A&CF18 Number of referrals received N/A 297 

A&CF19 Number of investigations closed N/A 325 

A&CF20 Value of fraud losses identified, by fraud type: N/A  

Cashable (losses that can be recovered) £287,843 

Non-cashable (notional savings based on 
national estimates) 

£186,000 

Prevented losses (savings associated with 
blocked applications) 

£0 

A&CF21 Customer satisfaction with individual 
review/assignment 

95% 100% 
Four responses received in relation to 
separate reviews, three scoring ten out of 
ten and one scoring eight out of ten. 

A&CF22 Customer satisfaction with overall service 95% 90% 
The annual survey asked those who had 
received services form internal audit in the 
last two years to rate their satisfaction on 
a scale of one to ten. Scores of 8 or higher 
are considered to be positive satisfaction. 
14 people responded to the annual survey, 
ten of which had received services from 
internal audit in the last two years, and 
nine respondents scored eight or higher.  

A&CF23 Member satisfaction with assurance provided 
(based on Chair of Audit Committee 
contribution to Appraisal of the Head of 
Audit & Counter Fraud role 

Positive  

A&CF24 Statement of external audit Positive External Audit report by exception and 

Page 143



   Page 24 of 34 

Ref Indicator Target Outturn for report period 

have raised no issues with the Head of 
Internal Audit & Counter Fraud. 

  

Page 144



   Page 25 of 34 

7. Follow up of agreed actions 
Where the work of the Internal Audit team finds opportunities to strengthen the council’s risk management, 
governance and/or control arrangements, the team make and agree actions for improvement with service 
managers.  The Standards require that a follow-up process is established: to monitor and ensure that 
management actions have been effectively implemented or that senior management has accepted the risk of 
not taking action. As with all audit work, resources should be prioritised based on risk.  

Service managers are asked to provide an update on steps taken towards implementing all agreed actions due 
on a monthly basis and are also asked to supply evidence to confirm that High priority actions have been 
implemented, which is verified by the Internal Audit Team.   

The first of the two tables below sets out the position of all agreed actions which have formed part of the 
follow-up process during the 2021-22 financial year. There are two requests for changes to actions previously 
agreed; 

The second table details agreed actions that were more than six months over their planned implementation 
date as at 31 March 2022 (this includes any that have not been implemented by their revised implementation 
dates); along with an update from the relevant Service Manager/Assistant Director/Director. 

  

Page 145



   Page 26 of 34 

Status of Agreed Actions (as of 31 March 2022) 

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title 

Overall opinion and number of actions of each priority agreed with 
management 

Proportion of actions due for implementation 
where a positive management response has been 

received 

Use of 
Enforcement 
Services 

Opinion:  
Three actions agreed: one high, one medium and one low priority.  
Actions relate to the council’s Corporate Fair Debt Policy being circulated to all 
relevant staff, the council’s procedures and policy in respect of vulnerable 
debtors being reviewed and shared with the  Enforcement Agents, Debt 
Collection Agents and Sheriffs used, and appropriate agreements being put in 
place for all enforcement services, including expected performance 
arrangements then being put in place for performance to be monitored in line 
with the agreement, including documenting any meetings held. 

Three actions due, two implemented.  
One high priority outstanding relating to 
appropriate agreements being put in place for all 
enforcement services, including expected 
performance arrangements then being put in 
place for performance to be monitored in line with 
the agreement, including documenting any 
meetings held. 

Business Continuity 
– IT Backup 
Arrangements 

Opinion:  
Two high priority actions agreed.   
Actions relate to the introduction of a test schedule to comply with requirement 
of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the IT Disaster Recovery Plan being 
updated and reviewed in line with the overarching Business Continuity Plan. 

Two actions due, two implemented. 
 

Tenancy 
Enforcement 

Opinion:  
Three high priority actions agreed.   
Actions relate to the introduction of procedure guidance for staff, directly 
relating to tenancy enforcement, to ensure consistency of action and that 
accurate records are maintained; reviewing training available for Housing 
Officers; and, ensuring tenancies are ended promptly on the housing 
management system and a consistent approach is followed when transferring 
tenancies, with approval for any significant overlaps.  

Three actions due, three implemented.  
 

Unauthorised 
Encampments 

Opinion:  
Two medium priority actions agreed. 
Actions relate to the provision of diversity-based training to officers and 
implementing procedures to archive/delete data they no longer require. 

Two actions due, two implemented.  
 

Fraud Focused 
Review of Flexi, 
TOIL & Overtime 

Opinion:  
Four high priority actions agreed. 
Actions relate to creating a central flexi / TOIL guidance document and 
circulating this to staff, reminding line managers of their role in checking time 
recording sheets on a regular basis to ensure there are no contraventions to the 
guidance, the creation of a local policy on overtime based around the guidance 
in the Green Book and any council additions to this, and service managers being 
reminded of this guidance. 

Four actions due, four implemented.  

P
age 146



   Page 27 of 34 

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title 

Overall opinion and number of actions of each priority agreed with 
management 

Proportion of actions due for implementation 
where a positive management response has been 

received 

Apprenticeship 
Scheme 

Opinion:  
Five actions agreed: two high, two medium and one low priority. 
Actions relate to a strategy being produced to document the aims and objectives 
of the council’s  apprenticeship scheme and how these will be achieved; a 
process being put in place to ensure that apprenticeships are promoted and 
considered at the earliest stage of recruitment; the Apprenticeship Policy being 
reviewed and updated, arrangements being put in place for the apprenticeship 
spreadsheet to be monitored and updated regularly, and arrangements being 
made for checks to be undertaken of all payments to and from the 
Apprenticeship Service Account to ensure accuracy. 

Five actions due, two implemented.  
One high and two medium priority outstanding 
relating to a strategy being produced to document 
the aims and objectives of the council’s  
apprenticeship scheme and how these will be 
achieved; a process being put in place to ensure 
that apprenticeships are promoted and considered 
at the earliest stage of recruitment; and the 
Apprenticeship Policy being reviewed and updated. 

Payroll 
Establishment, 
Payments & 
Deductions 

Opinion:  
Two medium priority actions agreed.  
Actions relate to probationary periods being monitored to ensure increments are 
correctly applied, and instructions received to add or amend allowances being 
checked to ensure they are at applied at the correct level. 

Two actions due, two implemented. 

Fraud Focused 
Review of Lone 
Workers  

Opinion:  
Six actions agreed: Four high and two medium priority. 
Actions relate to reviewing and updating the procedures linked to the lone 
working policy, officers being reminded of the need to include sufficient details 
of diarised visits, managers being reminded of their responsibilities for contacting 
officers working away from the office, records of visits being maintained after the 
event to enable validation of timesheets and mileage claims, a reminder for staff 
undertaking lone working duties to perform security checks prior to visits, 
including checking the unacceptable behaviour register as appropriate, and 
managers undertaking regular quality control checks of visits. 

Six actions due, three implemented. 
Two high and one medium priority outstanding 
relating to reviewing and updating the procedures 
linked to the lone working policy; managers being 
reminded of their responsibilities for contacting 
officers working away from the office; and 
managers undertaking regular quality control 
checks of visits. 

Fraud Focused 
Review of Staff 
Leave Booking 

Opinion: .  
Three recommendations agreed: One high and two medium priority. 
Recommendations relate to guidance being updated to include descriptions of all 
various types of leave; detailing those which are deducted from leave 
entitlement and those which are not, deadlines, deadlines being included with 
annual instruction to book bank holidays and ex-gratia day, and managers at all 
levels ensuring bank holidays for staff and themselves are booked. 

Three actions due, three implemented.  
 

Member Standards Opinion: .  
Three actions agreed: Two medium and one low priority. 
Actions relate to the Member training requirements included in the Constitution 
being reviewed for consistency, arrangements being put in place to maintain a 

Three actions due, two implemented.  
One medium priority outstanding relating to 
Member training requirements included in the 
Constitution being reviewed for consistency 

P
age 147



   Page 28 of 34 

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title 

Overall opinion and number of actions of each priority agreed with 
management 

Proportion of actions due for implementation 
where a positive management response has been 

received 

central log of attendance at Planning & Licensing training, including 1-1 sessions, 
to ensure ‘refresher’ training is provided to Committee Members at the 
appropriate frequency, and the point of contact for declaring gifts and hospitality 
being clarified and the Member Gifts and Hospitality register being retained in 
accordance with the requirements of the Member Code of Conduct.   

Capital Accounting 
(HRA)  

Opinion: . 
One low priority recommendation agreed.  
Recommendation relates to arrangements for documenting the approval and 
evaluation of CP1 forms being reviewed. 

One action due, one implemented.  

Shared Services Opinion: .  
One high priority action agreed. 
Action relates to a review of all Shared Service Agreements. 

One action due, none implemented. 
One high priority outstanding relating to a review 
of all Shared Service Agreements. 

IT Asset 
Management 

Opinion: . 
Five high priority recommendations agreed. 
Recommendations relate to arrangements being made for the IT Asset Register 
to be reviewed for accuracy and completeness; regular independent reviews of 
the IT Asset Register being carried out, including physical checks of IT assets to 
ensure they are still held by the intended users; ensuring there is a robust 
process for identifying staff leavers; ensuring IT assets are recovered when staff 
leave the council and that the IT Asset Register is promptly updated; an accurate 
record being prepared of all unallocated IT assets and regular reconciliations 
taking place to ensure this record is accurate and up to date, with all 
discrepancies investigated and reported as appropriate; and, all sales/disposals 
of IT assets being undertaken in accordance with the ICT Disposals Policy 

Five actions due, five implemented. 

Private Housing 
Enforcement 

Opinion: . 
Four high and two medium priority actions agreed. 
Actions relate to private Housing procedures being written  and tailored to 
ensure they reflect local priorities; the team investigating digitalisation of Private 
Housing enforcement processes, including making best use of the systems 
available and moving away from paper files, as well as well as reviewing 
arrangements to ensure the Public HMO Register is accurate; arrangements 
being put in place to facilitate the timely renewal of HMO licences and for 
enforcement action to be taken where this is not the case; arrangements being 
put in place to ensure the council is able to take robust private housing 
enforcement action; the necessary work to facilitate the introduction of Civil 

Four actions due, one implemented. 
Three high priority outstanding relating to 
arrangements being put in place to facilitate the 
timely renewal of HMO licences and for 
enforcement action to be taken where this is not 
the case; arrangements being put in place to 
ensure the council is able to take robust private 
housing enforcement action; and the necessary 
work to facilitate the introduction of Civil Penalties 
being progressed. 
 

P
age 148



   Page 29 of 34 

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title 

Overall opinion and number of actions of each priority agreed with 
management 

Proportion of actions due for implementation 
where a positive management response has been 

received 

Penalties being progressed; and, the service exploring alternative means to hold 
the landlord forums and otherwise engage with landlords 

Cyber Security Opinion: .  
Seven actions agreed: three high and four medium priority.  
Actions relate to adjustment to arrangements as a result of changes brought 
about by the COVID-19 pandemic and enhancements to arrangements for access 
and monitoring staff completion of training /policies.  

Seven actions due, seven implemented.  
 

Corporate Debt 
Recovery 

Opinion: .  
Three actions agreed: one high, one medium and one low priority. Actions relate 
to a review of the debt data matching process and the tools involved, including 
an assessment on the number of potential corporate debt cases and the resource 
required to manage these cases; the process to be followed should corporate 
debt fail to engage with customers and/or payments are stopped being 
documented; and, reviewing the process for updating customer records on 
relevant systems following corporate debt action to ensure all officers have up to 
date information on the status of corporate debt cases.   

Three actions due, two implemented.  
One high priority outstanding relating to a review 
of the debt data matching process and the tools 
involved, including an assessment on the number 
of potential corporate debt cases and the resource 
required to manage these cases. 
 
 

Traded Services – 
Rosherville Ltd 

Opinion: .  
Three actions agreed: one high and two medium priority.  
Actions relate to consideration of the Rosherville Ltd board including the Non-
Executive Directors, training for additional staff on roles and responsibilities, and 
performance reporting from Rosherville to the Shareholder Board. 

Three actions due, two implemented. 
One medium priority outstanding relating to 
training for additional staff on roles and 
responsibilities. 

Garden Waste 
Collection Service 

Opinion . 
One low priority action agreed. 
Action relates to arrangements being made for a review of the procedures to 
collect garden waste bins from customers where necessary. 

One action due, one implemented. 

Constitution 
Maintenance 

Opinion:  
Two actions agreed: One high and one low priority. 
Actions relate to a secondment agreement for the new Monitoring Officer being 
put in place and measures being put into place to ensure that the documents 
that make up the Constitution are noted as to when they were updated, or that a 
table of amendments is included. 

Two actions due, one implemented. 
One high priority outstanding relating to a 
secondment agreement for the new Monitoring 
Officer being put in place. 

Governance 
Framework 

Opinion . 
Four actions agreed: three medium and one low priority. 
Actions relate to the ensuring that documents identified as governance 
mechanisms are kept up to date and regularly checked to ensure this remains the 
case; including tables of amendments in policies, reviewing processes for 

Four actions due, three implemented. 
One low priority outstanding relating to including 
tables of amendments in policies. 

P
age 149



   Page 30 of 34 

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Review title 

Overall opinion and number of actions of each priority agreed with 
management 

Proportion of actions due for implementation 
where a positive management response has been 

received 

ensuring business plans are completed in full and signed off prior to the start of 
the year to which they relate; and, strengthening evidence requirements in the 
assurance statements which contribute to the AGS. 

Leaseholder 
Management 

Opinion: . 
Four actions agreed: One high and three medium priority. 
Actions relate to the Leaseholders’ Handbook being updated, procedure notes 
being reviewed, the arrangements in place to calculate interim service charges 
being reviewed, and reviewing the arrangements in place to respond to requests 
to view the accounts which can be made available for the inspection of 
leaseholders. 

Three actions due, none implemented. 
One high and two medium priority outstanding 
relating to the Leaseholders’ Handbook being 
updated, procedure notes being reviewed, the 
arrangements in place to calculate interim service 
charges being reviewed, and reviewing the 
arrangements in place to respond to requests to 
view the accounts which can be made available for 
the inspection of leaseholders. 

Risk Management 
Compliance 

Opinion: . 
Three actions agreed: One high and two medium priority. 
Actions relate to reviewing the processes in place for assessing and recording 
operational risks; reviewing the arrangements in place for providing consistent 
risk management training to staff; and, reviewing the arrangements in place for 
reviewing Service Risk Registers. 

Three actions due, three implemented.  
 

Temporary 
Accommodation – 
Out of Area 
Placements 

Opinion Red. 
Eight actions agreed: Seven high and one medium priority. 
Actions relate to the Temporary Accommodation Out of Area Placement policy 
(or an equivalent policy) being agreed and reviewed/signed off regularly; up-to-
date workflows/procedures for managing temporary accommodation being put 
in place; procedures being reviewed to ensure compliance with the 
Homelessness Code of Guidance for local authorities can be demonstrated 
relating to the standard / suitability of accommodation for out of area 
placements; and arrangements being in put in place to ensure that costs are 
recovered for all temporary accommodation placements outside of the council’s 
housing stock.  
 

One action implemented before report finalised. 
No other actions due before 31 March 2022. 

 

  

P
age 150



   Page 31 of 34 

Actions outstanding more than six months after scheduled implementation date (as of 31 March 2022) 

Directorate Audit & 
Counter Fraud 

Review title 

Recommendation Priority Planned 
Implementation 

Date 

Management Update 

Corporate 
Services 

Use of 
Enforcement 
Services 

Appropriate agreements should be 
put in place for all enforcement 
services, including expected 
performance. Arrangements should 
then be put in place for 
performance to be monitored in 
line with the agreement, including 
documenting any meetings held. 

High 31 December 2019 

Revised  

31 March 2022 

Although outstanding as of 31 March 2022, this 
action has now been completed. 

Communities Apprenticeship 
Scheme 

A strategy should be produced to 
document the aims and objectives 
of the council’s apprenticeship 
scheme and how these will be 
achieved. 

 

High 31 December 2020 

Revised  

31 March 2022 

A Strategy has been drafted and will be presented 
to Management Team for approval before the end 
of July. 

Communities Apprenticeship 
Scheme 

The Apprenticeship Policy should 
be reviewed and updated. 

Medium 31 December 2020 

Revised  

31 March 2022 

Although outstanding as of 31 March 2022, this 
action has now been completed. 

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Lone 
Workers 

The corporate ‘model’ procedures 
in the lone working policy should 
be reviewed and updated to 
incorporate frequent contact with 
lone workers. 

High 31 August 2021 
2021 

Although outstanding as of 31 March 2022, this 
action has now been completed. 

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Lone 
Workers 

Managers with responsibility for 
lone workers should be reminded 
of their responsibilities to make 
contact with officers who have not 
returned at scheduled times and of 
the need to implement procedures 
to make regular contact with those 
conducting visits to multiple 
premises over a period of several 
hours. 

High 31 August 2021 
2021 

Although outstanding as of 31 March 2022, this 
action has now been completed. 

P
age 151



   Page 32 of 34 

Communities Fraud Focused 
Review of Lone 
Workers 

Managers should undertake 
regular quality control checks to 
ensure lone workers are 
performing the visits recorded and 
detail this action as part of 
performance management in 1-2-1 
records 

Medium 31 August 2021 
2021 

Although outstanding as of 31 March 2022, this 
action has now been completed. 

Corporate 
Services 

Corporate Debt 
Recovery 

A review of the debt data matching 
process and the tools involved in 
this should be undertaken, 
including an assessment on the 
number of potential corporate 
debt cases and the resource 
required to implement processing 
of these cases. 

High 31 August 2021 
2021 

Although outstanding as of 31 March 2022, this 
action has now been completed. 

  P
age 152



   Page 33 of 34 

8. Update on 2022-23 Planned Internal Audit Work 

Ref Activity 
Day 

budget  
Days 
Used 

Current status Opinion, summary of findings & actions made 

1 IT Security & Access 
Controls 

  Terms of Reference 
being prepared 

 

2 Communications Strategy   Terms of Reference 
being prepared 

 

3 NNDR Reliefs   Terms of Reference 
being prepared 

 

4 Right to Buy   Terms of Reference 
being prepared 

 

5 Procurement Compliance   Fieldwork underway The review will consider the following risk management objective: 
RMO1 - Processes are in place to ensure the council complies with 
the requirements of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and the 
council’s own Contracts Procedure Rules. 

6 Planning Obligations   Fieldwork underway The review will consider the following risk management objectives: 
RMO1 - Planning obligations are appropriately used to ensure that 
development does not adversely impact the borough. 
RMO2 - Appropriate monitoring is undertaken of all planning 
obligation agreements. 

8 Whistleblowing   Terms of Reference 
being prepared 

 

9 Void Property 
Management 

  Fieldwork underway The review will consider the following risk management objective: 
RMO1 - There are appropriate arrangements for void properties to 
be managed. 

10 Food Safety Inspections 
(rating scheme) 

  Fieldwork underway The review will consider the following risk management objective: 
RMO1 - There are appropriate arrangements in place to manage 
whistleblowing. 

P
age 153



   Page 34 of 34 

 

Definitions of audit opinions 
 

 – Risk 
management operates 
effectively, and objectives 
are being met 

Expected controls are in place and effective to ensure risks are well 
managed and the service objectives are being met. Any errors 
found are minor or the occurrence of errors is considered to be 
isolated. Actions made are considered to be opportunities to 
enhance existing arrangements. 

 

– Key risks are 
being managed to enable 
the key objectives to be 
met 

Expected key or compensating controls are in place and generally 
complied with ensuring significant risks are adequately managed 
and the service area meets its key objectives. Instances of failure 
to comply with controls or errors / omissions have been identified. 
Improvements to the control process or compliance with controls 
have been identified and actions have been made to improve this. 

 

– Risk management 
arrangements require 
improvement to ensure 
objectives can be met 

The overall control process is weak with one or more expected key 
control(s) or compensating control(s) absent or there is evidence 
of significant non-compliance.  Risk management is not considered 
to be effective and the service risks failing to meet its objectives, 
significant loss/error, fraud/impropriety or damage to reputation.  
Actions have been made to introduce new controls, improve 
compliance with existing controls or improve the efficiency of 
operations. 

 

 

Recommendation Priorities 

High Action addresses a significant weakness to enable the achievement 
of key objectives. 
 

Medium Action addresses a weakness identified that is not critical to the 
achievement of objectives. 
 

Low Action is a system enhancement or improvement to the efficiency 
of the service.  
 

 

 

Page 154



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance & Audit Committee 

Date: 19 July 2022 

Reporting officer: James Larkin, Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared 
Service (Chief Audit Executive) 

Subject: Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Annual Surveys 2021-22 

Purpose and summary of report:  

This report informs Members of the results of the surveys aimed at identifying the level of 
satisfaction with the services provided by the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Teams. 

Recommendations: 

1. The Committee is recommended to note the results of the Internal Audit & 
Counter Fraud satisfaction surveys. 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The Accounts & Audit Regulations 2015 require local authorities 
to: undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the 
effectiveness of its risk management, control and governance 
processes, taking into account public sector internal auditing 
standards or guidance.  The Section 151 Officer of a local 
authority is responsible for establishing the internal audit service.  
Gravesham Borough Council has delegated this responsibility to 
the Section 151 Officer of Medway Council to deliver internal audit 
services through the Shared Service to both authorities. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

An adequate and effective Internal Audit & Counter Fraud function 
provides the council with assurance on the proper, economic, 
efficient and effective use of council resources in delivery of 
services, as well as helping to identify fraud and error that could 
have an adverse effect on the financial statements of the council. 

Corporate Plan The work of the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud supports the 
council in achieving all of its objectives set out in the Corporate 
Plan but is particularly relevant to Objective #3 Progress. 

Climate Change  There are no direct climate change implications to this report. 

 
 

Page 155 Agenda Item 10



2 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (Standards) require that: The chief 
audit executive must develop and maintain a quality assurance and improvement 
programme that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity.  

1.2 On 15 February 2021, the Finance & Audit Committee approved the Quality 
Assurance & Improvement Programme (QAIP) prepared to meet this requirement 
in 2021-22, which included a target for ‘customer satisfaction with overall service’. 

1.3 Surveys should be undertaken annually but the last survey was conducted at the 
end of 2018-19. Due to the impact of the covid pandemic, it was not possible to 
conduct the surveys at the end of 2019-20 and 2020-21. 

1.4 The survey conducted at the end of 2018-19 related to the Internal Audit & 
Counter Fraud Service as a whole but a different approach has been taken for 
2021-22 given the move to separate Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Teams within 
the service.  

1.5 A survey was issued to Senior Officers and Members within the organisation to 
determine client satisfaction with the services received from Internal Audit, while a 
separate survey was issued to all staff and members in relation to counter fraud 
activity to determine client satisfaction with services received and also the level of 
fraud awareness across the organisation.  

1.6 Due to the different approach, we are unable to make direct comparisons across 
all questions with the previous survey but will be able to do so in future reports. 

2. Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Surveys 2021-22 

2.1 The Internal Audit survey was designed to determine satisfaction with services 
received and also take a more detailed look at specific areas, including,  

 general awareness of the internal audit team, 

 communication, 

 the internal audit workplan, and  

 compliance with the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) Core 
Principles. 

 
2.2 The results of the survey were largely positive, with good general awareness of 

the Internal Audit Team and available services, the balance of work in the internal 
audit plan and good overall satisfaction with services available and services 
received. Some issues around communication were identified, as well as 
perceived non-compliance with core principles. 

2.3 Appendix 2 provides the detailed results of the responses received in relation to 
the internal audit survey. 

2.4 The Counter Fraud survey was also designed to determine satisfaction with 
services received and take a more detailed look at specific areas, including, 

 General awareness of the counter fraud team, 

 Communication, 

 Fraud awareness, 

 Reporting concerns, and 

 Compliance with core principles 

Page 156



3 

 
2.5 The results of the survey were largely positive, with good levels of satisfaction for 

services received. Awareness of the team and fraud awareness in general was 
the biggest issue identified, however, given the changes in the service and 
redeployments during the pandemic that have resulted in a lack of awareness 
training, this was anticipated. Some perceived non-compliance with core 
principles was also noted. 

2.6 Appendix 3 provides the detailed results of the responses received in relation to 
the counter fraud survey. 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

3.2 Appendix 2: Internal Audit satisfaction survey results 2021-22 

3.3 Appendix 3: Counter Fraud satisfaction survey results 2021-22 

4. Background Documents  

4.1 There are no background documents. 

Lead Officer:  James Larkin 

Email:  James.larkin@medway.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 157



4 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment The work of the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service, provides a key 
source of assurance for the council on the adequacy and effectiveness of its 
internal control arrangements. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Service provides an independent and objective 
opinion to the organisation on the control environment, by evaluating its 
effectiveness in achieving the organisations’ objectives. The work of the service 
combined with a sound internal control environment has a positive contribution to 
community safety in its broadest sense.. 

Digital and website 
implications 

There are no direct Digital or Website implications to this report.   

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no direct safeguarding implications to this report. 

 

Page 158

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


 

Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council 
 

 Internal Audit 
Satisfaction Survey  

2021-22 

 
Gravesham Borough Council 

  

Page 159



1 Introduction 

1.1 The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service (IA&CF) was established on 1 March 2016 to provide 
internal audit assurance and consultancy, proactive counter fraud and reactive investigation services to 
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council.  

 
1.2 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (the Standards) require the service to develop and maintain a 

Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme (QAIP) that covers all aspects of the internal audit activity, 
which is designed to enable an evaluation of the internal audit activity’s conformance with the Standards and 
an evaluation of whether internal auditors apply the Code of Ethics. The QAIP also assesses the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the internal audit activity and identifies opportunities for improvement. 

 
1.3 A wider satisfaction survey was recently issued to all Service Managers, Senior Management, and elected 

Members for each council to seek views on their overall satisfaction with the service provided by the Internal 
Audit Team. The option was also given to cascade the invite to supervisors and team leaders where 
appropriate. 

2 Executive Summary  

2.1 The results of the survey are positive and indicate that clients are satisfied with the services available from the 
Internal Audit Team, with 71.4% providing a positive score; clients are also satisfied with the overall service 
received, with 90% of those confirming receipt of services from the Internal Audit Team in the last two years, 
providing a positive score.  
 

2.2 There are a number of positives to be drawn from the survey results, not least of which is the apparent 
improvement of perceived compliance with the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) Core Principles. 
The last time a wider satisfaction survey was undertaken in 2018-19, there were responses indicating that 
people disagreed with compliance with five of the ten principles, but this has reduced to three. 

 

2.3 It was extremely pleasing to note that despite the sudden changes forced upon the service by the Covid-19 
pandemic, there have been no apparent issues with the ability contact the Internal Audit team, however, 
there is clearly still work required in relation to the team’s own communication about its work.  

 
2.4 The majority of respondents are happy with the current balance of the type of work undertaken, although a 

number still indicate they would prefer to see more in-depth audits on the plan, with a greater day allocation; 
despite the fact this would result in less coverage across the organisation. The change in approach to the 
2022-23 plan now gives the Internal Auditors more freedom to set a day allocation that fits with the work 
identified, so it is hoped that this will address some of the concerns associated with these responses.  

 
2.5 The majority of respondents continue to feel sufficiently involved in the preparation of the plan, although 

there was still one respondent who did not feel that they were sufficiently involved but could not provide any 
comment on how to improve this. The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud (HIACF) will continue to consult 
with services as much as possible to ensure senior management have involvement in preparation of the 
annual plans. 

 
2.6 There continues to be room for improvement in relation to compliance with the IIA Core Principles as there 

were still a small number of negative responses but also a large number of neutral responses, suggesting that 
the service could do more to demonstrate compliance.  

3 Survey Results 

3.1 The survey was designed to focus on six keys areas: 
 

 Awareness of the Internal Audit Team   

 Communication 

 The Internal Audit Plan 

Page 160



 Compliance with the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) Core Principles  

 Overall Satisfaction with Internal Audit services 
 

3.2 There were 14 responses on behalf of Gravesham and a breakdown of the respondent’s roles and the area of 
the council they work in are shown in the tables below. 

 

Role Number of respondents 

Chief Executive / Director / Assistant Director / Chief Officer 4 

Service Manager 4 

Other Manager / Supervisor / Team Leader 1 

Elected Member 5 

Total 14 

 

Directorate Number of respondents 

Chief Executives Office 0 

Communities 3 

Corporate Services 5 

Environment 0 

Housing 2 

N/A - Elected Member 4 

Total 14 
  

 
3.3 It should be noted that not all respondents answered all questions, so the detailed results that follow are not 

all based upon 14 responses.  
 
Awareness of the Internal Audit Team  

 
3.4 Several questions were asked aimed at identifying whether respondents had a good understanding of the role 

of internal audit, the services available from the team and which services they felt added the most value to 
the council, with the following responses received.  

 
3.5 Respondents were asked: On a scale of 1-10 (1 = strongly disagree – 10 = strongly agree), how much do you 

agree or disagree that you have a good understanding of the role of Internal Audit? 
 

3.6 The scores received ranged from 4 to 10, with an average of 8.36 across the 14 responses.  
 

 
 

3.7 Respondents were provided with lists of both assurance and consultancy services and were asked to indicate 
which of the services they were aware that the Internal Audit team provides.  
 

  

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

Respondents

Sc
o

re

Page 161



Assurance Services 
 

 Planned assurance audits (Intended to help evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, 
control and governance processes within a particular service or function – Identified by IA&CF as part of a 
periodic risk assessment). 

 Responsive assurance audits (As above but identified by IA&CF in response to a new or emerging risk). 

 Validation of grant claims / data / procurement awards. 
 

 
 
Consultancy Services 
 

 Consultancy audits (Intended to provide suggestions to improve the effectiveness of risk management, 
control and governance processes within a particular service or function – Requested by management). 

 Attendance at corporate working / project groups to provide advice relating to risk management, control, 
and governance matters. 

 Ad-hoc advice / information / training relating to risk management, control, and governance matters. 

 Acting as an independent ‘critical friend’ when requested in relation to service changes. 
 

 
 

3.8 Respondents were then asked to rank those services in the order they felt added the most value to the 
council. 57.1% of respondents ranked planned assurance audits as adding the most value, while acting as an 
independent critical friend and ad-hoc advice/information/training were the next highest first choices with 
14.3% each. Responsive assurance audits were not the first choice of any respondent but were second choice 
for 64.3%.  
 

3.9 Attendance at corporate working groups was the only service not to appear in the top two choices of any 
respondent and was ranked as last choice by 14.3% of respondents. 
 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14

None of these

Validation of grant claims / data / procurement awards

Responsive Assurance Audits

Planned Assurance Audits

Assurance Services

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

None of these

Acting as an independent critical friend

Ad-hoc advice/information/training

Attendance at Corporate Working/Project Groups

Consultancy Audits

Consultancy Services

Page 162



 
 
Communication 
 

3.10 With the increase in remote working, there was concern that there may be a drop in engagement from client 
services in the event that the Internal Audit team was not easily contactable or readily available to respond to 
requests for advice. The questions were designed to establish which communication methods were the 
preferred option to make contact with the Internal Audit team, and also establish whether there had been any 
issues/barriers for anyone who had tried to make contact with the team. 
 

3.11 Respondents were asked how they would most likely make contact with the Internal Audit team if they ever 
had need and were provided with six options, producing the following results. 

 

 
 

3.12 Six respondents indicated that they would make contact with the HIACF, while three indicated that they would 
seek out a member of the team in the office and two indicated that they would email the Internal Audit team 
mailbox. All other options received one vote each. 
 

3.13 Respondents were then asked to indicate their preferred method of interacting with the Internal Audit team.  
 

 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14

other

Seek out a member of the team in the office

Email the team at internalaudit.team@medway.gov.uk

Phone/email/teams chat with a specific Internal Auditor

Phone/email/teams chat with Internal Audit
Manager/Senior Internal Auditor

Phone/email/teams chat with the Head of Internal Audit &
Counter Fraud

Most likely method of contact

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14

Other
Email

Telephone
Teams call or chat

Face to face in an office

Preferred contact methods

Page 163



 
3.14 The majority of respondents, eight out of 14, indicated that their preferred method would a Microsoft Teams 

call or chat, with a few opting for face to face in the office or email. Interestingly nobody selected telephone. 
 

3.15 Nine respondents indicated that they had had cause to contact the Internal Audit team in the last two years 
and all responded ‘yes’ when asked if they were able to do so easily. 
 
The Internal Audit Plan 
 

3.16 The Internal Audit Plan is now approved by Members on a six-monthly basis and is aimed at the highest areas 
of risk in the council, which is based on a comprehensive risk assessment. The questions asked were designed 
to identify whether respondents feel that they are adequately consulted as part of that assessment, whether 
they feel the plan focuses on the right areas and whether the types of work included achieve the right 
balance. 
 

Question: Do you feel that you are sufficiently involved in the preparation of 
the Internal Audit Plan? 

Number of respondents  

Yes 13 

No 1 

 

Question: Do you feel that the Internal Audit Plan is focused on the right areas? Number of respondents  

Yes 12 

No 2 

 
3.17 Since the last survey in 2018-19, there has been a greater focus on consultation with services about their 

perceived risks and any concerns raised are factored into the internal audit risk assessment that is used to 
inform the plan.  
 

3.18 The majority of respondents confirmed that they are happy with their involvement in the preparation of the 
Internal Audit Plan. Those responding with ‘no’ were invited to leave comments on how they felt it could be 
improved and these are detailed below, along with responses from the HIACF on behalf of the service. 
 

Comment received: Really not sure. 
 

HIACF response: There are opportunities to provide input during the consultation process but if you are not 
part of these meetings, I’m happy to receive information directly or have a discussion about perceived risk 
areas. 
 

 
3.19 The majority of respondents also confirmed that they feel the plan is focused on the right areas. Again, those 

responding with ‘no’ were invited to leave comments, which are detailed below, along with responses from 
the HIACF on behalf of the service. 

 

Comment received: Seems to go over the same areas and yet when had a potential fraud issue that wanted 
investigating a few years back the team didn't have the time. 
 

HIACF response: It is true that previously there was a cyclical element to the internal audit plan that 
focused on key areas. We have made changes this year to remove the cyclical elements and have a plan 
that is truly risk based, so we shouldn’t be going over the same areas repeatedly, unless there continues to 
be significant control risk concerns. 
With regards to the fraud issue, I would need to know more details to be able to comment properly but we 
have made a number of changes over the last few years to improve the counter fraud services, which are 
separate from internal audit. 
 

 

Page 164



3.20 Planned assurance audits form the largest proportion of the Internal Audit Plans but there are also allowances 
for responsive assurance and consultancy work. Questions were asked about the Internal Audit Plan for 2021-
22 to understand how respondents felt about the type of work undertaken. 

 

Question: Thinking about the 2021-22 Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Plan, do 
you feel the council would benefit from? 

Number of respondents 

More in-depth audits, with more days available to complete the review (would 
result in less areas being reviewed) 

3 

Less in-depth audits, with less days available to complete the review (would 
result in more areas being reviewed) 

0 

I’m happy with the current balance 11 

 

Question Again, thinking about the 2021-22 Internal Audit & Counter Fraud 
Plan, do you feel that the resources dedicated to planned work and allowances 
for responsive work achieve the right balance? 

Number of respondents  

Yes 12 

No 2 

 
3.21 The results indicate that the majority are happy with the balance of the type of assurance audits being 

undertaken, although some indicated a desire for fewer, more in-depth audits. The majority also indicated 
that they are happy with the balance of planned and responsive work, with the two respondents replying ‘no’ 
indicating that they would rather see less planned work and more responsive allowances on the plan.  
 
Compliance with the IIA Core Principles 

 
3.22 The Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) Core Principles articulate internal audit effectiveness and 

should be present and operating effectively at all times. While the service feels it complies with these 
principles, views were sought to identify the extent to which those independent of the service agree.  
 

3.23 As part of the 2018-19 survey, the ten IIA Core Principles were expressed as statements and respondents were 
asked to confirm to what extent they agreed or disagreed with each statement and all 11 either strongly 
agreed, agreed, or provided a neutral response for five of the statements. The statements respondents 
disagreed with were as follows: 

 

 The team is objective and free from undue influence (two respondents) 

 The team is in the right part of the council and has enough resources to effectively carry out its role (one 
respondent). 

 The team communicates effectively about their role in supporting the council (two respondents). 

 The team provides risk-based assurance on the effectiveness of council processes to help it achieve its 
objectives (one respondent) 

 The team is insightful, proactive, and future-focused in their work (one respondent). 
 
3.24 For the 2021-22 survey, the same statements were provided, and respondents were again asked to confirm to 

what extent they agreed or disagreed with each statement. 
 

Page 165



 
 

3.25 All 14 respondents either strongly agreed, agreed, or provided a neutral response for seven of the statements. 
While we are unable to confirm whether these responses are from the same respondents as in 2018-19, it 
does show some improvement. However, there were still negative responses in relation to independence, 
aligning the work with the objectives of the council and communication, so there is still room for further 
improvement.  
 

3.26 It is hoped that the new approach to planning for 2022-23 will provide more clarity over how the work is 
aligned with council priorities as it now shows links to corporate risks. Clearly there are still perceived issues in 
relation to communication and this forms part of our ongoing improvement work and forms part of individual 
targets for officers. It is disappointing to still see some disagreement about the independence of the service, 
however the survey neglected to include an option to provide comments on these responses, so there is no 
further information available to determine why the respondent has this opinion.  
 
Overall Satisfaction with Internal Audit Services 

  

3.27 Questions relating to overall satisfaction asked respondents to score from one (completely dissatisfied) to ten 
(completely satisfied). Any scores of eight or above are considered to be positive satisfaction. 
 

3.28 As it was possible that not all respondents would have interacted with the Internal Audit team during the 
previous two years, respondents were first asked to provide a satisfaction score in relation to the support and 
services that are available from the Internal Audit team.  
 

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14

Promotes organisational improvement through their work

Is insightful, proactive, and future focused in their work

Provides risk-based assurance on the effectiveness of council
processes to help it achieve its objectives

Communicates effectively about their role in supporting the
council

Demonstrates quality and continuous improvement in their
work

Is in the right part of the council and has enough resources to
effectively carry out its role

Aligns their work with the strategies, objectives, and risks of
the council

Is objective and free from undue influence (independent)

Demonstrates competence and due professional care in their
work

Demonstrates integrity in their work

Strongly Agreen Agree Neither agree no disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree

Page 166



 
 

3.29 The majority of respondents scored eight or higher, with four scoring six or seven. This gave an average score 
of 8.21 and represents positive satisfaction from 71.4% of the responses received. 
 

3.30 The ten respondents who confirmed having received services from the Internal Audit team in the last two 
years were asked to score their overall satisfaction with the service received.  

 

 
 
3.31 Nine of the ten respondents scored eight or higher, with the remaining one scoring six, giving an average score 

of 8.7 and representing positive satisfaction from 90% of the responses received.  
 

Other Feedback 
 

3.32 At the conclusion of the survey respondents were asked: Do you have any other comments that may help us 
improve / develop the service? 
 

3.33 The comments received are detailed below, along with responses from the HIACF on behalf of the service. 
 

Comment received: During pandemic period Audit team spend lot of time providing help to other 
departments. 
 

HIACF response: It is true that staff from both internal audit and counter fraud spent time providing help to 
other services during the pandemic, but all staff have returned to their substantive roles.  
 

 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Respondents

Sc
o

re

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Respondents

Sc
o

re

Page 167



Comment received: Only tiny gripe can sometimes be the large period of radio silence from fact finding 
exercises to getting a draft report. A little more conversation would negate the need to go back and correct 
work later on. This isn't always the case - just in some audits I've had more recently. 
 

HIACF response: The team experienced a number of staff vacancies during 2020-21 and into 2021-22, 
particularly at a senior level, which created a significant backlog in the quality control phase of the audit 
process. Since vacancies have been filled, we have been working hard to clear this backlog and are hopeful 
that our new structure will ensure that we do not end up in this position in the future.  
However, internal auditors should be keeping in contact with clients to keep them up to date with the 
situation during any audit, so this is something that will be addressed as part of the ongoing work on 
communication. 
 

 

Page 168



 

Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
Medway Council & Gravesham Borough Council 
 

 Counter Fraud 
Satisfaction Survey  

2021-22 

Gravesham Borough Council 

  

Page 169



1 Introduction 

1.1 The Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service was established on 1 March 2016 to provide internal audit 
assurance and consultancy, proactive counter fraud and reactive investigation services to Medway Council & 
Gravesham Borough Council.  

 
1.2 As part of our commitment to continually improve the Service, surveys are undertaken to gauge the level of 

satisfaction from client services. The previous survey combined internal audit & counter fraud and was sent to 
a limited distribution but as the officers no longer work in multi-disciplinary roles, it was felt appropriate to 
undertake a survey solely on counter fraud services, which was issued to all council employees and elected 
Members. 

2 Executive Summary  

2.1 The level of response to the survey was good with 51 responses received, which were spread across most 
Directorates within the council, including some from elected Members. The results however indicate that 
there are a number of areas to be addressed.  
 

2.2 Of the 51 responses received, 39 (71%) provided a neutral or negative score when asked about their 
awareness of the counter fraud team and the services available and 36 (70%) indicated that they have not had 
any fraud awareness training in the last five years.  

 
2.3 Such responses were anticipated, although not in quite such high numbers, due to (but not limited to) the fact 

that prior to the shared service resources were mainly focused on the investigation of housing benefit fraud, 
so there would have been minimal interaction with other services within the council, and the impact of covid, 
which has hindered the ability to deliver fraud awareness training or cultivate working relationships with new 
services. The early phases of the shared service with officers working in multi-disciplinary roles across both 
internal audit and counter fraud has also likely caused some confusion over the responsibilities of each team. 
 

2.4 The move to hybrid working does not appear to have caused any barriers to communication. Those who 
responded to advise they had had difficulty in contacting the team were asked to provide details of the barrier 
to communication, but no barriers were descried, just a lack of feedback on a referral.  
 

2.5 Although the majority of respondents advised they had not had fraud awareness training in the last five years, 
there is a clear desire to have such training with 37 (72.5%) indicating that they or their team would benefit 
from fraud awareness training. Presentations at team meetings, face to face workshop sessions and online 
training were the highest choices for the type of training delivery and 19 respondents provided details of their 
team/service so that specific fraud risks could be factored into training.  

 
2.6 A lack of awareness is a key thread throughout the results with a lot of respondents not aware of all the areas 

of fraud covered by the team and 13 respondents (25.5%) indicating that they are not satisfied they know 
what sort of concerns can be reported to the counter fraud team.  

 
2.7 The core principles adopted by the team were expressed as statements with respondents asked to indicate 

how much they agreed the team demonstrated compliance. The vast majority of respondents provided 
neutral responses in relation to the statements, which is likely attributed to the fact that many do not know 
enough about the team but there were a small number of negative responses in relation to all statements. 
There is no way to identify respondents to ask further questions and obtain context to the answers for most of 
the statements and establish whether there are common issues to address; however, communication, 
promoting organisational improvement and being in the right part of the council with enough resource to be 
effective received the largest number of negative responses. 

 
2.8 Overall, the satisfaction with services available received a somewhat neutral score of 7 out of ten but those 

who had received services from counter fraud within the last two years gave positive feedback in 75% of 
responses. 

 

Page 170



2.9 This is the first survey to be conducted specifically in relation to counter fraud and it is clear that there is a 
significant amount of work for the team to do in order to raise their profile and general awareness of fraud 
across the council. The counter fraud plan for 2022-23 already outlines some of the work intended to be 
completed as part of that process and the results of the survey provide a baseline on which to measure 
improvement as we move forward and start to conduct surveys on an annual basis.  

3 Survey Results 

3.1 The survey was designed to focus on six keys areas, which are listed below, 
 

 Awareness of the Counter Fraud Team, 

 Communication, 

 Fraud Awareness, 

 Reporting concerns, 

 Compliance with core principles, and 

 Overall Satisfaction with Counter Fraud. 
 

3.2 There were 51 responses on behalf of Gravesham and a breakdown of their roles is shown in the tables below, 
 

Role Number of respondents 

Chief Executive / Director / Assistant Director / Chief Officer / Service Manager 4 

Other Manager / Supervisor / Team Leader 12 

Other Council Employee 30 

Elected Member 5 

Total 51 

 

Division Number of respondents 

Chief Executives Office 1 

Communities 14 

Corporate Services  14 

Environment 6 

Housing 10 

N/A - Elected Member 6 

Total 51 

 
3.3 It should be noted that not all respondents have answered all questions, so the detailed results that follow are 

not all based upon 51 responses.  
 
Awareness of the Counter Fraud Team 

 
3.4 Several questions were asked aimed at identifying whether respondents had a good understanding of the role 

of counter fraud, the services available from the team and which services they felt added the most value to 
the council, with the following responses received, 

 
3.5 Respondents were asked: On a scale of 1-10 (1 = strongly Disagree – 10 = Strongly agree), How much do you 

agree that you have a good understanding of the role of the Counter Fraud Team? 
 

Page 171



 
 

3.6 The results show a varied response with 15 respondents (29%) scoring eight or higher suggesting they have a 
relatively good understanding, while the remaining 36 (71%) scored seven or lower and eight of those scoring 
three or less.  
 

3.7 Respondents were provided with a list of services and were asked to indicate which of the services they were 
aware that counter fraud provided. 

 

 
 

3.8 Respondents were then asked to rank those services the order they felt added the most value to the council. 
Reactive investigations, pro-active fraud work, and fraud awareness, were ranked highest with 23 (45.1%), 14 
(27.5%) and 12 (23.5%) respondents (respectively) selecting these services as their first choice. Ad-hoc 
advice/information and attendance at corporate working groups ranked lowest with 30 (58.8%) and 17 
(33.3%) respondents (respectively) ranking them as last choice, with attendance at working groups not being 
selected as any of the first three choices. 
 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Respondents

Sc
o

re

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

None of these

Ad-hoc advice / information relating to fraud risks and
concerns around suspected fraud

Attendance at corporate working groups (advice on fraud
risks in the delivery of corporate projects / initiatives)

Fraud Risk Assessments (assessments in nationally recognised
high risk areas, to assess the level of residual risk when…

Fraud awareness (activities to increase awareness of the risk
of fraud among staff)

Proactive fraud work (pro-active exercises to identify fraud
and error)

Reactive fraud investigations (investigations into referrals of
suspected fraud or irregularity)

Page 172



 
 

3.9 Collectively these results are a little concerning, with more a large number of respondents indicating they 
know very little about the counter fraud team or its work, but not necessarily surprising due to a number of 
factors.  
 

3.10 Firstly, prior to the shared service resources were primarily focused on the investigation of housing benefit 
fraud, although activity was starting to be undertaken in some other areas from 2014-15, so there would have 
been a limited level of interaction with other services within the council. Secondly, the way the counter fraud 
services were delivered in the early years of the shared service, and also the impact of covid, hindered the 
ability to deliver fraud awareness training or cultivate working relationships with new services.  
 
Communication 

 
3.11 With the increase in remote working, there was concern that there may be a drop in engagement from client 

services or a reduction in referrals in the event that the counter fraud team was not easily contactable or 
readily available to respond to requests for advice. The questions were designed to establish which 
communication methods were the preferred option to make contact with the counter fraud team, and also 
establish whether there had been any issues/barriers for anyone who had tried to make contact with the 
team. 
 

Question: Do you know how to contact the Counter Fraud team about fraud 
related issues? 

Number of respondents 

Yes 36 

No 15 

 

Question: Over the last two years, if you have had cause to contact the Counter 
Fraud team regarding a fraud matter, were you able to do so easily? 

Number of respondents 

N/A 39 

Yes 8 

No 4 

 
3.12 The four respondents who indicated difficulties in making contact were asked to advise what caused the 

difficulties and the following comments were received, 
 

No feedback to the fraud referral. 

I don’t know what their contact details are, nor do I know what works in the team. 

 
3.13 The comments received support the fact that awareness of the service is below where we would want and 

expect it to be, although this does not suggest there are barriers to communication. The comment regarding 
feedback on a referral is not necessarily due to a barrier in communication and is something that was 
addressed separately in the survey.  
 

Page 173



3.14 Respondents were then asked: If you have contacted the Counter Fraud team in the last two years (for 
anything other than submission of a fraud referral), how did you do so? 

 

 

3.15 Of the 12 responses to this question, only eight had been in contact with the team over the last two years and 
there was a reasonably even spread across the forms of communication, with the exception of seeking out a 
member of the team in the office.  
 

3.16 Respondents were then asked to indicate their preferred method of interacting with the counter fraud team. 
 

 
 

3.17 52.9% (27) of respondents indicated that email would be their preferred method of contact and a further 
27.5% (62) indicated that they would opt for a Teams call / chat. 
 
Fraud Awareness 

 
3.18 As well as awareness of the service, it is important that staff across the organisation have a good 

understanding of fraud risks within their own services and the organisation as a whole, and how this 
potentially impacts on the council’s ability to deliver services.  
 

3.19 The work of the counter fraud team is underpinned by the council’s counter fraud and corruption strategy. 
Respondents were asked the following, 

 

Question: Were you aware that the council has a Counter Fraud & 
Corruption Strategy? 

Number of respondents 

Yes 48 

No 3 

 

Question: Have you seen / read the Counter Fraud & Corruption Strategy? Number of respondents 

Yes 32 

No 16 

 

0 1 2 3 4 5

Other

No contact

Sought out a member of the team in the office

Email to the team mailbox
investigation.team@medway.gov.uk

Phone/email/teams chat with another member of the team

Phone/email/teams chat with the Counter Fraud Manager

Phone/email/teams chat with the Head of Internal Audit &
Counter Fraud

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Other

Email

Telephone

Teams call or chat

Face to face in an office

Page 174



3.20 The next series of questions were centred specifically around whether the respondents had had any fraud 
awareness training, who it was delivered by and how it had been delivered, to try and gauge a general level of 
awareness across the organisation.  
 

Question: Have you had any fraud awareness training in the last five years? Number of respondents 

Yes 15 

No 36 

 

 
 

 
 

3.21 In addition, respondents were asked whether they had gained any fraud awareness via other means, which 
identified the following,   
 

 
 

3.22 Respondents were then asked whether they felt their service would benefit from awareness training. 
 

Question: Do you feel that you / your team / service would benefit from 
fraud awareness training? 

Number of respondents 

Yes 37 

No 14 

 
3.23 The responses received indicate that there is an insufficient level of fraud awareness across the organisation 

at present but there appears to be willingness to understand more, with 37 respondents (72.5%) confirming 
that they or their team/service would likely benefit from awareness training.  
 

3.24 In anticipation of requests for training, the 37 respondents who answered yes were provided with a list of 
options for training delivery, these being,  

 A general face to face workshop on fraud awareness 

 Presentation at your team meeting, specific to the fraud risks associated with your area of work. 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

An external provider

Counter Fraud Team

Training delivered by

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Webinar

Online Training

Presentation (Team meeting or wider session)

Workshop session

Training delivered via

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Other

Adhoc discussion with fraud officers

fraud assurance review in service area

No

Page 175



 Online training you can complete at a convenient time. 

 A Webinar session, 
and were asked to rank them in terms of what they felt would be most useful / appropriate, with the following 
results. 

 

 
 

3.25 Presentations delivered at team meetings, general face to face workshops and online training were most 
popular with 14 (37.8), 12 (32.4%) and 11 (29.7%) respondents listing these as their first choice. Webinar 
sessions were the least popular with nobody listing it as first choice and 18 respondents (48.6%) listing this as 
their last choice. Respondents were algo given the opportunity to list any other means of training, with a 
webinar specific to the fraud risks associated with the respondent’s work being listed. 
 

3.26 Respondents were also given the opportunity to provide the details for their team/service area that they felt 
would benefit from training and 19 respondents chose to do so, who were all spread across a number of 
service areas/teams. This provides a wide range of areas to be considered for specific training sessions. 

 
Reporting Concerns 

 
3.27 The vigilance of staff is key to identifying potential fraud and concerns should be reported to the counter fraud 

team for consideration of investigation. Over the last few years, the majority of investigations have been 
generated by data matching activity, such as NFI, rather than coming from individuals within the organisation. 
A series of questions were asked to establish the level of understanding around what could be reported, how 
it could be reported, and for those that had reported concerns in the past, how they had done so and whether 
feedback had been received. 
 

3.28 Respondents were first asked questions to determine their understanding of what concerns could be 
reported. 
 

Question: Are you satisfied that you know what type of concerns can be 
reported to the Counter Fraud team? 

Number of respondents 

Yes 38 

No 13 

 
3.29 Respondents were then provided with a list of areas that the counter fraud team may be called upon to 

investigate fraud / irregularity and asked to indicate which, if any, of them they were aware of prior to the 
survey. 

 

Area 
Number of 

respondents 
replying ‘Yes’ 

Number of 
respondents 
replying ‘No’ 

Council Tax 48 3 

Business rates 39 12 

Housing Allocations 38 13 

Homelessness 26 25 

Housing tenancy 39 12 

Right to Buy 32 19 

Page 176



Procurement 27 14 

Insurance 32 19 

Finance 43 8 

Internal staff matters 33 18 

 
3.30 These results show that the majority of respondents are aware of the types of concerns could be reported, 

and at least half of respondents seemingly aware of the areas covered by the counter fraud team, although 
there were some high percentages of people unaware of certain fraud types investigated, which is useful 
when targeting fraud awareness training.  

 

Question: Do you know how to report concerns / suspicions of fraud / 
irregularity to the Counter Fraud team? 

Number of respondents 

Yes 35 

No 16 

 

Question: Over the last two years have you have you reported any 
concerns / suspicions of fraud / irregularity to the Counter Fraud team? 

Number of respondents 

Yes 6 

No 45 

 
3.31 Around a third of respondents indicated that they did not know to report concerns to the counter fraud team 

and only 6 (11.8%) confirmed having submitted a referral in the last two years. The fact that so many are 
unclear on how to report concerns and a number are not aware of some of the areas covered by counter 
fraud, is an indicator that there may be a number of potential issues that have not been reported simply 
because people did not know they could. 
 

3.32 For those that had reported concerns further questions were asked about how they did so, and the feedback 
received. 

 

 
 

Question: Did you receive feedback in relation to your referral? (Within the 
limits of what is permitted to be disclosed)? 

Number of respondents 

Yes 3 

No 3 

 

Question: If yes, had you specifically requested such feedback? Number of respondents 

Yes 0 

No 3 

 

Question: Even if you hadn’t specifically requested it, would you have 
expected to receive feedback in relation to your referral? (Within the limits 
of what is permitted to be disclosed)? 

Number of respondents 

0 1 2 3 4 5

via the online reporting form on council website

Email to the team mailbox
investigation.team@medway.gov.uk

Phone / Email / Teams / face to face chat with another
member of the Counter Fraud team

Phone / Email / Teams / face to face chat with the Counter
Fraud Manager

Phone / Email / Teams / face to face chat with the Head of
Internal Audit & Counter Fraud

Page 177



Yes 5 

No 1 

 
3.33 These results suggest that the fraud awareness training is going to be pivotal in generating more referrals from 

members of staff and that more work is needed in relation to providing feedback on referrals to ensure that 
people continue to engage and report concerns.  
 
Compliance with Core Principles 

 
3.34 The Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) specify ten core principles that internal audit teams must 

comply with at all times. While these are not directly applicable to the counter fraud team, a number of those 
principles have been adopted (with some minor change as necessary) by the counter fraud team. These 
principles were expressed as statements and respondents were asked to confirm to what extent they agree or 
disagree with each statement. 

 

 
 

3.35 The vast majority of respondents provided neutral responses in relation to the statements, which is likely 
attributed to the fact that many do not know enough about the team to provide any positive or negative 
response.  
 

3.36 While the negative responses are relatively low in number in comparison to the positive responses, they 
appear in all statements and are therefore a concern. However, due to the anonymity of the responses, there 
is no way to identify respondents to ask further questions and obtain context to the answers for most of the 
statements and establish whether there are common issues to address. 
 

3.37 Communicating effectively about ongoing and completed investigations has the highest number of negative 
responses and is likely linked to the lack of feedback on referrals. This is an area that will be addressed but 
there also has to be some understanding on the part of those making referrals in relation to what can and 
cannot be disclosed due the need to protect the integrity of the investigation and to ensure compliance with 
data protection requirements. 
 
Overall Satisfaction with Audit & Counter Fraud 
  

3.38 Questions relating to overall satisfaction asked respondents to score from one (completely dissatisfied) to ten 
(completely satisfied). Any scores of eight or above are considered to be positive satisfaction. 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

Promotes organisational improvement in relation to fraud
prevention and risk control based on proven cases of fraud

Communicates effectively about ongoing and completed
investigations

Undertakes pro-active activity in the highest fraud risk areas of
the Council

Is objective and free from undue influence (independent)

Demonstrates integrity in their work

Demonstrates competence and due professional care in their
work

Is in the right part of the Council and has enough resources to
effectively carry out its role

Strongly Agreen Agree Neither agree no disagree Disagree Strongly Disagree

Page 178



 
3.39 As it was possible that not all respondents would have had interaction with counter fraud during the previous 

two years, respondents were first asked to provide a satisfaction score in relation to the support and services 
that are available from counter fraud.  
 

 
 

3.40 The average score across the 51 responses was seven out of ten, with 15 (29%) giving a score of five. 25 (49%) 
gave a score of eight or higher. The number of neutral and negative responses is likely linked to the lack of 
awareness across the council, which is a high priority for the team moving forward. 
 

3.41 The eight respondents who confirmed having received services from counter fraud in the last two years were 
asked to score their overall satisfaction with the service received.  

 

 
 

3.42 Of the eight respondents who had services from counter fraud in the last two years, six gave a score of eight 
or higher, giving an average score 8.5 out of ten and representing positive satisfaction of 75%. 

 

Other Feedback 
 

3.43 At the conclusion of the survey respondents were asked: Do you have any other comments that may help us 
improve / develop the service? 
 

3.44 A number of comments were received and are detailed below, along with responses from the Head of Internal 
Audit & Counter Fraud (HIACF) on behalf of the service.  

 

Comment received: I have always found the team approachable and appreciate their pragmatism. They 
have provided superb support to the service. 
 

HIACF response: The positive feedback is greatly appreciated.  
 

 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

Respondents

Sc
o

re

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

Respondents

Sc
o

re

Page 179



Comment received: I have always found the fraud team to be very helpful not only from generalist 

advice but also in explaining certain reasons for not pursuing a case. 
 

HIACF response: The positive feedback is greatly appreciated, as is the understanding of the fact that we 
simply do not have resource to investigate every suspicion and have to make a judgement on which cases 
we can pursue. 
 

 

Comment received: If there is a concern raised for any department, should it not be investigated 
independently and not by the service manager or head of that service. If this is not done, then it 
discourages those who may wish to put something to your attention. We all have to be accountable. 
 

HIACF response: I can only assume this relates to internal investigations, which are handled slightly 
differently. Under the council’s whistleblowing policy, concerns are supposed to be reported to line 
managers in the first instance, however, it does state that these concerns can be reported elsewhere if it is 
not felt appropriate to go to a manager. The policy lists a number of contact points, of which I am one, so 
any concerns about fraud being committed internally could be reported directly to me and would certainly 
be investigated independently. Other internal disciplinary matters are assessed by HR, but any resulting 
investigations would be conducted independently of the service.  
 

 

Comment received: Make it more visible and accessible to employees to promote and encourage referrals 
or gain advice. 
 

HIACF response: This is a fair comment, and we acknowledge there has been insufficient awareness training 
in the last few years. It is part of our ongoing workplan to address. 
 

 

Comment received: Re Q23, hard to answer fairly when I haven't had reason to use the services available 
from the Counter Fraud team. 
 

HIACF response: Unfortunately, answers to certain questions determined the next question asked but for 
the user, numbers remained sequential. This means I cannot be 100% certain what question 23 relates to. 
The feedback however is noted, and we will consider how we can improve future surveys.  
 

 

Comment received: I have never dealt with the team so some of the questions I couldn't answer. Because 
the survey wouldn't let me move on without selecting an answer, I have chosen the average i.e., 5 but this 
isn't a reflection of the team - I just had to select something! 
 

HIACF response: We will use this feedback to improve the design of future surveys. 
 

 

Comment received: I don't have a huge amount of involvement with this service but feel like I can contact 
them if needed to. I can't remember the exact nature of the training I have seen so my answer here may be 
inaccurate, however, I do recall receiving some training on this over the period in question. 
 

HIACF response: We try to ensure that the team is always available for advice and information. Training 
delivered by the team has been somewhat limited in the last two years, but it is possible that an officer 
attended a team meeting and there may have been other forms of awareness training from external 
providers. 
 

 

Comment received: more communication. 
 

Page 180



HIACF response: The responses received in this survey have highlighted that we need to work on 
communication about referrals and ongoing investigations. However, we must protect the integrity of any 
investigation and also ensure compliance with data protection requirements, so there may still be some 
limits on what can be communicated and at what point in the investigation process. 
 

 

Comment received: training may be helpful across the board? 

HIACF response: Couldn’t agree more with this. Fraud awareness training forms part of the new counter 
fraud workplan. We aim to create and deliver some generic sessions and are working with workforce 
development to set up training sessions that staff can book onto as well as looking at specific sessions with 
individual teams/services. This has to be balanced with the work linked to ongoing investigations, so will 
potentially be a longer-term piece of work but we will cover as many as we can as quickly as we can. 
 

 

Comment received: Being a recently appointed staff member I have not had occasion to deal with the 
Counter Fraud team. However, with increasing incidents of fraud of all types being reported any and all 
measures to bring awareness to employees has to be beneficial to the organisation as a whole. 
 

HIACF response: As per my response above. We are working hard to create and deliver awareness sessions. 
 

 

Comment received: Having had no active involvement with the team in recent years I was unable to really 
answer some of the questions but did my best :) 
 

HIACF response: I think this is true for a number of people given the pandemic and the fact that the 
majority of counter fraud activity was limited while staff were redeployed during the pandemic response 
but the fact you have taken the time to try and provide some feedback is appreciated.  
 

 

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Finance and Audit Committee 

Date: 19 July 2022 

Report of: Cllr Gurbax Singh – Chair, Finance and Audit Committee 

Subject: Finance and Audit Committee - Annual Report 

Purpose and summary of report:  

This report provides information on the work of the Finance and Audit Committee during the 
year 2021/22. 

Recommendations: 

 The Finance & Audit Committee endorse the Annual Report presented at Appendix 2. 
 

 The Finance & Audit Committee agree that the Annual Report be presented to the 
next Full Council meeting. 

 
 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal There are no specific legal matters arising from this report. 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

There are no specific Finance matters arising from this report 

Corporate Plan Strategic Objective #3 Progress; Sound Financial Management & 
Succesfully Managing Key Business Risks 

Climate Change  No implications 

 
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The Finance and Audit Committee is responsible for discharging the functions 
conferred by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. The key responsibilities 
include approving the Council’s Annual Statement of Accounts, approving the Annual 
Governance Statement, approving the Annual Internal Audit Plan and monitoring and 
reviewing the work of Internal Audit, and reviewing the arrangements for the 
management of risk.  

Page 183 Agenda Item 11



2 

1.2 Complimenting good governance arrangements, as Chair of the Finance and Audit 
Committee I have prepared an annual report, highlighting the work of the Committee 
during 2021/22 which is shown at appendix 2.   

2. Appendices 

2.1 Appendix 2 – Annual Report of the Chair of the Finance and Audit Committee 

3. Background Documents  

3.1 There are no background documents 

 

  

  

 
  

Page 184



3 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment N/A 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

No 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

N/A 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

N/A 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder Not Applicable 

Digital and website 
implications 

Not Applicable 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

Not Applicable 

 

Page 185

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
Appendix 2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE CHAIR OF THE 

FINANCE & AUDIT COMMITTEE 2021/22 

Page 187



2 

 
Appendix 2 

 

FOREWORD 

I am pleased to provide my annual report to the Cabinet regarding the work of the Finance 
and Audit Committee, which details the achievements of the Committee in 2021/22. This is 
my second annual report since joining the Committee as Chair.  

 
As always both myself and the Committee have received significant support and guidance 
from the all officers, in particular Sarah Parfitt (Director Corporate Services), Lisa Nyon - 
Assistant Director (Corporate Services), Andrew Barnett - Principal Accountant (General 
Fund), Alexandra Jarvis - Principal Accountant (HRA & Exchequer) and their teams for not 
only managing the finances of the borough but also providing and presenting complex 
information in simple language terms to members and the public to understand the 
authority’s financial situation which helps the Committee in its scrutiny of the authority’s 
finance and governance arrangements.  
 
I’d like to thank James Larkin (Head of Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Services) and his 
team who have continued to keep us well informed and advised throughout the year. 
 

 
To support the members in their governance role, officers have provided training to all 
members in: 
 

 Risk Management 

 Treasury Management 
 

No committee could function adequately without a good inquisitive team, and I would like to 
thank all members of the committee from all parties, for their support. Finally, my thanks to  
the Committee Services Team for ensuring the accuracy of minutes taken at the meetings 
and for making sure we receive all papers in a timely way. 
 

 
The remit of the Finance and Audit Committee covers the following aspects:- 

 Receiving and considering the content of reports from Internal Audit 

 Receiving and considering reports from the council’s External Auditor 

 Ensuring that management teams take appropriate actions to implement the 
recommendations contained in these reports 

 Scrutiny of specific Service Groups to ensure that audit requirements and 
recommendations are being met 

 Receiving reports on risk management and governance issues 

 Having responsibility for ensuring that the Annual Statement of Accounts and the   Annual 
Governance Statement present a fair and accurate position of the council 

 Having regard for the Annual Audit Letter provided by the council’s External 
Auditor. 

 
The reports that have been scrutinised over the last twelve months include: 

 Council’s Fraud Detection Activity 

 Reports from Internal Audit  

 Strategic risk register 

 Annual Governance Statement 

Page 188



3 

 
Appendix 2 

 

 Financial matters including arrears 

 Compliance with CIPFA Financial Management Code 

 Appointment of External Auditors 
 

 
We will continue to highlight the role and purpose of The Finance and Audit Committee 
across the authority and establish further training requirements as needed. 

 
We will continue to value our relationship with our internal and external auditors, and  we will 
also continue to ensure that all recommendations in relation to audit reviews are 
implemented in a timely manner. 

 
I look forward once again to leading this committee with the help of all members 
through these trying times. Together we will succeed. 

 
Councillor Gurbax Singh  
Chair of the Audit & Accounts Committee 2021/22

Page 189



4 

 
Appendix 2 

 

1. Work of the Finance and Audit Committee during 2021/22 

1.1. In line with its Terms of Reference, which can be found at the end of this report, the 
Finance and Audit Committee has met 5 times during the course of the last year. I as 
Chair of the Committee have additionally held briefings with Officers every two 
months and have attended pre-committee meeting briefings. Details of the range of 
issues considered by the Committee over the course of the year are set out in the 
tables below:- 

Internal Audit and Counter Fraud 

Date of Meeting Agenda Item 

8 March 2022  Internal Audit Quality Assurance 
and Improvement Programme 

 Internal Audit Plan 2022-23 

 Counter Fraud Plan 2022-23 

14 February 2022  Internal Audit and Counter Fraud 
Update 

 Internal Audit and Counter Fraud 
Charter 

 Internal Audit Strategy Review 

10 November 2021  Audit and Counter Fraud Update 

21 September 2021  Audit and Counter Fraud Update 
(April to July 2021) 

 National Fraud Initiative Update 

20 July 2021  Annual Internal Audit & Counter 
Fraud Report 2020/21 

 Notification of ‘Red’ Audit 
Opinions 

 National Fraud Initiative Update 

 

Governance and Risk 

Date of Meeting Agenda Item 

8 March 2022  CIPFA FM Code 

 Draft Corporate Risk Register 
and Risk Management Strategy 
for 2022-23 

Page 190



5 

 
Appendix 2 

 

14 February 2022  Treasury Management Strategy 
and Capital Strategy 2022-23 

10 November 2021  Mid-Year Review 2021-22 
Corporate Risk Register 

 CIPFA Financial Management 
Code Update 

21 September 2021  Local Government & Social Care 
Ombudsman Annual Review 
Letter 2020-21 

20 July 2021  Annual Governance Statement 
2020-21 

 Annual Report of the Audit 
Committee Chair 2020-21 

 

Accounts and External Audit 

8 March 2022  Review of Accounting Policies 
2022-23 

14 February 2022  General Fund Monitoring Report 
Q3 2021-22 

 Housing Revenue Account 
Budget monitoring Q3 2021-22 

10 November 2021  Treasury Management Mid-Year 
Review 2021-22 

 Housing Revenue Account 
Budget Monitoring Q2 2021-22 

 General Fund Budget monitoring 
Report Q2 2021-22 

 Procurement of External Audit 
(PSAA) 

21 September 2021  General Fund Monitoring Report 
Q1 2021-22 

 Housing Revenue Account 
Budget Monitoring Report Q1 
2021-22 

 External Audit 2019/20 & Draft 
Accounts 2020/21 Update 

Page 191



6 

 
Appendix 2 

 

20 July 2021  General Fund Outturn Report 

 Housing Revenue Account 
Provisional Outturn Report 

 Annual Treasury Management 
Review 2020-21 

 Update on the 2019/20 Financial 
Statements 

 

2. Member Training 

2.1 Members have had training in the following areas to help them fulfil their duties as 
committee members:- 

 Risk Management (provided by Zurich) 

 Treasury Management (provided by Alex Jarvis) 

3.       Other items to note 

3.1 Although the accounting statements for 2019/20 have not yet been finalised, officers 
have kept me updated on developments throughout the year as they continue to liaise 
with our external auditors to bring matters to a satisfactory conclusion. 

3.2 Our external auditors, Grant Thornton have not been in attendance at the Finance and 
Audit Committee during the last 18 months, however, it has been agreed that going 
forward regular diarised meetings will take place between myself, officers and Grant 
Thornton to discuss matters arising and that Grant Thornton will either be in attendance 
and / or provide an update via a report to this committee during the next financial year. 

3.3 In summary, the work of the Committee has had a positive impact on the overall control 
environment within the Council. The Committee has developed good working 
relationships with officers and External Audit and has offered constructive comments on 
a range of issues. The Committee continues to develop and improve its understanding of 
the many technical issues presented to it during 2021/22 and in future years. 

3.4 Member attendance of the Committee during the past year is shown in the table at the 
end of this report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 192



7 

 
Appendix 2 

 

 

 

 

Gravesham Borough Council 
Finance & Audit Committee – Terms of Reference 

(as set out in Annex 1.2 of the Constitution) 
 
 
Statement of Purpose: 
The purpose of the Finance & Audit Committee is to provide independent assurance of the 
adequacy of the risk management and internal control environment of the Council, 
independent scrutiny of the authority's financial and non-financial performance and oversight 
of financial reporting processes. 
 
 
Budget and Financial Control 

1. To monitor the overall state of the Council’s finances on at least a quarterly basis and 
advise the Cabinet on any action it recommends. 

2. To consider the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy and prudential indicators 
prior to the start of the financial year and adoption by the Full Council. To receive at 
least an in-year and annual report on treasury management activity and to comment 
on any amendments or updates to the strategic treasury management framework 
during the course of the year. 

 
Annual Financial Statements 

3. To review the annual accounting policies to be used in preparing the annual 
statement of accounts. 

4. To review the response to the External Audit Letter to those charged with 
Governance prior to sign off by the Chair of the Committee. 

5. To receive the audit findings report, annual audit letter and management’s response 
to any audit finding and recommendations. 

6. To consider and approve the Council’s statement of accounts each year. 

 
External Audit 

7. To inform the appointment of the External Auditor undertaken by Full Council. 
8. To review with management the annual audit fee letter and annual audit plan and to 

ensure that the provision of non-audit services does not impair the external auditor’s 
independence or objectivity. 

 
Internal Control, Risk Management and Internal Audit 

9. To review the effectiveness of the council’s internal control framework, including the 
review and approval of the Annual Governance Statement. 

10. To inform the risk assessment process used to develop the Risk Management 
Strategy and Corporate Risk Register for the Council. 

11. To monitor the effective development & operation of risk management in the 
authority. 

12. To monitor and review the performance of internal audit, the effectiveness of the 
internal audit and counter fraud function, the internal audit programme and internal 
audit findings, including the effectiveness of management’s response to any 
recommendations made. 

Page 193



8 

 
Appendix 2 

 

13. To consider the summary findings of internal audit reports given an opinion of Red, 
where the Chief Audit Executive (in consultation with the Section 151 Officer and/or 
Monitoring Officer as applicable and the Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee) 
considers the weaknesses identified to exceed a financial threshold of £25,000, or 
where they represent a significant risk to the achievement of the Council’s Corporate 
Objectives. 

14. To seek such assurance as it may deem appropriate that the internal audit function is 
independent, adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Council. 

15. To receive the annual opinion from the Chief Audit Executive. 
16. To consider and make recommendations on reports to the Council by Internal Audit, 

External Audit, other external inspectorates and the Local Government Ombudsman. 

Page 194



 
Appendix 2 

 

Finance and Audit Committee Attendance 
2021/22 

 

Date of Meeting/Member 
Present 

20 July 2021 21 September 
2021 

10 November 2021 14 February 2022 8 March 2022 

Cllr Gurbax Singh (Chair) √ √ √ √ √ 

Cllr Sarah Gow (Vice-
Chair) 

√ √ √ √ √ 

Cllr Derek Ashenden 
 

√ √ √  √ 

Cllr Dakota Dibben √ √ √ √ √ 

Cllr Nirmal Khabra  √ √ √ √ 

Cllr Samir Jassal  √ √ √ √ 

Cllr Jordan Meade  √ √ √ √ 

Cllr Emma Morley √  √ √  

Cllr Elizabeth Mulheran     √ 

Cllr Brian Francis 
(substitute) 

√ √    

Cllr Helen Ashenden 
(substitute) 

√     

Cllr John Caller 
(substitute) 

√  √ √ √ 

Cllr Lyn Milner 
(substitute) 

 √    

Cllr Frank Wardle 
(substitute) 

   √  

P
age 195



 
Appendix 2 

 

 

P
age 196


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting.
	5 General Fund Provisional Outturn Report
	6 Housing Revenue Account Provisional Outturn Report
	7 Annual Treasury Management Review 2021/22
	Appendix 1 - Prudential and Treasury Indicators Summary
	Appendix 2 - Property Fund Summary
	Appendix 3 - Multi Asset Fund Summary

	8 Annual Governance Statement 2021/22
	2. Appendix One - Supporting Evidence
	3. Appendix Two - Annual Review of Governance 2021-22
	In developing the new plan, the council undertook a 12-week public consultation that saw over 800 Gravesham residents, businesses and community groups provide over 2,500 individual pieces of information and intelligence relating to requests for council provision and priority intervention. The exercise also enabled participants the opportunity to rank each of the council’s key services in terms of their individual level of perceived importance. The information obtained from this process was collated and analysed and acted as a sound baseline throughout the development of the policy commitments that form the foundation of the Corporate Plan. 
	The work delivered against these objectives is measured both by qualitative and quantitate analysis, with quarterly updates of the council’s key activities and service performance published via Your Borough and the council’s website.
	POTENTIAL ACTION: An essential component in the council’s governance framework, the Corporate Plan sets the tone and direction of travel for the authority over a four-year administration period. In advance of the local elections in 2023, to ensure the council’s next Corporate Plan is designed in full consideration of the community’s needs and expectations of the authority and its core services, the delivery of a full 12-week consultation process will form an AGS recommendation for 2022-23.
	The council also has in place several key avenues for workforce communication. In 2021-22, CMT agreed to the launch of a redesigned Staff Forum, complete with updated Constitution. The forum fulfils a number of roles but is primarily designed by the CMT to develop a sense of transparency and trust in a two-way form of communication. As an example, the forum is used directly to engage with staff representatives, with feedback used to help inform policy decisions for the well-being of the overall workforce, as well as acting as an engagement hub to communicate key business decisions.  
	 The proportion of recommended actions agreed by client management;
	 The proportion of recommended actions implemented by the agreed target date; 
	 The number of recommendations agreed that are; not yet due, implemented and outstanding; and, 
	 The position of all recommendations currently within the follow-up process.


	4. Appendix Three - AGS 2021-22
	14. Plan.pdf
	14: Plan
	Certification by Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee
	………………………...
	Councillor Gurbax Singh
	Date…………………..
	Endorsement by the Leader of the Executive and the Chief Executive
	……………………….......         ………………………...
	Councillor John Burden         Stuart Bobby
	Leader of the Executive         Chief Executive
	Date………………………         Date………………………


	AGS 2020-21 - DRAFT.pdf
	AGS 2019-20 - FINAL.pdf
	1. Contents and Intro
	2-3. Definition and environment
	4-5. Vision and performance
	6. Finance
	7-8. Audit and Risk
	9-10. Partnerships and Transparency
	11-12. Review and Covid-19
	13. Plan
	AGS 2019-20.pdf
	1. Contents and Intro
	2-3. Definition and environment
	4-5. Vision and performance
	6. Finance
	7-8. Audit and Risk
	9-10. Partnerships and Transparency
	11-12. Review and Covid-19
	13. Plan



	14. Plan.pdf
	14: Plan
	Certification by Chair of the Finance & Audit Committee
	………………………...
	Councillor Gurbax Singh
	Date…………………..
	Endorsement by the Leader of the Executive and the Chief Executive
	……………………….......         ………………………...
	Councillor John Burden         Stuart Bobby
	Leader of the Executive         Chief Executive
	Date………………………         Date………………………


	4. Appendix Three - AGS 2020-21.pdf
	AGS 2019-20 - FINAL.pdf
	1. Contents and Intro
	2-3. Definition and environment
	4-5. Vision and performance
	6. Finance
	7-8. Audit and Risk
	9-10. Partnerships and Transparency
	11-12. Review and Covid-19
	13. Plan
	AGS 2019-20.pdf
	1. Contents and Intro
	2-3. Definition and environment
	4-5. Vision and performance
	6. Finance
	7-8. Audit and Risk
	9-10. Partnerships and Transparency
	11-12. Review and Covid-19
	13. Plan





	9 Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Annual Report
	2. APPENDIX 2 - GBC IA&CF Annual Report 2021-22

	10 Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Survey results
	4. Appendix 2 - IA Satisfaction Survey 2021-22 Results
	5. Appendix 3 - CF Satisfaction Survey 2021-22 Results

	11 Annual Report of the Audit Committee Chair
	Appendix 2 - Annual Report Chair of Finance and Audit Committee 2021 22




